
 
GROWTH, RESOURCES AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 1 NOVEMBER 2022 
7.00 PM 
 

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall 
Contact: Ramin Shams, Senior Democratic Services Officer  

Ramin.Shams@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 452509  
 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

 
1. Apologies 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration. 
 

 

3. Minutes of Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on 20 September 2022 
 

03 - 08 

4. Call in of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decision 
 

 

 The decision notice for each decision will bear the date on which it is 
published and will specify that the decision may then be implemented on the 
expiry of 3 working days after the publication of the decision (not including 
the date of publication), unless a request for call-in of the decision is 
received from any three Members of a Scrutiny Committee. If a request for 
call-in of a decision is received, implementation of the decision remains 
suspended for consideration by the relevant Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 

5. Car Cruising – Task and Finish Group Report 
 

09 - 38 

6. Portfolio Progress Report from the Cabinet Member for Climate 
Change, Planning, Housing and Transport 
 

39 - 144 

7. City College Peterborough - Annual Report 
 

145 - 152 

8. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 
 

153 - 170 

9. Work Programme 2022/2023 
 

171 - 176 

Public Document Pack

1

mailto:Ramin.Shams@peterborough.gov.uk


10. Date of Next Meeting 
 

Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee Meeting – 
Tuesday 10 January 2023  
 
Joint Meeting of the Scrutiny Committees  - Monday 23 January 2023  

 

 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours 
 

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.   The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 

responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.  

 
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at:  
 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385 
 

 

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact  on 
01733 452509 as soon as possible. 
 

 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: I Yasin (Chair), M Jamil (Vice Chairman), G Casey, C Fenner, J R Fox, M Haseeb,  
K Knight, M Rangzeb, R Ray, and N Sandford 

 
Substitutes: Councillors: I Ali, S Bond and M Perkins 

 
Non-Statutory Co-opted Members: 

Parish Councillor Neil Boyce, Independent Co-opted Member (non-voting) 
Parish Councillor Michael Samways, Independent Co-opted Member – Substitute for Parish 
Councillor Neil Boyce (Non-voting)  
 

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Ramin Shams on telephone 
01733 452509 or by email – Ramin.Shams@peterborough.gov.uk  

 
 

2

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
mailto:–%20Ramin.Shams@peterborough.gov.uk


 
 
     
 

MINUTES OF THE GROWTH, RESOURCES AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD AT 7.00 PM, ON 

TUESDAY 20 SEPTEMBER 2022 

BOURGES/VIERSEN ROOMS, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH 

 
Committee Members Present: Councillors I Yasin (Chair), M Jamil (Vice-Chair), G Casey,  

C Fenner, M Haseeb, M Rangzeb, R Ray, N Sandford, and Co-opted Member Parish Councillor 
Neil Boyce 

 

Officers Present: Rob Hill, Acting Service Director, Communities  

Matthew Gladstone, Chief Executive Sam Smith, Assistant Director 

of Customer & Digital Services  

Nick Carter, Assistant Director, Growth & Regeneration 

Mandy Pullen, Assistant Director of HR and Development 

Sam Smith, Assistant Director of Customer & Digital Services 

Matt Oliver, Head of Think Communities 

Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Ramin Shams, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

 
Also in attendance: Cllr Wayne Fitzgerald, Leader of the Council 

Tom Hennessy, Chief Executive Opportunity Peterborough 

Eva Woods, Peterborough's Youth MP 

Kirtan Uttarkar, Youth Council Representative 

 
 
10. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

 No apologies for absence were received.  
 

11.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING DECLARATIONS  
 

 No declarations of interest or whipping declarations were received. 
 

12. MINUTES OF MEETINGS 

 The minutes of the Joint Scrutiny meeting held on 9 February 2022 were agreed as a 
true and accurate record. 
 
The minutes of the Joint Scrutiny meeting held on 5 July 2022 were agreed as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

3



The minutes of the Joint Growth, Environment and Resources Scrutiny Committee and 

Climate Change and Environment Scrutiny Committee held on 12 July 2022 were agreed 

as a true and accurate record. 

 

The minutes of the Growth, Environment and Resources Scrutiny held on 12 July 2022 

were agreed as a true and accurate record.  
  

13.  CALL IN OF ANY CABINET, CABINET MEMBER OR KEY OFFICER DECISION  
 

 No call ins were received. 
 

14. INDEPENDENT IMPROVEMENT AND ASSURANCE PANEL REPORT 
 

  
The Chief Executive, accompanied by the Leader of the Council, introduced the report, 
which provided the Committee with the Independent Improvement and Assurance 
Panel's first six monthly review of the work of the Council against the previously agreed 
Improvement Plan and the recommendations of the independent reports commissioned 
by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
 
The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee debated the report, and in 
summary, key points raised and responses to questions included:  
 

 Members raised concerns over the high inflation and interest rate. The Chief 
Executive advised that the national situation was uncertain and volatile, and there 
could be a further increase in the inflation rate. The Council had medium-term 
financial plans for every quarter in response to the rapid changes in the cost-of-
living crisis. The Council currently had a two-year budget settlement with the 
Government, and the Council was reviewing a three-year budget settlement 
which would be a key for long-term stability. Members were advised that the 
Council was also reviewing the use of more energy-efficient measures at the 
Town Hall and the Sand Martin House to lower the energy cost.  

 Members were advised that there was a gap of millions in the budget, and the 
Council reviewed its leadership structure and third-party contracts. Furthermore, 
the Independent Improvement and Assurance Panel highlighted the gap in the 
budget as a priority that needed to be addressed. 

 Members sought clarification on whether areas were identified where savings 
could be made. The Chief Executive informed Members that the savings plan had 
now been updated from 28% to 12% and currently mitigating procurement saving 
and security contracts, photocopying, and a whole range of different contracts to 
curb the Council's expenses. The Council would also reconsider its position 
regarding the Culture and Leisure area to see if the saving promised could be 
retained. The Council had a plan in place for reviewing cost and cash limits. He 
explained that there was further work needed to be done to close the gap.   

 Members queried if the Council had plans in place for energy efficiency measures 
for the Council offices. The Leader of the Council advised Members that the 
Council was reviewing all budget areas to make a saving, including the energy 
cost.  

 Members queried the Council's partnership plans and whether withdrawing from 
any current partnership arrangements could help the Council's financial position. 

4



The Leader of the Council advised Members that the Peterborough Improvement 
Partnership (PIP) delivered massive success to the Council, including two million 
cash back to the Council on the Fletton Quays. He described the PIP as a 
financier between the Council and the partners. PIP had delivered development 
and profit to the Council. The Chief Executive clarified that the Council was 
looking into PIP closely, and there would be a number of changes, including at 
the board level and the Shareholder Committee, and had put training and support 
in place for CIPFA.  

 Members were advised that the financial position for the in-year was 0.2millions 
overspend for Council as reflected in the 2021/22 budget. Last year the projected 
budget had higher overspending, but it was underspent because of the 
uncertainties involved in projecting the budget.  

 In regard to the Council's underspend performance, where the Council position 
was set for over-spend in the budget last year. Members were advised that the 
financial monitoring was not robust last year, and a financial moratorium was put 
in place to strengthen the Council's position. Furthermore, there was the 
Government's extra funding in regard to Covid19, which partly helped the 
Council's position to underspend.  

 In regard to the farmers' tenancies, the Leader of the Council advised Members 
that all Council tenancies where they have the right to renew would be honoured. 
However, the Council had a duty to the best value for money and would strive to 
achieve it.  

 Members queried how the Council could ensure it was getting the best value for 
money from its in-house contractors. The Leader of the Council advised 
Members that the Council was currently reviewing all in-house contractors to 
ensure the Council was getting value for money.  

 Members were advised that the Council's leadership structure had been 
unanimously agreed upon, including the Director for Place and Economy, 
Commercial Director for new assets, and expected to appoint the Director for 
Legal and Governance. He explained that the Council had worked closely with 
the Local Government Association (LGA).  

 
 AGREED ACTIONS 

The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
RESOLVED to review the first report of the Independent Improvement and Assurance 

Panel and agreed with the actions and progress being made with the delivery of the 
Improvement Plan.   

15. PORTFOLIO HOLDER PROGRESS REPORT 

 
 The Leader of the Council introduced the report, which provided the Committee with an 

update on the progress of the Leaders portfolio, which covered areas within the remit of 

this Committee. Also in attendance to support the Leader was Cllr Sainsbury, Cabinet 

Adviser to the Leader, Chief Executive Opportunity Peterborough, Assistant Director, 

Growth & Regeneration, Assistant Director of Customer & Digital Services, Assistant 

Director, Growth & Regeneration and Assistant Director HR and Development. 

 
 The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee debated the report, and in 

summary, key points raised and responses to questions included:   

5



 

 Members queried about the Towns Fund projects, whether the Culture Centre and 
the Community Hub in the Town Centre between them would cover Youth 
activities, or if the Council was still going ahead with the Youth Centre. In response 
to the question, the Leader of the Council advised Members that the Youth Centre 
project would go ahead, which could require a new build, and this would be entirely 
grant-funded apart from some revenue-funded contribution from the Council.  

 Members raised concerns over the local bus services where the local bus 

company had cut services to bus routes. Members were advised that the 

Combined Authority for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough held the responsibility 

for Transport and Highways for Peterborough, and the Council did not have any 

jurisdiction over a private bus company. However, the Leader of the Council 

explained that he would convey the views of this Committee and the public to the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority.  

 In regard to the contaminated land found in MiddleHolme, the Assistant Director, 

Growth & Regeneration, confirmed that it was not a public health issue at this 

stage, and the Council had received £550,000 in grants to undertake remediation 

work. 

 Members queried the Council's approach to digitalisation towards a cloud-based 

system and whether the Council was getting a good value for money. The 

Assistant Director for Customer and Digital Services advised that the Council had 

a robust procurement process for any contract, including any digital procurement 

services. 

 Members queried about the Levelling Up fund bid that the Council had submitted 

and whether there were alternative fund arrangements for the Peterborough Train 

Station enhancement if the bid was unsuccessful. Members were advised that the 

redevelopment of the Peterborough Train Station would create a new western 

entrance to the station with a car park and double-sided station, with a new wider 

footbridge over the train lines. This would also make it safer to travel around the 

City by bicycle. The Council would wait for the outcome of the bid to assess its 

options.  

 
 AGREED ACTIONS  

 

The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
RESOLVED to consider and scrutinise the report and endorse the approach being taken 
under the portfolio of the Leader of the Council relevant to this Committee. 
 
 

16. SOCIAL MOBILITY AND ANTI-POVERTY ACTIVITY, INCLUDING HOUSEHOLD 

SUPPORT FUND 

 

 The report was introduced by the Head of Service Think Communities, which provided 

the Committee with an update on the latest national and local context of the Social 

Mobility and Anti-Poverty agenda.  

 
The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee debated the report, and in 
summary, key points raised and responses to questions included:   

6



 

 Members queried whether the data provided in the report was old information and 

that some changes had been made since 2018. The Head of Think Communities 

advised Members that Opportunity Peterborough produced an economic report 

which provided information about the local context. It captured local insight from 

national data sets that were pertinent to the local economy, growth, and social 

mobility. He explained that there was a two-step approach to this, first to get the 

Household Support Fund to mitigate the anti-poverty and move forward to Social 

Mobility.  

 Member sought information on the delivery approach, including the feasibility of a 

mobile office in rural areas. Members were informed that the feasibility of the 

mobile hubs in the rural areas would be based on the impact of how the 

Household Support Fund would be piloted in the next six months.  

 Members sought information about the massive jump in the number of referrals 

for the Good Neighbours and how quickly this would be communicated and 

implemented. Members were informed that a proposal would be sent out to find 

out people who would be interested in being a delivery partners for the 

Household Support Fund. In terms of communication, the Council was working 

closely with the Peterborough Council for Voluntary Services (PCVS) and held a 

cost-of-living summit with them. The Council and the PCVS agreed that the forum 

was an appropriate place to publicise information.  

 Members requested a briefing note from the Head of Think Communities 

regarding the steps the Department of Education/Council had taken to address 

the City's below-average performance in education.  

 In regards to developing a resilient society, the Head of Think Communities 

advised Members that he was working closely with young people to build 

resilience in their personal development by providing them with opportunities. He 

explained that organisations such as the Safer Peterborough Partnership group, 

which also provided mental health care joined support with other similar 

organisations to help young people to make a positive transition into adulthood.  

 The Head of Think Communities advised Members that he would work with 

partners to facilitate the Household Support Fund.  

 Members were advised that Peterborough was on a journey that would bring 

growth to the City because the City was a logistic triangle, and it would create 

opportunities for jobs. He explained that the Council would work closely with the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority and other similar 

organisations that influenced the skills development.   

 
 AGREED ACTIONS 

 
The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
RESOLVED to review, scrutinise and comment upon the information provided in the report 

and endorse the proposals as set out in section 4.1.6 (Social Mobility), and 4.2.4 (Anti-
Poverty). 
 
 
 

7



17. FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  

 
 The Senior Democratic Officer introduced the report, which included the latest version of 

the Council's Forward Plan of Executive Decisions containing decisions that the Leader of 
the Council, the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members would make during the 
forthcoming month. Members were invited to comment on the plan and, where appropriate, 
identify any relevant areas for inclusion in the Committee's Work Programme. 
 

 There were no points raised. 
 
ACTIONS AGREED: 

 
The Growth, Environment and Resources Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to consider the 

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions. 
 
 

18. WORK PROGRAMME 2022/2023 
 

The Senior Democratic Services introduced the item which gave Members the opportunity 
to consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2022/23 and discuss possible items for 
inclusion.  
 
No further items were put forward at the meeting for inclusion.  
 
ACTIONS AGREED: 
 
The Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to note the 

work programme for 2022/23.  
 
 

19.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 

 The next meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee was noted as being on 11 October 2022. 
 
The next meeting of the Committee was noted as being the 1 November 2022.  

 
 

        
CHAIR 

 
 
 
 

               Meeting began at 7:00 pm and ended at 8:45 pm 

8



 

 
Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 5 

1 November 2022 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of:  Task and Finish Group 

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cllr Steve Allen, Cabinet Member for Communication, Culture and 
Communities 

Contact Officer(s): Clair George & Ian Phillips 

 

Tel. 01733 
863849 

 

FINAL REPORT OF THE TASK AND FINISH GROUP TO EXAMINE THE ISSUES OF 

CAR CRUISING IN PETERBOROUGH 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Task and Finish Group Deadline date: n/a 

 

 
     It is recommended that Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee consider the final 

report of the Task and Finish group and endorse the recommendations contained therein, namely: 
 

1. That the council works over the next 12 –18 months to obtain a city-wide injunction for 
car cruising and explores all opportunities for external funding to support this.  
2. In the interim period, the council extends the Woodston Public Space Protection (PSPO) 
and include Pleasure Fair Meadow car park and extends to other hot spot areas should they 
be required, and the evidence supports it.  
3. That the council works with Cambridgeshire Constabulary to develop a Community 
Protection Notice (CPN) scheme, issued to any driver/owner committing anti-social 
behaviour.  
4. That council officers explore funding for additional appropriate infrastructure measures 
such as ANPR cameras, physical barriers and working with private landowners to deter car 
cruise or anti-social driving as necessary.  
5. That the council makes a proactive effort to use existing CCTV resources as evidence 
gathering for reporting issues to the police and for enforcement.  
6. That the Task and Finish group’s work is now concluded, and the group is formally 
closed.  However, it should be noted that the Task and Finish group’s work has 
concentrated on the impact from anti-social car driving and has not specifically looked at 
other vehicles such as motorbikes and e-scooters.  

 
 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The report is from the Task and Finish group who have been established by the former Growth, 

Environment and Resources Scrutiny Committee. 
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 The report is to brief the Scrutiny Committee on the work of the Task and Finish group to date.  
 

2.2 This report is for Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee to consider under its 
Terms of Reference No. Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 

9



Functions determined by the Council: 
 
2. Neighbourhood and Community Support (including cohesion and community safety); 
9. Transport, Highways and Road Traffic. 
 

3. TIMESCALES [If this is not a Major Policy item, answer NO and delete the second line of boxes.] 

  
Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

 
4.1 The former Communities Scrutiny Committee considered an interim report from the Task and 

Finish group in March 2022 and endorsed a number of recommendations, which were 
subsequently approved by Cabinet in June 2022.  Since then, the Task and Finish group has 
continued to explore the issues around car cruising in Peterborough and has now completed its 
investigations. 
 
Attached is the final report and an executive summary from the report is below: 
 
Executive summary 
 
Car meets and cruising events have become increasingly popular over the last few years and 
take place in many towns and cities across the country.  The majority of people who attend 
these events do so as car enthusiasts, however these events often attract people who drive in 
an anti-social and sometimes dangerous manner causing noise and distress for 
residents.  There is also a high risk of a driver or spectator being killed or seriously injured as a 
result of behaviour and activity taking place.  
 
The Task and Finish group have previously recommended a number of actions to help tackle 
these issues.  In this final report, additional recommendations are proposed to give the police 
and council greater powers to prevent these car meets from taking place and provide more 
options for enforcement.  
 
There are three main proposals:  
 

1. A city-wide injunction which would allow the police and designated officers from the 
council to enforce breachers of the injunction either at the time or post event (if the 
evidence supports it).  Injunctions have been very successfully used in other local 
authorities and therefore likely to be effective also in Peterborough.  The council would 
need to be the lead applicant to apply for the injunction which is estimated to cost of 
£30-50k and take 12 months or so depending on the Court process.  The council should 
consider bidding for external funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Road Safety Partnership to help contribute towards the costs if it is minded to adopt this 
option.  
 

2. The use of location specific Public Space Protection Order, this would be initially at 
Woodston to cover the Pleasure Fair Meadow car park and surrounding area, but also 
implemented in other areas should action move the issue to an additional location.  This 
would take around 6 months to establish and cost approximately £3k per 
area.  Enforcement can be through fixed penalty notices or Court conviction.  

 
3. Community Protection Notices which can be issued to drivers found to be causing anti-

social behaviour and can be used effectively where there is evidence of repeated 
issues.  CPNs will require officer time to establish and issue but have no other 
associated costs.  

 
 

10



5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 Consultation has taken place with Cambridgeshire Constabulary, other local authorities, 

residents, and affected businesses, and attempts have been made to speak with people from 
the car cruising community but have not been successful. 
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT 

 
6.1 The options outlined in this report would likely have a highly significant impact in reducing or 

eliminating car cruising in Peterborough.  This in turn will reduce noise and distress for residents 
and businesses and reduce the risk of someone being killed or seriously injured at an 
unauthorised event. 
 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1 Car cruising often leads to anti-social and dangerous driving, not to mention noise, smell and 

distress for nearby residents.  There is a risk that these continued events will lead to a serious 
accident without further action being taken.  Preventative action through an injunction or PSPO 
will reduce the impact and risks associated with car cruising. 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
8.1 Do nothing and continue with the status quo.  This option would continue to see resident’s lives 

impacted through the actions and behaviour of people attending car cruise events.  In addition, 
there remains a higher risk of drivers, passengers or spectators being killed or seriously injured 
as a result. 
 

9. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
9.1 There are three options for the committee to consider:  

1.  A city-wide injunction – this is the most likely to be successful at resolving the 
issues created by car meets and anti-social driving.  However, it is also the most 
expensive at an estimated £30-£50k.  External funding from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Road Safety Partnership should be explored to contribute 
towards the costs.  
2. A Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) – these are issued to cover a specific 
location, for example Woodston (also covering Pleasure Fair Meadow).  Costs are 
estimated to be £3k but may end up dispersing the problem to other parts of the city 
requiring a further PSPO to be developed.  
3. Community Protection Notices would only require officer time to develop.  They 
can be issued to individuals causing anti-social behaviour and are likely to be most 
effective when targeted at repeat offenders.  They are less likely to prevent a car 
meet or anti-social driving from taking place, but do provide an additional tool for 
enforcement.  

 
These options are not currently budgeted and would need to have resource identified either 
from council and/or external stakeholders. 
 

 Legal Implications 

 
9.2 Legal support will be required to review the evidence and submit an application to Court for an 

injunction.  It is likely that the council will need to seek external expert advice to provide 
assistance. 
 

 Carbon Impact Assessment 
 

9.5 The report contains no proposals for changes to service delivery and therefore there is no 

11



decision to take which may impact carbon emissions of the council or the city.  
 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
 

10.1 None 
 

11. APPENDICES 

 
11.1 1. Task and Finish Final report 

2. Options appraisal 
 

 

12



 

 

 

GROWTH, RESOURCES AND 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

TASK AND FINISH GROUP 

 

 

 

 TO EXAMINE ISSUES WITH CAR 

CRUISING IN PETERBOROUGH 

 

Final Report 

 

 

 

 

 

13



  

14



Table of Contents   

1. INTRODUCTION 2 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 4 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE 7 

4. PROCESS AND METHODOLOGY USED FOR THE INVESTIGATION 8 

4.1Methodology 9 

4.2Process 9 

4.3Key Witnesses / Expert Advisers interviewed 9 

5. BACKGROUND 10 

6. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 12 

Key Themes: 14 

7. PREVIOUS RECOMMENDATIONS AND UPDATES 19 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 21 

10. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AND RESEARCH SOURCES USED DURING THE 

INVESTIGATION 22 

11. APPENDICES 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

15

bookmark://_Toc1504399474/
bookmark://_Toc295055539/
bookmark://_Toc1878407382/
bookmark://_Toc478649081/
bookmark://_Toc649200997/
bookmark://_Toc1479567048/
bookmark://_Toc3411839/
bookmark://_Toc272875301/
bookmark://_Toc726924148/
bookmark://_Toc518982064/
bookmark://_Toc279434874/
bookmark://_Toc91119100/
bookmark://_Toc1557393515/
bookmark://_Toc1557393515/
bookmark://_Toc1861895850/


INTRODUCTION  

 

At the Full Council meeting of 21 October 2020, a motion presented by Cllr Coles was 

agreed requesting the formation of a Task and Finish Group to examine issues relating to 

car cruises in Peterborough. 

The proposal to set up the Task and Finish Group was presented to the Adults and 

Communities Scrutiny Committee on 17 November 2020.  The proposal was accepted, and 

the terms of reference agreed.  Possible nominations to the Task and Finish Group were 

sought at the meeting to be confirmed following the meeting through the Group Secretaries. 

 

The cross-party Task and Finish Group comprised of the following members: 

                                  

Cllr Julie Stevenson              Cllr Christian Hogg                 Cllr Samantha Hemraj 

Independent                                 Liberal Democrat                     Labour 

                                   

       Cllr Nicola Day                             Cllr Lindsay Sharp   

       Member of Group from June 2022        Member of Group from June 2022 

       Green                                Conservative 

16



 

 

Cllr Andy Coles   Cllr Oliver Sainsbury  

Conservative        Conservative 

 

 

The Task and Finish Group would also like to thank Inspector Karl Secker – Cambridgeshire 

Constabulary and PC Rob Reay – Cambridgeshire Constabulary for their input into this 

review. 

 

Officers supporting the Task and Finish Group were:  

● Rob Hill, Acting Director, Communities 

● Clair George – Head of Prevention and Enforcement Service  

● Ian Phillips - Head of Communities and Partnerships Integration  

● Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

● David Beauchamp, Democratic Services Officer 

 

The Task and Finish Group wishes to thank all of the officers who have provided guidance 

and assistance in producing this report and for their hard work and support.  

17



2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

Car meets and cruising events have become increasingly popular over the last few years 

and take place in many towns and cities across the country.  The majority of people who 

attend these events do so as car enthusiasts, however these events often attract people who 

drive in an anti-social and sometimes dangerous manner causing noise and distress for 

residents.  There is also a high risk of a driver or spectator being killed or seriously injured as 

a result of behaviour and activity taking place. 

The Task and Finish group have previously recommended a number of actions to help tackle 

these issues.  In this final report, additional recommendations are proposed to give the 

police and council greater powers to prevent these car meets from taking place and provide 

more options for enforcement. 

There are three main proposals: 

1. A city-wide injunction which would allow the police and designated officers from the 

council to enforce breachers of the injunction either at the time or post event (if the 

evidence supports it).  Injunctions have been very successfully used in other local 

authorities and therefore likely to be effective also in Peterborough.  The council 

would need to be the lead applicant to apply for the injunction which is estimated to 

cost of £30-50k and take 12 months or so depending on the Court process.  The 

council should consider bidding for external funding from the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and Road Safety Partnership to help contribute towards the costs if it 

is minded to adopt this option. 

2. The use of location specific Public Space Protection Order, this would be initially at 

Woodston to cover the Pleasure Fair Meadow car park and surrounding area, but 

also implemented in other areas should action move the issue to an additional 

location.  This would take around 6 months to establish and cost approximately £3k 

per area.  Enforcement can be through fixed penalty notices or Court conviction. 

3. Community Protection Notices which can be issued to drivers found to be causing 

anti-social behaviour and can be used effectively where there is evidence of repeated 

issues.  CPNs will require officer time to establish and issue but have no other 

associated costs. 

Further details regarding these options are set out in the attached appraisal. 

 

18



 

 

2.1 Summary of previous recommendations 

1. That the Council shares this interim report with Cambridgeshire Police with a view to 

agreeing a memorandum of understanding guaranteeing support for the Council with 

the implementation of injunction(s), community protection orders or public space 

protection orders. 

2. That the Chief Executive of Peterborough City Council and a member of the 

Council’s cabinet agree to champion this issue and to engage with both 

Peterborough MPs and the Police and Crime Commissioner to secure their support 

in championing this issue. 

3. That the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Police and Crime Commissioner is 

asked to compile a report on how the police should tackle this issue.  

4. That the council fully costs the financial implications of developing an injunction for 

car meets in Peterborough.  

5. That the council fully costs the financial implications of introducing Community 

Protection Orders. 

6. That the council fully costs the financial implications of developing measures to 

prevent car meets from taking place at Pleasure Fair Meadow car park, as part of the 

Woodston PSPO. 

7. That the Highways Team produces detailed plans, with a clear indication of costs, of 

how it proposes to alter the layout of Stapledon Road to ensure it is no longer 

suitable for antisocial driving.  

8. That the Task and Finish Group continues its work by exploring sources of funding 

that are available to reduce the funding burden on city finances. 

9. That the Task and Finish Group makes a further attempt to engage the car cruise 

community. 

10. That the council’s planning department should actively consider whether future 

planning applications should consider measures that will prevent antisocial driving. 

2.2 SUMMARY OF ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That the council works over the next 12 –18 months to obtain a city-wide injunction 

for car cruising and explores all opportunities for external funding to support this. 

2. In the interim period, the council extends the Woodston Public Space Protection 

(PSPO) and include Pleasure Fair Meadow car park and other hot spot areas should 

19



they be required, and the evidence supports it. 

3. That the council works with Cambridgeshire Constabulary to develop a Community 

Protection Notice (CPN) scheme, issued to any driver/owner committing anti-social 

behaviour. 

4. That council officers explore funding for additional appropriate infrastructure 

measures such as ANPR cameras, physical barriers and working with private 

landowners to deter car cruise or anti-social driving as necessary. 

5. That the council makes a proactive effort to use existing CCTV resources as 

evidence gathering for reporting issues to the police and for enforcement. 

6. That the Task and Finish group’s work is now concluded, and the group is formally 

closed.  However, it should be noted that the Task and Finish group’s work has 

concentrated on the impact from anti-social car driving and has not specifically 

looked at other vehicles such as motorbikes and e-scooters. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

20



3. TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

Purpose 

To make recommendations to the Committee to inform the development of initiatives that 

prevent, or mitigate the impacts of: 

 Unauthorised car meets in Peterborough. 

 Anti-social use of any motorised vehicle to the detriment of our residents. 

Scope 

Using a combination of reviewing good practice and learning from elsewhere, discussions 

with expert witnesses, research, analysis of data, and interviews with councillors, develop 

proposals that set out: 

i. all available powers that are able to prevent unauthorised, anti-social, dangerous car 

meets from taking place or continuing,  

ii. what other legislative powers may be obtained to help address this issue,  

iii. proposals for working with organisers to facilitate, where possible, safe events for 

static car meets that are lawful and non-disruptive to our residents,  

iv. advice and support to private landowners in the defence and protection of their 

property. 

Reporting 

The Scrutiny Task and Finish group will report to the Growth, Resources and Communities 

Scrutiny Committee (formally known as the Communities Scrutiny Committee) 

Terms of Reference approved by the Adults and Communities Scrutiny Committee (now the 

Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee on 17 November 2020. 

 

  

21



4. PROCESS AND METHODOLOGY USED FOR THE 

INVESTIGATION 

 

4.1 Methodology   

● Desktop research 

o Contact with other Local Authorities 

o Internet research 

● Interviewing Key Witnesses / Stakeholders 

● Local knowledge / information obtained by the Task and Finish Group members 

4.2 Process  

The timetable of the events leading to the production of this report are set out below: 

Meeting Date Items Discussed / Guests Attending 

 

22 December 2020 First meeting to scope the review, discuss if any co-opted 

members were required and appoint a Chair for the group. 

16 February 2021 Meeting with officers to discuss current legislation and local 

powers, current car cruising hotspots and events.  

Identification of key stakeholders and any key witnesses. 

11 March 2021 Presentation of evidence requested at the previous meeting, 

discussions with police on their powers and current issues 

around car cruise events, and whether a car cruising 

injunction could be put in place. Discussions on how to 

engage with organisers of car cruising events and feedback 

from local residents affected by them.  

20 January 2022 Part 1. Evidence Gathering Session with local residents. 

Part 2. Formulating conclusions and recommendations. 

14 February 2022 Discuss conclusions and recommendations and review draft 

interim report. 

8 March 2022 Presentation on interim findings to Scrutiny 

20 June 2022 Cabinet meeting to determine recommendations 

22



6 September 2022 Key witness session with Cambridgeshire Constabulary and 

Matt Staton, Road Safety Manager Cambridgeshire County 

Council 

10 October 2022 Discuss final conclusions, recommendations and agreed 

final report 

 

4.3 Key Witnesses / Expert Advisers interviewed  

o Inspector Karl Secker – Cambridgeshire Constabulary 

o Police Constable Rob Reay – Cambridgeshire Constabulary  

o Inspector Matt Snow – Cambridgeshire Constabulary 

o Five residents 

o Matt Staton – Road Safety Manager, Cambridgeshire County Council 

The Task and Finish Group would like to thank everybody who assisted them during 

the investigation for their support and openness. This assistance was appreciated. 

5. BACKGROUND 

 

Car cruising and anti-social driving on public and private roads and car parks is not a new 

issue and has been happening within Peterborough for decades. Over recent years, the 

numbers of people taking part, either as active participants or as spectators, has been 

steadily growing, causing an increased nuisance for residents impacting their quality of life. 

This nuisance is not limited to occasional screeching of tyres or sounding of horns. It is a 

chronic noise nuisance, that can last from 9pm until 3am on any day of the week, but 

particularly at weekends.  

It is crucial to make a distinction between car cruises and other anti-social use of vehicles. 

Car cruises are generally unauthorised events that anyone may attend to meet other car 

enthusiasts. These events are often organised in public or private places (typically car parks) 

without permission. Those who attend do so principally to socialise with other enthusiasts 

and to look at their cars. These events are generally described as ‘static’, which means there 

is no driving. Drivers are expected to park and turn their engines off. However, the events 

are not subject to health and safety risk assessments, no one is generally ‘in charge’ of 

ensuring the event is safe, no toilet facilities are provided, and litter is often left behind. 

Although car cruises can generate a lot of noise, this is usually when cars join or leave the 

23



event, or when loud music is played.  

Contrast this with anti-social use of vehicles. Unfortunately, after attending unauthorised car 

cruises at one location in the city, it has become commonplace for a number of drivers to 

relocate to a different part of the city, where they undertake street racing and various forms 

of stunt driving. Not only does this activity present an immediate threat to the lives of other 

road users and any pedestrians or bystanders, the noise and the strong smell of burning 

rubber that is generated when cars are ‘drifted’ can carry for over a kilometre and can cause 

great distress to any residents living nearby. This distress can range from chronic lack of 

sleep and stress due to the noise to frustration at being unable to open any windows due to 

the stench of burning rubber.  

Further to this, where antisocial driving has taken place, it has become increasingly common 

for damage to nearby buildings to occur, which means the activity has an impact even when 

it takes place adjacent to buildings that are unoccupied (such as in the late evenings).  

The issue is not unique to Peterborough, with many parts of the country also experiencing 

significant problems.  Events tend to be publicised via social media with named venues and 

dates. Occasionally, participants are encouraged to meet in a particular location, when they 

will then be given further instructions on where the meet is being held. Mobile phones and 

applications such as WhatsApp are sometimes used in an attempt to keep the location of the 

meet a secret until the last moment.  

Councils across the country have attempted to deal with these issues with varying degrees 

of success. On occasion, a serious incident has acted as a catalyst for agencies to address 

the problems. Some councils have used physical measures at frequently used locations, 

whilst others have turned to enforcement action to prevent car meets from taking place, for 

example, with the use of injunctions or Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs). 

Injunctions may only be granted through the courts (subject to evidence and proof that 

clearly demonstrates the need for action). It can be very expensive to pull together the 

necessary casework.  One local authority estimated that the legal fees alone amounted 

around a £100k, although this did cover several other district councils. It should be noted 

that so-call ‘blanket injunctions’ that prevent ‘persons unknown’ from gathering, have 

recently been challenged through the High Court. 

Data supplied by Cambs Police indicates that there are currently two ‘hotspot’ locations for 

car cruises and one hotspot location for antisocial driving in Peterborough. This data is 

based on ‘calls for service’ from members of the public and local councillors: 

24



 Orton Southgate Industrial Estate (Stapledon Road, Holkham Road, Newcombe 

Way) - Orton Waterville ward 

o 1/1/2019-31/12/2020 - 65 calls 

o 1/1/21 -31/12/2021 - 71 calls 

o 1/1/22 - 30/9/22 - 33 calls 

 Pleasure Fair Meadow Car Park – Fletton and Stanground Ward/Fletton and 

Woodston ward   

o 1/1/2019-31/12/2020 – 21 calls 

o 01/12/2021 – 31/12/2021 – 40 calls 

o 01/01/2022 – 30/9/22 – 10 calls 

 Vivacity Car Park, Hampton - Hamton Vale ward  

o 1/1//2019-21/12/2019 - 43 calls 

o 01/12/2021 – 31/12/2021 – 33 calls 

o 01/01/2022 – 30/9/22– 19 calls 

Calls for service were also received for Royce Road, Greyhound Stadium and parts of 

Werrington.  There were also complaints about Brotherhood Retail Park where people 

experienced antisocial behaviour due to weekly car cruises and antisocial driving. However, 

since ANPR (automatic number plate recognition) cameras were installed allowing minimum 

time after 8pm, the police report no calls for service. 

The Counci’s Prevention and Enforcement Service also receives complaints direct from the 

public. Between 1/1/2021-10/2/22 there were 28 reports, with a further 12 between March 

and September 2022 about antisocial behaviour connected with car cruises and antisocial 

driving as follows:  

 Pleasure Fair Meadow = 14 

 Stapledon Rd/Orton = 8 

 Vivacity Fitness/Krispy Kreme in Hampton = 13 

 Shrewsbury Ave/Oundle Rd = 2 

 Werrington car park/skate park = 2 

 Stapledon Road = 1 

6. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

 

The Task and Finish Group gathered evidence from a range of stakeholders: Cambs Police, 

residents, business owners and ward councillors. The group also reached out to the 

organisers of the car cruises. Regrettably, however, they declined to communicate with the 

25



Council.  

As a consequence of these evidence-gathering sessions, the following conclusions were 

reached: 

 While car cruises need not necessarily lead to antisocial behaviour, the organisers of 

these events appear not to wish to assume full responsibility for ensuring the events 

are safe or orderly. While we acknowledge that they do discourage participants from 

behaving antisocially, their refusal to organise professional, permitted events (with all 

the necessary paperwork and risk assessments, etc. that legitimate events require) 

means they are unable to control how participants behave. 

 Once a car cruise ends for the evening, it is common for a substantial number of 

drivers to drive to another location where they participate in driving that is antisocial 

and dangerous. It is these ‘auxiliary’ events that generate most of the complaints 

from residents. These are also the events where accidents are more likely to occur. 

While one could say that this is not the fault of those organising the car cruises, it is 

clear to the Task and Finish Group that cruise events tend to be followed by such 

‘after parties’ although there have been many instances of antisocial driving at the 

locations mentioned that have not been preceded by a car cruise.  

 The negative impact of this antisocial behaviour on residents cannot be understated. 

The annoyance, distress, and frustration that residents report is not the result of an 

isolated screech of a tyre or beep of a horn. It is now common for the noise and the 

smell to start from around 9pm and finish at around 3am on Friday, Saturday and 

Sunday nights, and on some weekday nights too (particularly since the start of the 

pandemic when the roads became quieter). The noise is chronic and relentless, 

pausing only when the drivers need to change their shredded tyres. Residents report 

an inability to sleep, to concentrate on tasks, to carry on conversations or to hear the 

television or radio over the noise of screeching tyres. In the Summer months, the 

noise also prevents residents from enjoying their gardens in the evening. The 

combination of smell and noise mean residents cannot open their windows to 

ventilate their homes.  

 Residents also express concern for bystanders who watch the antisocial driving, as 

well as those law-abiding motorists who may be using the public highway at the 

same time as the antisocial drivers. Residents are aware that there have been 

several serious accidents at Stapledon Road, and express distress and concern 

about this. While residents are terribly angry with the drivers, they do not wish 

anyone to be hurt. 

 Residents report difficulty getting through to the police on 101 to report incidents. The 

26



introduction of Cambs Police’s live web chat facility has been very helpful, as it 

means residents no longer have to wait for the phone to be answered (call centre 

operatives tend to answer requests to chat within moments). However, residents 

report that police operators rarely understand the problem and often tell residents 

that they cannot send units to the scene as they are dealing with other emergencies. 

Some residents say they have given up reporting incidents to the police, as they do 

not believe anything will be done.  

 While the live chat on the Cambs Police website is useful, this has recently been 

moved without warning and some residents have had difficulty finding it. It would be 

helpful if Cambs Police would publicise the new location of the live web chat facility.  

 Cambs Police do not have the resources to answer all calls for service that relate to 

dangerous driving.  

 Business owners feel that this it is a problem that must be addressed. Even those not 

directly affected by the noise and smell (as they are not in their building at night when 

the activity takes place), complained of excessive litter that they must clear away at 

their own expense on Monday mornings. 

 Some business owners complained of damage to their property. One business owner 

describes coming to work every Monday to find windows to their premises have been 

broken by the antisocial activity over the weekend (small stones thrown up by the 

cars as they skid outside the premises). All mentioned the amount of debris and litter 

on the street after every weekend meet, as well as structural damage.  

 Several business owners complained that those gathered at the car meets use their 

business’s skips as toilets. Several lamented what a lovely place this once was to 

work, but is now unpleasant, due to the litter and debris associated with the antisocial 

driving. 

 All the business owners that were spoken to said they are happy with the suggestion 

of traffic calming measures as a preferred option. 

 Several business owners mentioned that the police had told them that they couldn’t 

act as Stapledon Road is a private road. This, however, is not correct. The car park 

in the middle of the road is private, but the road itself, where the driving takes place, 

is a public highway. 

 Several business owners mentioned that they have sympathy with young people who 

have nothing to do of an evening and expressed a wish that a facility might be 

provided where they could undertake this activity more safely. 

 Several business owners suggested that CCTV would be effective, as the cars that 

are driven antisocially often have false number plates and are not legally road 

27



worthy. One spoke of a car driving on its wheel rims, which is a motoring offence. 

Some business owners have invited the police to review their CCTV footage, but to 

date the police have not done so. 

 Recently, we have seen some improvements following the council’s installation of 

calming measures in Stapledon Road.  This however has displaced the problem to a 

neighbouring estate in Tresham Road also a recent police operation to deal with this 

new venue has seen a great decrease in activity.  This police operation needs to be 

repeated periodically if the problem returns. 

 From the above, it seems that both physical measures and robust policing has a 

significant effect on reducing these issues.  The Task and Finish group feels that the 

police’s ability to deal with the situation through the use of injunctions will have a 

significant impact in future to deter these incidents. 

Key Themes: 

There are two key themes that have been identified namely, a) law enforcement to punish 

those drivers breaking the law and b) restricting access to hot spot areas where car 

meets/anti-social driving takes place. 

The Task and Finish group notes that: 

 Both public and private land is being used for car cruises and for antisocial driving. 

While the Council may be able to implement highway adaptions to deter antisocial 

driving, it should be noted that it cannot prevent access to private car parks or other 

land. 

 While the group believes that no single organisation can be responsible for dealing 

with the impact of car cruises and anti-social driving, support from Cambridgeshire 

Police is essential.  

 Regrettably, there is no identified land which the council owns where car cruises can 

take place at night which would not disturb residents.  

 The defence of car parks and other spaces can be effective, but the following factors 

must be considered: a) cost b) legitimate access and c) displacement of the activity 

to another location. 

 Where the council has CCTV footage, the police can consider using it for 

enforcement or prosecution. 

 The adjustments made to Stapledon Road have had a significant impact on reducing 

anti-social driving in that area but have consequently moved the problem to other 

parts of the city.   

 Stevenage Borough Council have had an injunction against car cruising for several 

28



years.  They report that the impact has been highly positive and almost completely 

eradicated the problem, especially for large scale events. 

Enforcement 

Police Enforcement Powers 

In the past, the police have occasionally used the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 

Act 2014 to issue ‘dispersal orders’ when they have been made aware of planned and 

spontaneous car meets. The issuing of dispersal orders depends upon the ability of the 

police to enforce the order and the likely impact on the community of the order being 

enforced. 

Where the police know of a planned event, Neighbourhood Police Officers will attempt to 

identify the organiser and engage with them ahead of the event. This is an attempt to build a 

picture of what is planned and so the police can make an informed decision on whether 

measures will be implemented to prevent the event’s occurrence.   

Should the police be notified of a spontaneous event, they may attend depending on the risk 

assessment of both the event, and the other calls requiring attendance at that time. 

Attendance will involve officers engaging with the organiser and attendees and dealing with 

any offences that are immediately apparent, if proportionate and necessary. 

The police encourage the public to report antisocial driving but asks them to be mindful that 

they may not attend immediately or at all due to the demands placed on the police service by 

higher-risk calls. However, the police say that every call and report will add strength to the 

longer-term work that is ongoing across the constabulary, and therefore they encourage 

reporting of such events as and when they happen. 

Injunctions – against person unnamed 

Legislation states that under Section 1 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 

2014 injunctions cannot be used against persons unnamed. Therefore, councils must resort 

to using injunctions under the Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972. This means a 

local authority must be the lead agency on an taking an injunction, rather than the police. 

Several authorities around the country have used LGA Section 222 injunctions to prevent the 

anti-social behaviour associated with car meets. Most of these injunctions have been 

successful in tackling the issues to date. If granted, an injunction would forbid people from 

participating in, attending, promoting, organising or publicising a street racing event. Anyone 

ignoring the injunction could be arrested, face penalties such as up to two years' 

imprisonment or an unlimited fine, or have their assets seized.  

29



Any injunction must be evidence-led, with a detailed evidence pack developed to support the 

injunction, including calls for service, number of events, and the impact of events on 

individuals, local businesses and the wider community. 

Estimated costs for a LGA Section 222 injunction vary depending on the area covered and 

number of authorities involved. The cost to Peterborough could be as much as £30k in legal 

costs and costs associated with evidence-gathering.  This is an estimate and will depend on 

Legal reviewing the evidence pack and whether there is any challenge through the Court. 

Conditions included in several local authorities' injunctions have included  

 Prohibiting participating in a ‘car cruise event’ 

 Prohibiting the promotion, organisation and publicising of a car cruise event.  

 Conditions attached to a LGA Section 222 injunction could include power of arrest, penalties 

or the seizure of assets. 

Other local authorities suggest that the timescale for implementation of a LGA Section 222 

injunction is around one year. This is how long it takes to obtain the initial injunction, which is 

then subject to review every couple of years. Other local authorities also state that the 

success of such injunctions is down to a multi-agency approach to enforcement, with regular 

meetings taking place between partner organisations, and a firm commitment to undertake 

weekend actions.  

Pros - area wide, consistent message, provides a clear basis to tackle the problems 

Cons - expensive, commitment required from all agencies to enforce actively and 

routinely 

Public Space Protection Orders 

Under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime Policing Act 2014, Local Authorities can use Public 

Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) to impose restrictions and requirements deemed 

appropriate to stop individuals committing anti-social behaviour in public open spaces.  

Peterborough currently has three PSPOs in place, which cover the city centre, Millfield and 

Woodston. Authorised officers from Peterborough City Council, police constables and Police 

Community Support Officers (PCSOs) can all enforce PSPOs.  

The penalty for breaches of a PSPO is a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) of £100 (those who do 

not pay the FPN will be prosecuted). Individuals who persistently breach a PSPO could be 

issued with a Community Protection Notice, Community Behaviour Order or a civil injunction. 

30



Several local authorities are using PSPOs to tackle the issue of car cruising. Some PSPOs 

are district-wide while other focus on a particular location. Local authorities can attach 

various conditions to a PSPO. E.g.:  

 Prohibit participation in car cruise events anywhere in the geographical area.  

 Prohibit the promotion or organisation via email, the internet, social media, etc. or 

any publication or broadcast car cruise event within a defined geographical area.  

 Prohibit attendance of any meeting of two or more vehicles in a public space, as a 

vehicle owner, driver, passenger or spectator 

 Prohibit engagement in any activity that a reasonable person would consider to be 

car cruising. 

PSPOs can be enforced at the time of the offence or afterwards (if evidence is collected by 

an authorised officer or if the offence is captured on CCTV). Although district wide PSPOs 

can be granted, these are still dependent on police officers attending the location at the time 

of the offence to gather evidence if no CCTV cameras covering the location.  

It is recognised that PSPOs covering an individual location can result in movement of the 

problem to another location. For example, if a PSPO was introduced in Pleasure Fair 

Meadow car park it is possible the car meet could be displaced to another city centre car 

park. 

As with an injunction, a PSPO must be evidence-led, and legal challenges could be made. 

The cost of implementing a PSPO is significantly less than an injunction as the local 

authority makes the order and the only costs involved are officer time and signage. PSPOs 

take approximately six months to implement, and a six-week education phase is required 

before enforcement commences.  

Local authorities which have seen a reduction in vehicle nuisance through the 

implementation of a PSPO, have stated that a multi-agency approach is required with a firm 

commitment from all agencies including the police to enforce. This could include collecting 

evidence at the time of the offence, or the police providing the council with vehicle details if 

an offence is captured on CCTV. Some authorities have wider agreements in terms of 

issuing Community Protection Notices (see below) for consistent breaches for those 

organising events. They also commit resources to dedicated weekends of enforcement. 

Some local authorities publish the number of FPNs they have issued on social media, 

including on car club pages. 

Pros – PSPOs can be inexpensive   

31



Cons - PSPOs require multiagency commitment for active enforcement and can lead 

to displacement of the problem. 

Community Protection Notices (CPN) 

Community Protection Notices (CPNs) can be issued by councils or the police to any person 

aged 16 or over, or a business or organisation, found to be committing antisocial behaviour 

which is impacting negatively on the quality of life of people living in the local community.  

Initially, a written warning must be issued, informing the perpetrator of a problem with their 

behaving behaviour. A request that the behaviour stops is accompanied by an explanation of 

what will happen if the behaviour continues. If the behaviour continues, a CPN can be 

issued, which will require them to either stop it, or to take reasonable steps to avoid it.  

A breach of a CPN is a criminal offence. The use of a CPN in relation to car cruises would 

be to target those responsible for organising events or repeat perpetrators of vehicle 

nuisance.  

Pros - Inexpensive, targets individuals rather than blanket coverage  

Cons - Enforcement required, cost associated with the gathering of evidence and 

issuing of the CPN. 

Physical Measures – restricting access to hot spot areas 

Adaptations 

The Task and Finish group identified various hot spot locations where anti-social driving 

often takes place. This is usually late at night and causes disruption for residents due to the 

excessive noise caused by cars driving aggressively and performing stunts, often at speed. 

The group assessed the benefits of road adaptions which would make the area less 

desirable for anti-social driving. Subject to funding, schemes could be developed as part of 

other programmes of works.  

It was noted by the group that certain hot spot locations are owned by private companies 

and managed by an agent who would be responsible for the introduction of any physical 

measures. Where a hot spot location is a mix of public highway and private land, 

preventative measures should be installed simultaneously to have maximum impact.  

Pros – Physical measures prevent events from taking place in a certain area 

Cons - Costs, can lead to displacement 

Dedicated areas for car cruising events 

32



The group discussed the possibility of dedicating a piece of land for the use of car cruise 

events away from a residential area. Initial discussions suggest this is not a possibility due to 

lack of land and other issues such as insurance and liability. 

7. PREVIOUS RECOMMENDATIONS AND UPDATES 

The Task and Finish Group made the following recommendations to Scrutiny Committee in 

March 2022 which were subsequently agreed by Scrutiny and Cabinet: 

1. That the Council shares this interim report with Cambridgeshire Police with a view to 

agreeing a memorandum of understanding guaranteeing support for the Council with 

the implementation of injunction(s), community protection orders or public space 

protection orders.  

Update: The report has been shared and the police have verbally agreed to support the 

council in enforcing an injunction or other order once it is in place.  Once the council has 

developed the details of the scheme, a memorandum of understanding will be drafted and 

agreed between the council and police. 

2. That the Chief Executive of Peterborough City Council and a member of the 

Council’s cabinet agree to champion this issue and to engage with both 

Peterborough MPs and the Police and Crime Commissioner to secure their support 

in championing this issue.  

Update: Cabinet has already endorsed the recommendation and followed up with a joint 

letter to the police from the Chief Executive and Cabinet Member for Communicaiton, 

Culture and Communities. 

3. That the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Police and Crime Commissioner is 

asked to compile a report on how the police should tackle this issue.   

Update: The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner has responded as follows: 

“The Commissioner is aware of local concerns about this issue which understands 

has been a challenge for a number of years.  The Commissioner is also aware that 

the scrutiny committee has had a task and finish group looking at these issues. 

The Safer Peterborough Partnership is responsible for tackling crime & disorder, 

enabling responsible authorities to work together. The Commissioner has supported 

the Safer Peterborough Partnership and offered funding through the Safer 

Communities Fund to support this local problem-solving approach. 

The Commissioner understands there were concerns about police response. 

33



Responsibility for holding the Constabulary to account sits with the Commissioner but 

in the context of operational independence, the Chief Constable is responsible for 

delivery of policing so specific concerns about police involvement should be 

escalated to the Chief Constable in the first instance.” 

4. That the council fully costs the financial implications of developing an injunction for 

car meets in Peterborough.  

Update: The estimate cost for developing an injunction is approximately £50,000.  This can 

vary depending on the amount of legal work required and whether it is challenged in the 

Courts. 

5. That the council fully costs the financial implications of introducing Community 

Protection Notice. 

Update: It is anticipated that the costs would be negligible, effectively officer time only. 

6. That the council fully costs the financial implications of developing measures to 

prevent car meets from taking place at Pleasure Fair Meadow car park, as part of the 

Woodston PSPO.   

Update: A PSPO is estimated to cost approximately £3,000 in legal fees, plus a further 

£20,000 for ANPR CCTV cameras (if needed at any additional location). 

7. That the Highways Team produces detailed plans, with a clear indication of costs, of 

how it proposes to alter the layout of Stapledon Road to ensure it is no longer 

suitable for antisocial driving.  

Update: The works were completed in July 2022 and have had an immediate impact on 

reducing anti-social driving in the area, although the problems have been displaced to other 

parts of the city.  

8. That the Task and Finish Group continues its work by exploring sources of funding 

that are available to reduce the funding burden on city finances.   

Update: Officers will continue to explore opportunities for funding through the Police and 

Crime Commissioner and Safer Peterborough Partnership and the Road Safety Trust. 

9. That the Task and Finish Group makes a further attempt to engage the car cruise 

community. 

Update: further attempts to speak with individuals have been made but have not as yet been 

successful. 

34



10. That the council’s planning department should actively consider whether future 

planning applications should consider measures that will prevent antisocial driving.  

Update: The report has been passed to the Planning Department for consideration in any 

future proposals for housing developments. 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

There are three options for the committee to consider: 

1.  A city-wide injunction – this is the most likely to be successful at resolving the issues 

created by car meets and anti-social driving.  However, it is also the most expensive 

at an estimated £30-£50k.  External funding from the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and the Road Safety Partnership should be explored to contribute 

towards the costs. 

2. A Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) – these are issued to cover a specific 

location, for example Woodston (also covering Pleasure Fair Meadow).  Costs are 

estimated to be £3k but may end up dispersing the problem to other parts of the city 

requiring a further PSPO to be developed. 

3. Community Protection Notices would only require officer time to develop.  They can 

be issued to individuals causing anti-social behaviour and are likely to be most 

effective when targeted at repeat offenders.  They are less likely to prevent a car 

meet or anti-social driving from taking place, but do provide an additional tool for 

enforcement. 

 

As set out in the report, the cost of an injunction is expected to be around £50k but this is 

dependent on further legal advice and whether there are any objections to Court which need 

to be argued. 

Both PSPO and Community Protection Notices costs are likely to be officer time only. 

An injunction will require expert legal advice costing an estimated £30k.  Whilst this would be 

the most effective for deterring anti-social driving, it needs to be cost effective and may not 

be affordable for the council. 

 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Although the current recommendations in the report do not have any direct legal 

implications, the exploring an injunction and a public space protection order to cover 

Pleasure Fair will be undertaken in full consultation with our legal department. 

35



10. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AND RESEARCH SOURCES 

USED DURING THE INVESTIGATION 

None 

11. APPENDICES  

 

Enforcement option appraisal  

 

Further information on this review is available from: 

Democratic Services Team 

Governance Directorate 

Town Hall 

Bridge Street 

Peterborough 

PE1 1HG 

 

Telephone – (01733) 747474 

Email – scrutiny@peterborough.gov.uk  

 

 

36

mailto:scrutiny@peterborough.gov.uk


Option

Council Support 

Required

Police Support 

Required Risk of Displacement

Likelihood of Success 

(reduced/no car meets) Estimated Costs

1. City wide injunction  

A city-wide injunction would give designated officers (PCC 

(Peterborough City Council) and Police) powers to enforce breaches 

of the injunction either at the time of the event or retrospectively. 

Conditions of the injunction would need to be developed with the 

police along with a memo of understanding.

The local authority must be the lead agency for taking a city-wide 

injunction under Section 222 of the Local Government Act against 

persons unknown.  An estimated timescale approx. 6 months to 1 

year, depending on the review of evidence that the council/police 

hold.

CCTV control room

Legal

Offcer time to gather 

evidence and process 

penalty notices

Support to develop 

the conditions for the 

injunction

Attendance at car 

cruise events or any 

gathering which 

breach the injunction

Enforcement of 

drivers/attendees 

breaching the 

injunction

Where the council has 

cctv evidence, 

enforcement of 

breaches post event

Low/medium - evidence from 

other council areas has shown 

that injunctions are an effective 

tool and significantly reduce car 

cruises from taking place.  There 

is however, the small potential 

for events to move outside of the 

city to neighboroughing areas.

The council will work with 

neighbouring councils to fully 

brief on any injunctions, sharing 

intelligence of intended car 

meets and helping to mitigate 

the impact.

Injunctions have successfully 

been used at Stevenage and 

councils in the Black Country and 

therefore highly likely to succeed 

in Peterborough.  If the police are 

able to provide the committment 

and resources to enforce an 

injunction, then it has a strong 

chance of significantly deterring 

events from taking place.  

Enforcement can also be backed 

up with CCTV evidence provided 

by the council post event.

Estimate of £30-50k 

depending on further 

legal advice and 

whether the injunction 

is challenged in the 

Courts.  An additional 

£40-50k could be 

needed if the council 

wanted to also 

introduce ANPR 

cameras.  This is not 

essential as the police 

can enforce based 

upon their own 

evidence or via council 

CCTV.

2. Public Space Protection Orders - Neighbourhood

Under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime Policing Act 2014, Local 

Authorities can use Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) to 

impose restrictions and requirements deemed appropriate to stop 

individuals committing anti-social behaviour in public open spaces.

To implement a PSPOs on Pleasure Fair Meadow would take 

approximately six months to implement, a six-week education phase 

is required before enforcement commences. Conditions and 

enforcement of a PSPO (Public Space Protection Orders) would need 

to be developed with the police.

A fixed penalty notice of £100 can be issued, or for more serious 

offences a fine of up to £1,000 if convicted at Court.

CCTV control room

Legal

Offcer time to gather 

evidence and process 

fixed penalty notices

Attendance at car 

cruise events to gather 

evidence and issue 

warnings

Supplying driver 

information to the 

council for 

enforcement purposes

Medium/high - it is possible that 

if events were prohibited at 

Pleasure Fair Meadow then they 

would could move to another 

carpark/location.  A further PSPO 

could then be developed in the 

new location should the evidence 

support it.

However, if also combined with a 

city wide injunction, then the 

overall risk would be low.

A PSPO would have a strong 

chance of reducing/preventing 

events taking place at Pleasure 

Fair Meadow, or other hot spot 

areas if implemented with ANPR 

cameras which come at cost.  

Other issues may arise when 

implementing on private land 

which are hot spot locations.

£3,000 in legal fees 

plus £20,000 for 

additional ANPR 

cameras

37



3. Community Protection Notices (CPNs) - Individuals

CPNs can be issued by councils or the police to any person aged 16 

or over, or a business or organisation, found to be committing 

antisocial behaviour which is impacting negatively on the quality of 

life of people living in the local community.

Initially, a written warning must be issued, informing the perpetrator 

of a problem with their  behaviour. A request that the behaviour 

stops is accompanied by an explanation of what will happen if the 

behaviour continues. If the behaviour continues, a CPN can be 

issued, which will require them to either stop, or to take reasonable 

steps to avoid it.

A breach of a CPN is a criminal offence. The use of a CPN in relation 

to car cruises would be to target those responsible for organising 

events or repeat perpetrators of vehicle nuisance.

CPW/CPNs are not expensive in terms of issues, however officers 

time would be required to gather the evidence and enforce each 

separate stage and the amount of time required will be different on 

each occasion.

A fixed penalty notice of £100 can be issued, or for more serious 

offences a Court summons and a fine of up to £2,500 if convicted.

CCTV control room

Legal

Offcer time to gather 

evidence and process 

CPN

Attendance at car 

cruise events to gather 

evidence and issue 

warnings

Enforcement of 

drivers/attendees 

breaching a CPN

Where the council has 

cctv evidence, 

enforcement of 

breaches post event

Medium risk of displacing to 

other areas, but this would be 

reduced if combined with either 

an injunction and/or PSPO.

Also a high chance of dispersing 

the problem to neighboroughing 

district council areas

Warnings may deter a few 

attendees, but unlikely to have 

any significant impact.  It may 

prove difficult to identify 

organisers of the events, or make 

a strong enough case to show 

that they are liable for anti-social 

behaviour committed by other 

non-connected 

drivers/attendees.

Officer time and 

associated legal costs 

with pursuing Court 

action (if required).

38



 

 
GROWTH, RESOURCES & COMMUNITIES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 6 

 1 November 2022 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Cllr Marco Cereste, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning, Housing 
and Transport 

 

Cabinet Member(s) 
responsible: 

Cllr Marco Cereste, Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning, Housing 
and Transport 

 

Contact Officer(s): Adrian Chapman, Executive Director for Place & Economy Tel. 07920 
160441 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER PROGRESS REPORT – Cabinet Member for Climate 

Change, Planning, Housing and Transport 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Cllr Marco Cereste Deadline date: N/A 

 

It is recommended that Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee:  
 
Considers and scrutinises this report and endorses the approach being taken under the portfolio of the 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning, Housing and Transport 
 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 

1.1 The report is presented at the request of the Committee. 
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 This report is being presented to the Committee to allow them to scrutinise the work relevant to 
the Committee’s remit that falls within the portfolio of the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 
Planning, Housing and Transport 
 

2.2 This report is for the Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee Meeting to 
consider under its Terms of Reference No. No. Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny 
Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by the Council:  
  
1.  Housing need (including homelessness, housing options and selective licensing); 
8.  Economic Development and Regeneration including Strategic Housing and Strategic 
     Planning; 
9.  Transport, Highways and Road Traffic; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

39



3. TIMESCALES 

  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

NA 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 The following aspects of the Cabinet Member’s portfolio fall within the remit of this Committee: 
 

 Housing  

 Housing & Planning Strategy  

 Transport, Highways and Road Traffic 

 
The following sections set out progress and priorities against these themes. 
 

4.2 Transport, Highways and Road Traffic  
 

4.2.1 Peterborough Highway Services (PHS) is a partnership between Peterborough City Council and 
Milestone Infrastructure Ltd (formally Skanska), responsible for improving and maintaining 
Peterborough’s highway network including roads, drainage, street lighting and bridges. Appendix 
A is a summary of the performance of the contract between April 2021 and March 2022. In 
addition, Appendix A also includes the report covering the period April 2020 and March 2021 
which has not yet been presented to committee and is provided for background information. 
 

4.2.2 During this period PHS has navigated the COVID-19 pandemic effectively and been able to 
deliver a full range of services despite the additional constraints and challenges. Most staff have 
continued to work from home, but the depot has remained operational throughout the year, 
helping to maintain a safe and accessible highway network. 
 

4.2.3 PHS has continued to deliver high levels of performance having achieved an overall annual 
performance score of 97.23%. This score is built up from 27 individually weighted KPI’s covering 
four domains – Operations, Customer Service, Commercial and Finance, and Added Value. 
Some of the key operational metrics are set out below: 
 

 99.8% of emergencies call outs were attended within the agreed timescale.  

 98.9% of Category 1 highway defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

 100% of street lighting Category 1 defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

 97.1 % of highway Category 2 defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

 99.7% of street lighting Category 2 defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

 44 precautionary winter treatment runs were undertaken (each comprising five routes) 
with all runs completed within the agreed timescales. 

 

4.2.4 PHS is unusual in that environmental considerations feature so prominently in the performance 
of the contract since its commencement. Headline environmental KPIs include: 
 

 Carbon – an average of 0.93 tonnes CO2e per £100,000 spend was emitted, well below 
the target of 2.35. This is a reduction of 60% compared to the 2015 baseline.  

 Water – 15,895 litres of potable water were saved by using the rainwater harvesting 
system installed in the depot. This is below the target of 23,980 litres. This was in part 

impacted by major maintenance to the depot building and a lack of rainfall.  

 Waste – 100% of construction waste produced by the contract was diverted from landfill, 
which remains above the 95% target. 

 
Although not directly contributing to the KPI performance, Milestone demonstrated its 
commitment to sustainability by re-securing Green Level accreditation with Investors in the 
Environment in 2021. Another significant environmental development was the introduction of 
HVO (Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil) fuel to the depot fleet which delivers a 90% carbon saving 
when compared to diesel. 

40



 

4.2.5 A positive health and safety culture is promoted within the partnership with the contract achieving 
over 1.7m person-hours without a Lost Time Injury. During this reporting period there has, 
unfortunately, been two Lost Time Injuries, one of which became a RIDDOR (reporting of injuries, 
diseases, and dangerous occurrences regulations) incident that required reporting to the Health 
and Safety Executive. Both incidents were investigated by senior management and improvement 
actions taken. 
 

4.2.6 Delivering efficiencies is an integral part of the contract. A total of £1.598m efficiencies 
(comprising £0.665m Cashable Savings and £0.933m Cost Avoidance) were delivered in the 
Financial Year 2021/22. 
 

4.2.7 The Council has again participated in the National Highways and Transport (NHT) annual survey 
which captures public satisfaction on services delivered by local authorities. In 2021, the Council 
was ranked 39th for Overall Satisfaction of the 111 authorities participating across the UK. Of the 
27 key benchmark indicators included within the survey, Peterborough was above the national 
average in 66% instances (18 out of 27). 
 

4.2.8 During 2021/22, PHS continued to develop and deliver a number of capital improvement projects 
across the city. The key projects that have been completed or are under construction include the 
bearings replacement to Nene Bridge, APV Baker Footbridge, A605 Whittlesey Access, Orton 
Mere Cycleway, Active Travel measures, resurfacing and safety barrier upgrade works along the 
A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway between Junction 3 and Junction 8. 
 

4.2.9 There were also a large number of schemes that are progressing, and continue to do so, through 
planning and design phases, most notably improvements to Junction 15 (A1260 / A47), Junction 
3 (A1260 / A1139), A16 Norwood, Fengate Access, the River Nene Pedestrian Bridge and the 
Lincoln Road / Taverners Road junction improvements. A Smart Cities Junction Trial at the 
intersection of A605 Fletton Avenue / A15 London Road and Glebe Road and the development 
of a City Centre transport vision have also been progressed during the past financial year, aiding 
traffic monitoring and the production of business cases. 
 

4.2.10 During 2021/22, PHS continued to develop and deliver a number of capital improvement projects 
across the city. The key projects that have been completed or are under construction include the 
bearings replacement to Nene Bridge, APV Baker Footbridge, A605 Whittlesey Access, Orton 
Mere Cycleway, Active Travel measures, resurfacing and safety barrier upgrade works along the 
A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway between Junction 3 and Junction 8. 
 

4.2.11 The partnership is proactive in seeking ways to improve the service. In 2021/22 this has included 
a review of StreetWorks management and compliance, continued development of a project 
governance framework, and the development of a depot dashboard to improve operational 
performance. 
 

4.2.12 Social value initiatives have now recommenced following the restrictions during the COVID-19 
pandemic. Milestone has supported PECT’s Junior Forester programme and provided 
employability and careers support to a number of schools via Growth Works. 
 

4.2.13 In April 2021, formal agreement was reached to extend the PHS contract by five years. Central 
to reaching this agreement was high levels of service performance over many years and the 
strong collaboration relationship that has been developed. This has taken the contract completion 
date to the 30 September 2028.  
 

4.3 
 
4.3.1 

 
 
 

Housing & Planning Strategy  

 

Work on the overall Planning review is continuing. The timetable for sharing a revised structure 
with all staff in the Planning Service has now moved to the end of October due to the ongoing 
work on budget setting.   
  

41



4.3.2 
 
 

 
 
4.3.3 

Discussions are ongoing with Fenland District Council about the future of our SLA (Service Level 
Agreement) with them to deliver Planning Policy services beyond the end of this financial year. 
Our own plans to commence a refresh of the Peterborough Local Plan from April 2023 and 
capacity within the team will be major factors that determine whether the SLA is renewed.  
  

Consideration is now being given to the process to be adopted to develop a new Housing 
Strategy.   
  

 

 
 4.4 Housing (including homelessness prevention, temporary accommodation supply, rough 
sleeping, housing needs) 
 

4.4.1 The review of our housing services, supported by CIPFA, is ongoing. This includes a stakeholder 

engagement exercise, review of service delivery in both Housing Needs and Housing 
Enforcement, and evaluating the role the local authority plays in the wider housing context. It is 
anticipated that this work will be concluded by the end of the year and changes in service delivery 
as a result of the joint working and recommendations being taken forward in time for the new 
financial year. 
 

4.4.2 Homelessness 
Demand for homelessness services continues to remain high. While the number of approaches 

can vary week to week the service is averaging around 70 new approaches each week.  
 

 

 

4.4.3 Temporary accommodation 
The Housing Needs team has now decanted all residents from the temporary accommodation 
and St Michaels Gate and the lease has been brought to an end. This has meant that some 
households have been relocated to alternative temporary accommodation and loss of the units 
has meant that the team are having to make use of B&B accommodation until alternate supply is 
brought on stream.  
 
The number of households accommodated in temporary accommodation at the end of September 
2022 is at the same level as it was at the end of March 2022, which is positive given the continual 
high demand for services we have been experiencing at the same time. Over the coming months 
the team will be working continue to procure alternative accommodation options for both 
temporary and permanent move-on so that a reduction in B&B use and overall numbers in 

temporary accommodation can be achieved.  
 

4.4.4 Rough Sleeping 
Following the lifting of the announcement embargo we can now confirm that we have been 
successful in attracting additional funding into the city for our work in relation to rough sleeping. 

42



Over the next 3 years Peterborough has received £2.91m. This funding will be used to provide 
support services to rough sleepers. This includes providing additional capacity in the Council’s 
rough sleeper outreach team as well as commissioned services to provide targeted support 

around immigration, employment, prison, and hospital discharges.  
 

5. CONSULTATION 
 

5.1 Consultation relevant to each aspect of the portfolio has been carried out as part of ‘business as 
usual’ operations.  
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  
 

6.1 Following debate and discussion at committee, it is anticipated that Members will be fully informed 
as to the progress and priorities of the portfolio holder, and the portfolio holder will be able to 
consider suggestions that come forward during that debate. 
 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 
 

7.1 Scrutiny committees in Peterborough receive an annual report from all portfolio holders, as part 
of their responsibility to scrutinise key areas of work. 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

8.1 NA 
 

9. IMPLICATIONS 
 

 Financial Implications 
 

9.1 None 
 

 Legal Implications 
 

9.2 None 
 

 Equalities Implications 
 

9.3 None 
 

 Rural Implications 
 

9.4 
 

None 

 Carbon Impact Assessment 
 

9.5 This report contains no proposals for changes to service delivery and therefore there is no 
decision to take which may impact carbon emissions of the council or the city. 
 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

10.1 None 
 

11. APPENDICES 

 
11.1 None 

 

 

43



This page is intentionally left blank

44



   

 
 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

PETERBOROUGH HIGHWAY SERVICES  

2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT 

 

 

 

Nene Bridge Bearing Replacement 

45



   

 
 
 

2 
 

 

Contents 

Contents .......................................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary .......................................................................... 3 

Introduction ..................................................................................... 6 

Creation of Milestone Infrastructure Ltd ............................................ 7 

COVID-19 Response ......................................................................... 7 

Maintenance Activities ...................................................................... 8 

Scheme Delivery ............................................................................. 13 

Planning and Design ....................................................................... 18 

Health and Safety ........................................................................... 26 

Improving the Way we Work ............................................................ 28 

Efficiency Savings ........................................................................... 30 

Service Performance ....................................................................... 33 

Good News Stories ......................................................................... 40 

 

Appendices 

KPI Annual Scorecard ................................................................ Appendix A 

KPI Dashboard ........................................................................... Appendix B 

Performance Management Framework Dashboard ................. Appendix C 

PHS Annual Report 2020-21……...………………………………..Appendix D 

 

 

 

46



   

 
 
 

3 
 

 

Executive Summary  

Peterborough Highway Services (PHS) is a partnership between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and 

Milestone Infrastructure Ltd following the sale of Skanska’s Infrastructure Services business to M Group 

Services on the 30th April 2021. PHS is responsible for improving and maintaining Peterborough’s 

highway network including roads, drainage, street lighting and bridges. This report covers the period of 

April 2021 to March 2022.  

During this period PHS has navigated the COVID-19 pandemic effectively and been able to deliver a 

full range of services despite the additional constraints and challenges. Most staff have continued to 

work from home, but the depot has remained operational throughout the year, helping to maintain a 

safe and accessible highway network.  

PHS has continued to deliver high levels of performance having achieved an overall annual 

performance score of 97.23%. This score is built up from 27 individually weighted KPI’s covering four 

domains – Operations, Customer Service, Commercial and Finance, and Added Value. Some of the 

key operational metrics are set out below: 

• 99.8% of emergencies call outs were attended within the agreed timescale.  

• 98.9% of Category 1 highway defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

• 100% of street lighting Category 1 defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

• 97.1 % of highway Category 2 defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

• 99.7% of street lighting Category 2 defects were repaired within the agreed timescales. 

• 44 precautionary winter treatment runs were undertaken (each comprising five routes) with all 

runs completed within the agreed timescales.  

PHS is unusual in that environmental considerations feature so prominently in the performance of the 

contract since its commencement. Headline environmental KPIs include: 

• Carbon – an average of 0.93 tonnes CO2e per £100,000 spend was emitted, well below the 

target of 2.35. This is a reduction of 60% compared to the 2015 baseline.  

• Water – 15,895 litres of potable water were saved by using the rainwater harvesting system 

installed in the depot. This is below the target of 23,980 litres. This was in part impacted by 

major maintenance to the depot building and a lack of rainfall.  

• Waste – 100% of construction waste produced by the contract was diverted from landfill, which 

remains above the 95% target. 

47



   

 
 
 

4 
 

 

Although not directly contributing to the KPI performance, Milestone demonstrated its commitment to 

sustainability by re-securing Green Level accreditation with Investors in the Environment in 2021. 

Another significant environmental development was the introduction of HVO fuel to the depot fleet which 

delivers a 90% carbon saving when compared to diesel.  

A positive health and safety culture is promoted within the partnership with the contract achieving over 

1.7m man-hours without a Lost Time Injury. During this reporting period there has, unfortunately, been 

two Lost Time Injuries, one of which became a RIDDOR (reporting of injuries, diseases and dangerous 

occurrences regulations) incidents that required reporting to the Health and Safety Executive.  Both 

incidents were investigated by senior management and improvement actions taken. 

Delivering efficiencies is an integral part of the contract. A total of £1.598m efficiencies (comprising 

£0.665m Cashable Savings and £0.933m Cost Avoidance) were delivered in the Financial Year 

2021/22.  

The Council has again participated in the National Highways and Transport (NHT) annual survey which 

captures public satisfaction on services delivered by local authorities. In 2021, the Council was ranked 

39th for Overall Satisfaction of the 111 authorities participating across the UK. Of the 27 key benchmark 

indicators included within the survey, Peterborough was above the national average in 66% instances 

(18 out of 27). However, Peterborough was ranked first amongst the 11 local authorities in the eastern 

region, a position it has retained for the past five years. 

During 2021/22, PHS continued to develop and deliver a number of capital improvement projects across 

the City. The key projects that have been completed or are under construction include the bearings 

replacement to Nene Bridge, APV Baker Footbridge, A605 Whittlesey Access, Orton Mere Cycleway, 

Active Travel measures, resurfacing and safety barrier upgrade works along the A1139 Frank Perkins 

Parkway between Junction 3 and Junction 8. 

There were also a large number of schemes that are and continue to progress through planning and 

design phases, most notably improvements to Junction 15 (A1260 / A47), Junction 3 (A1260 / A1139), 

A16 Norwood, Fengate Access, the River Nene Pedestrian Bridge and the Lincoln Road / Taverners 

Road junction improvements. A Smart Cities Junction Trial at the intersection of A605 Fletton Avenue / 

A15 London Road and Glebe Road and the development of a City Centre transport vision have also 

been progressed during the past financial year, aiding traffic monitoring and the production of business 

cases.  

The partnership is proactive in seeking ways to improve the service. In 2021/22 this has included a 

review of Streetworks management and compliance, continued development of a project governance 

framework, and the development of a depot dashboard to improve operational performance.  

48



   

 
 
 

5 
 

 

Social value initiatives have now recommenced following the restrictions during the COVID-19 

pandemic. Milestone has supported PECT’s Junior Forester programme and provided employability 

and careers support to a number of schools via Growth Works.  

In April 2021, formal agreement was reached to extend the PHS contract by five years. Central to 

reaching this agreement was high levels of service performance over many years and the strong 

collaboration relationship that has been developed. This has taken the contract completion date to the 

30th September 2028.   

  

49



   

 
 
 

6 
 

 

Introduction 

Peterborough Highway Services (PHS) is responsible for planning, improving, and maintaining 

Peterborough’s highway network including roads, drainage, street lighting and bridges.   

PHS is a partnership between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and Milestone Infrastructure Ltd. The 

contract was originally awarded to Skanska UK in 2013, with a ten-year contract commencing on the 

1st October 2013. A Major Projects team was added to the PHS contract in 2016, and an LED Street 

Lighting Project was added in 2017 but has since been disbanded due to the successful completion of 

the LED upgrade programme. In April 2021 the Skanska’s Infrastructure Services business was sold to 

M Group Services and a new organisation, Milestone Infrastructure Ltd, was formed.  

During the reporting period the PHS contract was extended by five years to 30th September 2028 on 

account of consistent, strong performance over a number of years. 

The contract operates from two shared office facilities including Sand Martin House and Dodson House, 

of which the latter accommodates the PHS depot which became operational in May 2016. 

The partnership operates a simple governance structure comprising the Peterborough Highways 

Strategic Board (PHSB) and the Peterborough Highways Operations Team (PHOT). The purpose of 

PHSB is to provide strategic direction and monitor the performance of the contract. PHOT is responsible 

for leading and managing all aspects of service delivery and performance, and implementing the 

strategic direction set by PHSB. 

This report covers the 12-month period from April 2021 to March 2022.  

 

  

50



   

 
 
 

7 
 

 

Creation of Milestone Infrastructure Ltd 

In December 2020 Skanska announced the sale of its Infrastructure Services business to M Group 

Services. This division included its highway, street lighting and rail term maintenance contracts including 

the highway services delivered to Peterborough City Council. This sale was completed on 30th April 

2021 and a new organisation, Milestone Infrastructure Ltd, was formed.  

All Skanska staff transferred to Milestone Infrastructure with no changes to the personnel delivering the 

PHS contract or wider personnel providing senior management oversight. The significant work 

undertaken in advance of the sale date ensured a smooth transition of the service, and little to no impact 

on service delivery.  

COVID-19 Response 

COVID-19 continued to have an impact on the highway service throughout 2020/21. Milestone (and 

previously Skanska) adopted the Construction Leadership Council’s guidance ‘Safe Site Operations’ 

which enabled operations to continue but with additional control measures implemented. The depot 

also continued to operate with a skeleton management team in place. 

Throughout this period the majority of office-based staff continued to work from home in line with the 

government advice in place at that time. Dodson House and Sand Martin House were initially closed to 

most staff, but this was gradually eased with the capacity of Dodson House being increased to 20 from 

December 2020. Again, COVID-19 control measures were in place which included social distancing, 

use of face masks, increased focus on hygiene, and an enhanced office cleaning regime. 

From April 2020, the contract was working under an interim Service Manager Instruction which modified 

KPI response times, requirements on inspections and amended commercial arrangements. In August 

2021 the Service Manager Instruction was updated, ending the interim commercial and performance 

management arrangements. The most notable impact of this was the reintroduction of the Option A 

(Schedule of Rates) commercial mechanism for work under £50,000, which provided greater cost 

certainty for PCC. Changes to the performance management arrangements were more modest as the 

service had continued to perform throughout the pandemic at or close to the unmodified KPI targets.  

A key focus throughout the pandemic was the need to maintain the safety of the network. For this 

reason, access to the depot was restricted and the use of single occupancy vehicles continued until 

February 2021 so as to minimise cross-infection amongst operatives and winter drivers. The risk to the 

winter service was further mitigated by implementing strict social distancing and ensuring that there 

was a 2-in-1 driver rota to provide increased service resilience. We are pleased to report that the service 

successfully navigated the colder months with no winter resourcing concerns.  

  

51



   

 
 
 

8 
 

 

Maintenance Activities 

Highway Maintenance 

During the 2021/22 year, PHS responded to: 

• 659 emergency call outs, all but one was attended on time1.  

• 174 Category 1 highway defects (172 completed on time) and 47 Category 1 street lighting 

defects, all of which were repaired on time2. 

• 5,739 Category 2 highway defects, where 5,575 were repaired on time. These repairs need to 

be undertaken with 7, 14, 28 days or 3 months depending on the nature of the defect and 

timescale given on the order raised3. 

• Repaired 1,053 7-day street lighting faults, with 1,050 repaired on time.  

Winter Service  

PHS is responsible for the Winter Service within the Council area. The Winter Service is provided by 

six purpose-built gritters which operate on five different routes across the city area, including car parks. 

However, Aragon Services provides the Winter Service to the pedestrian areas of the City Centre.  

Between April 2021 and March 2022, 44 precautionary treatment runs were undertaken (each 

comprising five routes), using 1,055 tonnes of salt. The number of precautionary treatment runs is the 

lowest over the past three years with 50 runs taking place in 2019/20 and 67 runs undertaken in 

2020/21. All runs were completed within the two-hour target.   

The PHS winter fleet consists of: 

• 2 x 26t dedicated Mercedes Econ Gritters. 

• 3 x 18t Quick Change Body Gritters and Tippers. 

• 1 x 7.5t Multi-spread Gritter for the car parks within Peterborough. 

The benefit of the changeable 18t bodies is that the vehicles are used all year round rather than for just 

the Winter Service. This enables more efficient use of the fleet. 

 
1  
1 Figure includes 2 No. emergency call outs which were responded to within the relaxed timescale (24 hours) as set out in the 

Service Manager’s Instruction issued 30th March 2020 (issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic). 

 
2 Figure includes 3 No. Highways Cat 1 defects that were completed within the relaxed timescale (7 days) as set out in the 

Service Manager’s Instruction issued 30th March 2020 (issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic). 

 
3 Figure includes 16 No. Highways Cat 2 (7 day) defects that were completed within the relaxed timescale (28 days) as set out in 
the Service Manager’s Instruction issued 30th March 2020 (issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic). 

52



   

 
 
 

9 
 

 

 

PHS continue to engage with the public during the winter months via the Council’s Twitter and Facebook 

accounts. Updates were regularly posted to inform residents about treatment decisions, as well as 

which routes would be treated across the network and when.  

  

PHS Vehicle Fleet 

Winter Service Social Media Communication 

53



   

 
 
 

10 
 

 

Flooding Events 

Heavy rainfall during June and July of 2021 resulted in severe flooding across parts of the City. On 18th 

June there were four emergency call outs with over 37mm of rainfall occurring over a five-hour period. 

A further 13 emergencies occurred on 9th July with 92mm of rainfall recorded in just three hours.  

This second night of flooding represented one of the most challenging situations faced by the service, 

with over 75 properties experiencing flooding, but we are pleased to report that the team responded 

positively. The Duty Officer on both occasions worked closely with the Lead Inspector and Drainage 

Officer to determine the best course of action, and then co-ordinated the response from the operational 

gangs and specialist subcontractor. Vital to the success of the response was the dedication and 

commitment from the team; historic knowledge of the drainage system and its performance; and good 

teamwork between the Council, Milestone Infrastructure Ltd, and its supply chain.  

The scale of the flood event triggered the threshold required to instigate a Section 19 flood investigation 

as per the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. These investigations are ongoing but early 

indications are that minimal areas of the highway network require attention as a result of an effective 

maintenance regime. Instead, it is apparent that this 1 in 70-year flood event overloaded the capacity 

of the surface water drainage network (which is typically able to cope with 1 in 30-year flood events) 

resulting in surcharged surface water sewers, creating overland flows into low lying areas.   

 Surfacing Programme 

Major resurfacing works were undertaken to the A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway between Junction 3 and 

Junction 8. The £1.2m scheme commenced on the 6th October 2021 and was completed by the 4th 

November 2021, with all works undertaken at night to minimise the impact to the travelling public. 

Following the completion of the above route, additional surfacing works were identified between 

Junction 3a and Junction 3, which were completed March 2022.  

A £1.8m programme of resurfacing to smaller sites was also successfully completed between May and 

November. This included:  

Flooding across the City 

54



   

 
 
 

11 
 

 

 

• A15 Roundabout (Glinton) 

• Bretton Way 

• Crowland Road 

• Fullbridge Road 

• St Pauls Road 

• Gunthorpe Road 

• A15 Lincoln Road 

• St John’s Road 

• Oundle Road  

Specialist Treatments 

PHS carry out a wide range of specialist surface treatments. These are typically cost-effective ways of 

maintaining carriageway and footway surfaces and extend the life of the asset. Treatments include: 

• Surface dressing – This is applied to road surfaces and comprises a combination of hot-sprayed 

bitumen and road chippings. A £250k programme commenced in April 2021, applying treatment 

to 61,270m2 of carriageway across 10 sites.  

• Micro-Asphalting – This is a cold-applied polymer liquid which is applied to road surfaces.  The 

programme commenced in March 2022, applying treatment to 43,558m2 of carriageway across 

19 residential roads. The overall value of the works was £631k.   

• Slurry Sealing – This is a cold-applied polymer liquid which is applied to footway surfaces. A 

£138k programme commenced in August, applying 17,261m2 of treatment across the 

Dogsthorpe and Millfield areas of the City. 

Safety Barrier Upgrade 

The £1.2m scheme to replace the safety barriers on the A1139 Fletton / Frank Perkins Parkways, 

between Junction 8 and Junction 3, commenced in October 2021. The repairs took 13 weeks to 

complete, with a completion date of 5th January 2022. The safety repairs to this route ensured the 

Parkway Network remain safe and resilient for road users. The majority of the works were undertaken 

at night to minimise the impact on the travelling public.  

As part of the works, structural / pier work was required at Junction 4 (Stanground) and works at this 

location required daytime 24-hour lane closures to be in place. Daytime works were due to commence 

in September 2021 but were delayed as a sign-off review of the temporary works raised safety 

concerns. The works were subsequently rescheduled to end of October 2021 to align with surfacing 

works along the same stretch of parkway. This, unfortunately, coincided with safety critical work 

National Highways were undertaking on the A47, resulting in severe congestion across the City. 

Learning has been taken from this and applied to other projects. In addition, there are also plans to 

undertake an improvement project to improve the effectiveness of Streetworks planning and 

implementation across the service in 2022/23.  

55



   

 
 
 

12 
 

 

A second £0.6m scheme to replace the central reserve safety barriers on the A15 Werrington and 

Paston Parkways commenced on the 10th January 2022. This 8-week programme was completed in 

late March 2022.   

56



   

 
 
 

13 
 

 

Scheme Delivery 

Since the commencement of the contract, PHS has been actively involved in the delivery of transport 

improvement schemes across the City. Beneath are a few examples of the major improvement works 

and schemes delivered throughout the year. 

Nene Bridge 

Nene Bridge is one of only three road crossings of the River Nene in Peterborough. It plays an important 

role in the City’s transport network as part of the A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway, linking the A1 to the 

A47. Nene Bridge was constructed in the 1980s as part of Peterborough’s New Town development 

phase.  

Inspections of the bridge had previously identified signs of structural distress to the bearings and piers 

that were likely to exacerbate 

over time. The first phase of 

the scheme, costing £4.2m, 

commenced in April 2018 

and was completed in 

September 2019. This 

involved constructing 

concrete ‘jackets’ around six 

of the eight V-shaped piers 

and replacing the bearings. 

This work will substantially 

prolong the lifespan of the 

structure, enabling the 

continued support one of the 

main parkway routes into the 

City. 

Phase 2 of the scheme involved the strengthening and bearing replacement of last two piers (piers 7 

and 8), replicating works undertaken on piers 1-6 during Phase 1 of the project. Phase 2 commenced 

in December 2020 and was completed 31st January 2022. The value of the works was £2.1m. All works 

were undertaken with no impact to live traffic on the A1139.  

 

  

57



   

 
 
 

14 
 

 

APV Baker Footbridge  

The APV Baker Footbridge is one of two pedestrian / cycle bridges over the A15 Paston Parkway and 

is located south of Junction 21 leading to Baker Perkins (Manor Drive Estate).  

Movement of the supporting piers was discovered following a routine structural inspection. This had 

resulted in the two piers tilting over 800mm off-centre, causing stresses on the overall structure. 

Remedial works for the bridge required new piled foundations to be installed, the replacement of both 

piers (with the bridge temporarily supported to facilitate the pier replacement) and the installation of new 

safety barriers. New handrail lighting was also installed on the bridge with positive feedback being 

received from the public.   

The project commenced on the 23rd July 2021 and was completed on 20th December 2021, costing 

£765k. Further work is planned for future years to address movement of the east approach ramp.  

A605 Whittlesey Access  

The A605 Whittlesey Road / B1095 Milk and Water Drove is located on the eastern edge of 

Peterborough close to the border with Cambridgeshire. Serving as the main route between 

Peterborough and Whittlesey, improvements were identified to alleviate peak hour congestion caused 

by stationary right turners destined for the B1095.  

The works included the creation of dedicated right turn lane on the A605, which has enabled the free-

flowing movement of traffic eastbound towards Whittlesey and beyond. In order to facilitate the works, 

the existing A605 Horsey Toll Bridge was widened by approximately 5m and major civil engineering 

works undertaken, including the installation of a 70m long sheet piled retaining wall along the A605.  

58



   

 
 
 

15 
 

 

PHS worked closely with Cadent to minimise of the costs of diverting a high-pressure gas main. 

Additionally, the scheme was also being delivered concurrently with Cambridgeshire County Council’s 

Kings Dyke project, which required regular communication with CCC and its contractor to minimise 

congestion and disruption to road users.  

The junction improvements commenced in September 2020 and were completed in July 2021. The 

overall scheme cost was £5.1m, with the two key components being construction at £2.2m and utility 

diversions and protection at £1.8m. The remain spend covered design, surveys, and land costs.  

Orton Mere Cycleway  

In 2020 The Council allocated £500,000 from local 

developer contributions to upgrade active travel 

provisions across the City with the ‘Green Wheel’, a 45-

mile continuous route around the city, being selected for 

improvements.  

Between August and December 2021, resurfacing and 

widening works were undertaken on the Water Lane 

section of the route by Orton Mere. Improvements 

included widening the surface to 3m to create a shared 

use facility for both pedestrians and cyclists, as well as 

repairing the surface which had been damaged from 

tree roots. This phase of works on the Green Wheel 

spanned 850 linear metres and had a scheme cost of 

£276k.  

59



   

 
 
 

16 
 

 

Councillor Peter Hiller, PCC’s cabinet member for strategic planning and commercial strategy and 

investments, said: “The Green Wheel is a priceless asset in Peterborough, and by investing £500,000 

in its upkeep this will help make it a safe and desirable route for cyclists and pedestrians for years to 

come.  This is just one of a number of schemes aimed at boosting cycling and walking provision in the 

city”.  

The reconstruction of the Orton Mere cycleway was commended for the innovative use of Flexipave, a 

recycled material made from shredded tyres and a flexible adhesive. This, combined with the use of 

recycled aggregate and virtually no waste from site operations, delivered a carbon saving of 150 tonnes 

when compared to conventional asphalt products.  

Active Travel Funding 

Over the previous financial year, there has been an increase in the implementation of The Council’s 

‘School Streets’ initiative. Under this initiative the roads directly outside selected schools are closed to 

vehicular traffic during drop-off and pick-up times under a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO). Whilst such 

measures reduced traffic and improved safety, it was recognised that access needed to be maintained 

for specific groups including Blue Badge holders, emergency services, residents, service vehicles (e.g. 

refuse vehicles, postal workers etc.), home-to school transport vehicles, highways vehicles and school 

staff (where needed). For the majority of schools participating, the initiative is managed by school staff 

and volunteers.  

12 schools have participated in the initiative with a further five schools known to have expressed interest 

in the scheme. Schools currently involved are as follows: 

• Brewster Avenue Infant and Nursery 

• Queens Drive Infants 

• Little Stars Day Nursery  

• Southfields Primary School 

• St. John Fisher Catholic High School 

• St. Thomas More Catholic Primary School and Nursery 

• St. Johns Church School 

• Orton St. Johns Pre-school 

• St. Michaels Church School 

• St. Michaels Pre-school  

• Lime Academy, Parnwell  

• Gunthorpe Primary School  

The Council is currently working in partnership with these 12 schools to make the measures permanent. 

Work includes guiding schools to obtain fixed signage, potential CCTV, obstructions (such as planters) 

and design proposals.  

60

https://www.peterboroughtoday.co.uk/topic/peterborough


   

 
 
 

17 
 

 

The Council is also liaising with the five new schools that have expressed interest with surveys and risk 

assessments due to be undertaken. The intention is to introduce new measures in the autumn of 2022. 

 

61



   

 
 
 

18 
 

 

Planning and Design 

PHS is actively involved in the planning and design of potential future schemes within the City. Beneath 

are a few examples of the schemes being developed. Some of these projects will be dependent upon 

external funding sources if they are to progress further.  

Junction 15 

Junction 15 (A1260 Nene Parkway / A47 Soke Parkway) is heavily congested during peak hours, with 

extensive queues on the A1260 Nene Parkway northbound approach as well as queuing at Thorpe 

Wood.  

In 2018/19, a Preferred Option was selected comprising of the widening of the A1260 Nene Parkway 

northbound to three lanes from Junction 33 and associated widening of the Junction 15 circulatory 

between A1260 Nene Parkway and Bretton Way. A replacement footbridge linking Longthorpe with 

Thorpe Wood is also included as part of the project to ensure that the route is fully accessible for all 

active travel users.  

The scheme has been developed over recent years to incorporate active travel and significant 

environmental benefits. The project will deliver a net gain in biodiversity and expose the nationally 

significant rock formations along the embankment for public viewing from the Longthorpe Bridge. 

Alongside the Junction 15 highway works, the complimentary Thorpe Wood cycle scheme will also be 

delivered in the coming years, providing a high quality, segregated cycle lane between the new 

footbridge, Ferry Meadows, and Thorpe Wood Business Park. 

An Outline Business Case (OBC) was submitted to the CPCA in April 2020, followed by the Full 

Business Case (FBC) and Detailed Design in October 2021. A scheme Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of 7.2 

is currently forecast, demonstrating Very High Value for Money. Approval for construction funding was 

granted by the CPCA in December 2021, enabling site clearance works to be completed in February 

2022 with construction due to commence in May 2022. The 42-week construction programme is due to 

be completed by the end of spring 2023.  

62



   

 
 
 

19 
 

 

 

Junction 3 

Junction 3 is also heavily congested during peak hours, which creates extensive queues on the A1260 

Nene Parkway (southbound) and on the A1260 The Serpentine approach.  

During 2019/20, a Preferred Option for the junction was identified and includes the widening of three of 

the approaches and full signalisation of the junction. An OBC was approved by the CPCA in July 2020 

with a forecast BCR of 3.2, demonstrating High Value for Money. During 2020/22 the FBC and Detailed 

Design were progressed, alongside a public consultation in Autumn 2021. The FBC is expected to be 

submitted to the CPCA in December 2022, with construction expected to commence in 2023. 

The scheme will also entail measures to improve active travel connections around the junction, including 

the creation of a new footpath along Malborne Way (Orton Longueville), the extension of the cycleway 

along Phorpres Way accompanied with new crossing facilities, as well as the resurfacing of the shared 

use footpath along Shrewsbury Avenue. The latter improvement to active travel will be delivered via 

developer contributions.  

 

63



   

 
 
 

20 
 

 

The inclusion of active travel improvements will help facilitate north-south movements which are 

hindered by the A1139 Fletton Parkway, address missing links within the existing network and make 

routes more consistent and safer for users.  

A16 Norwood Improvement Scheme 

The A16 Improvement Scheme is a package of highway improvements which will add capacity to the 

highway network, address existing problems of peak hour congestion, and help to facilitate planned 

residential growth at Norwood and Paston Reserve. 

 

The Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (adopted July 2019) allocates Norwood and Paston Reserve 

as urban extensions, generating a combined total of 2,945 dwellings to the north of Peterborough. 

However, the existing highway network adjacent to these development sites is under increasing 

pressure, particularly in the AM and PM peak periods, with extensive queues and delays on the 

approaches to the A47 / A16 roundabout. 

A Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) was submitted to the CPCA in November 2020. During 

2021/22 the OBC and Preliminary Design were progressed, alongside a public consultation and a 

Walking, Cycling and Horse-Riding Review in Winter 2021.  

64



   

 
 
 

21 
 

 

The OBC was submitted to the CPCA in late May 2022, with the Preferred Option including the following 

highway improvements: 

• Closure of Newborough Road access onto A47. 

• Dualling of A16 between A16 / A47 / Welland Road Roundabout and the Norwood Development 

Access. 

• Partial signalisation of A16 / A47 / Welland Road Roundabout (A16 southbound approach). 

• A 50-metre flare added to the A47 westbound approach to provide additional capacity for left 

turning traffic to Welland Road. 

• Dedicated left turn lane from the A47 eastbound to the A16 northbound. 

Fengate Access Study 

Fengate is a large industrial area to the east of Peterborough. It is bordered to the west by the A1139 

Frank Perkins Parkway, and to the east by the Fens. The Fengate area is an important employment 

area for Peterborough, with a large number of small and medium sized businesses located there, 

alongside large employers like Perkins Engines.  

The Local Plan seeks to build upon the industry in this area and has a number of allocations within the 

area for employment development. The largest employment allocation within Fengate is the Red Brick 

Farm site which covers 126,600 square metres. This is likely to be a mixture of B8 (Storage and 

Distribution) units and B2 (General Industry) units with ancillary B1 office space. However, evidence of 

existing and future conditions demonstrates that there are congestion and delay issues that need to be 

overcome to enable the growth to be realised, particularly at Red Brick Farm.  

An SOBC was approved by the CPCA in October 2020. At time of the approval, proposals put forward 

by developers associated with the growth of Fengate were in a state of progression, leading to the 

decision by the CPCA to move to the final FBC stage, rather than following the conventional business 

case process.  

During 2021/22 the FBC and Detailed Design were progressed, alongside the completion of a public 

consultation in Spring 2021. The submission of the FBC is expected in October 2022, with construction 

forecast to commence in 2023.  

65



   

 
 
 

22 
 

 

The key package of highway measures is shown within the figure below along with the following active 

travel improvements: 

• An off-road cycleway (LTN 1/20 compliant) along Storey’s Bar Road. 

• Various pedestrian and cycle improvements incorporated within the Junction 7 signal 

improvements, as well as a controlled Puffin facility near Sainsbury’s. 

• Pedestrian improvements including two new zebra crossing facilities at the Newark / Oxney 

Road Junction. 

River Nene Pedestrian Bridge  

In October 2020, Peterborough City Council was awarded £22.9m from the Government’s Towns Fund 

to support the planned future growth of Peterborough. As identified in the Local Plan the City Centre is 

a key area for future growth, with the extensive redevelopment of Fletton Quays and the Embankment 

Area identified as opportunity areas.  

The current sustainable travel connectivity between the two development sites is poor, and the River 

Nene is a considerable constraint to providing pedestrian and cycle links for north-south City 

movements. The provision of a new footbridge across the River Nene will provide direct connectivity 

66



   

 
 
 

23 
 

 

between two major redevelopment sites (maximising the full development potential of each site), and 

removing the severance caused by the River Nene. The footbridge will also support existing residential 

communities by reducing commuting distance and providing new sustainable walking and cycling routes 

into the City Centre.  

An SOBC was submitted to the CPCA in September 2021, followed by the OBC in April 2022, where a 

forecast adjusted BCR of 2.2 was presented which demonstrates High Value for Money. The FBC is 

expected to commence in Summer 2022 with construction of the bridge forecast for 2024.  

 

Lincoln Road / Taverners Road Junction 

In August 2021, PHS successfully secured £500,000, as part of a DfT funding competition, for the 

upgrade of traffic signals at the Lincoln Road / Taverners Road junction. The funding provides an 

opportunity to upgrade one of the older and larger signalised junctions in Peterborough. The design is 

currently underway with construction planned to commence in spring 2023. 

Smart Cities 

In 2018/19, PHS developed a Smart Cities Transport Strategy for Peterborough. The purpose of the 

strategy is to provide an efficient, optimised, and dynamic highway network that is able to adjust to 

conditions and communicate with users. It is intended to achieve the specific objectives of maximising 

existing capacity, prioritising the movement of public transport vehicles on key corridors, improve 

network resilience, and improve the efficiency of the network. 

The success of sensor trials conducted in March 2019 (with a 97% accuracy rate), resulted in the first 

Smart Junctions Trial being implemented on the City’s network in April 2021 at the intersection of A605 

67



   

 
 
 

24 
 

 

Fletton Avenue / A15 London Road and Glebe Road. The trial is currently ongoing and includes the 

deployment of ten sensors including: 

• Six sensors at the junction (on signal poles) with counts, occupancy and ANPR capabilities.  

• Four upstream sensors (on lighting columns) with counts and ANPR capabilities. 

• The installation of a smart junction system including a control hardware (VIU) cabinet with 

Artificial Intelligence (AI) algorithm development and deployment capabilities.  

To date, the trial has shown success with the AI control adapting to various demand levels and 

scenarios at the junction, including a stopped car transporter. The next step for the project involves an 

A/B testing phase which will involve scheduling Vivacity control of the junction every other day in order 

to collect comparative data with standard operations. The trial is set to be complete in April 2023. 

COVID-19 Traffic Monitoring 

The Smart City Sensors enabled PHS to undertake daily traffic monitoring of two routes in Peterborough 

to understand the impact on traffic levels at different stages throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. One 

of the sensors was on the Parkway Network to identify strategic travel patterns, the other sensor on an 

urban distributor route to identify more local traffic patterns. 

The sensors installed for the COVID-19 monitoring remain onsite to date, and data collected has been 

used to help facilitate scheme development, supported the production of multiple Business Cases, and 

is still used by PCC and the CPCA within the Transport Restart Group.  

68



   

 
 
 

25 
 

 

Draft City Centre Transport Vision 

The City Centre is entering a new and exciting phase in its development; a phase that will deliver 

significant levels of growth, including significant redevelopment of the Station Quarter and a new 

University of Peterborough on the Embankment. 

To complement these development aspirations, a City Centre Transport Vision was drafted, which If 

adopted, would guide future planning policy and provide an ambitious vision that will ensure consistency 

to future development and growth within the City Centre. The draft vision embraces emerging 

technologies and a shift in travel behaviour. This includes the concept of multi-functional transport hubs 

on the periphery of the City Centre. 

These could provide the vast 

majority of City Centre car parking 

(private and public), transition 

points for goods and deliveries 

destined for the City Centre and as 

terminals for a potential Urban 

Transit System, linking the City 

Centre to a wider Peterborough 

Mass Rapid Transit system.  

The draft City Centre Transport 

Vision also states that, as each area 

of the City Centre is planned and 

regenerated, it should:  

• Create high quality Public Realm Corridors from the growth area into the City Centre.  

• Establish Transport Hubs to replace City Centre parking.   

• Remove highway capacity and reallocate space for urban realm improvements.  

During 2021, stakeholder engagement has commenced in order to gain wider support for the vision, in 

preparation for the formal adoption of the vision which is expected in 2024. Recent projects such as the 

University Access Study and the Peterborough Station Quarter (still in planning and design phases), 

have both been progressed in line with the vision, and when complete will contribute extensively to the 

redevelopment of the City Centre.  

  

69



   

 
 
 

26 
 

 

Health and Safety 

Health and Safety Performance 

PHS has delivered strong health and safety performance over many years and has had one of the best 

safety records across all Milestone Infrastructure highway contracts. By November 2021 the contract 

had achieved 1.6m man-hours without a Lost Time Injury (dating back to 2015) and no RIDDOR 

(reporting of injuries, diseases, and dangerous occurrences regulations) incidents on the core contract.  

Unfortunately, the contract experienced two Lost Time Injuries (LTIs) in 2021/22, one of which became 

a RIDDOR due to the duration of the absence. The latter was reported to the Health and Safety 

Executive. A summary of the incidents and lessons learned are provided below following a senior 

management review: 

# Incident Actions Taken  

1 Member of the team slipped 

when entering a ditch and 

fractured his wrist. 

• Review undertaken of safe working practices for 

entering/ existing ditches. 

• Operatives briefed on the particulars of the incident, 

highlighting the importance of identifying all hazards on 

their location risk assessment.  

• Highway inspectors briefed on the importance of 

identifying all hazards and risks on their information 

sheet. 

• Review of operative first aid provision. 

2 Member of team injured her 

shoulder whilst unloading a 

hand gritting backpack from 

a vehicle. 

• Manual handling training refreshed for all staff. 

• Parking locations reviewed but found not to be a 

contributory factor. 

• Review undertaken of safe working practices for hand 

gritting resulting in a change of vehicle to make it easier 

to load/unload. 

• Injured person referred to occupational health for an 

assessment and physiotherapy treatment facilitated. 

70



   

 
 
 

27 
 

 

As a result of the above incidents, the contract had a Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) of 

0.79 and an Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) of 0.39 at the end of the financial year. Both are 12-month 

rolling figures and calculated per 1,000,000 man-hours.  

Service strikes occur when a member of the workforce strikes utilities such as gas, water, electricity, 

and telecommunication supplies and are another key metric when assessing health and safety. 

Although safe working practices are in operation, this remains a constant challenge as 

telecommunication cables, gas supplies to residential property and low voltage street lighting cables 

are often uncharted and/or installed at a substandard depth. During 2021/22 there were a total of nine 

service strikes, four of which were telecommunications cables at insufficient depth. None of the service 

strikes caused harm to individuals. 

Near misses and incidents that do not cause harm are also reported and investigated to ensure that a 

positive health and safety culture is maintained. These cover a range of activities, but two key areas 

remain an ongoing concern – members of the public placing themselves and the workforce at risk by 

entering traffic management (often in vehicles), and verbal abuse directed at the workforce from 

members of the public. This has been an issue over a number of years and has continued to be an 

issue throughout the pandemic. 

It Starts with Me 

A positive health and safety culture is not achieved through process compliance but is, instead, 

achieved through people. With this in mind, Milestone has developed its own behavioural health, safety, 

and wellbeing programme, ‘It Starts with Me’ (ISWM). This people-centric programme will challenge 

everyone to think about how they go about their work and make more positive health and safety choices. 

It will encourage individuals to identify behaviours which might lead to unsafe practices and promote 

personal responsibility.   

Training was initially rolled out to Milestone senior managers and local contract leads. Our street lighting 

manager, Zeke Rowe, has agreed to lead our local ISWM team and help embed this new approach 

across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire. The next stage of the programme’s roll out is a series of 

engagement events planned for April 2022 with supply chain and Council colleagues following in due 

course.  

 

  

71



   

 
 
 

28 
 

 

Improving the Way we Work 

Service Improvement Priorities 

From the first year of the contract, PHS has actively sought to introduce a culture of business 

improvement, where employees are empowered and promote improvements to daily activities. In 

2021/22 PHOT introduced a set of improvement priorities under four headings – Project Delivery, Future 

Opportunities, Asset Management, and Relationships. A series of short, medium, and long-term 

projects were identified under each of these headings which is reviewed regularly by PHOT. Progress 

has been made on a number of these as outlined below: 

• Project reporting and governance improvements (see below). 

• Road space booking and occupation of the network improvements (see below). 

• Workshop held to understand the local implication of LTN 1/20 ‘Cycling Infrastructure Design’ 

and improve awareness of requirements.  

• Early identification of surfacing schemes to ensure they can be programmed for warm mix 

asphalt, a low carbon alternative to traditional surfacing. 

• The Transport Planning team examined how to emphasise sustainability and environmental 

factors to maximise funding opportunities. This was evident on the A1260/A47 Junction 15 

scheme. 

• Communications framework set up to promote the successes of the highway service. This has 

resulted in a greater number of positive stories being reported.  

• An environmental action plan has been updated. 

Project Governance Framework 

Following previous projects to introduce a governance and gateway framework for Annex 1 and Annex 

4 work last year, this has since been expanded to cover Annex 2 and Annex 3 projects. A formal 

gateway structure at key points during development and delivery provide hold points, ensuring that the 

correct information is available, and that projects are on track to meet its objectives before progressing 

to the next delivery stage. A key outcome has been the identification of any gaps in information or 

outstanding work, as well as improved collaboration between teams for greater consistency, 

accountability, and clarity. 

Improvements to project reporting have also become established. Project performance is reported 

monthly using a PowerBI dashboard and further improvements to cost management have been 

achieved through the introduction of a cost monitoring and forecasting tool using Excel. Together these 

tools help identify any emerging issues early so that timely corrective action can be taken. Data is also 

shared with PCC and used for its own internal project governance.  

72



   

 
 
 

29 
 

 

Road Space Booking and Occupation of the Network  

Both PCC and Milestone identified that Streetworks management and compliance was an area of the 

service that required attention. A series of workshops brought together teams from across the 

partnership to review working practices and improve interaction between the teams.  

The workshops highlighted opportunities to improve processes and communication channels which, in 

turn would improves efficiency and assist in better management of the network. Throughout these 

workshops, the teams have better understood each other’s roles and responsibilities as well the 

constraints that can be faced. Workshop outcomes have/will include: 

• Additional training on general legislation, process, and timescales. 

• Formal and informal communication structure to discuss road space requirements, with the 

Streetworks team now regularly attending all Annex meetings. 

• Earlier notification and dialogue of planned works. 

• Better flow of information and data between teams, both through existing channels and the 

expansion of existing technologies. A series of automated forms have been developed to better 

capture all required information and deliver this to the right people. 

• Review of resourcing requirements to provide more resilience and eliminate bottlenecks  

• Improved clarity of procedures, including under planned and emergency conditions.  

• Creation of central mailbox to provide a single point of contact and remove reliance on individual 

emails. 

• Review of Traffic Sensitive streets to provide greater clarity on requirements.  

Depot Dashboard 

The introduction of a new works management system, Causeway, in the preceding financial year has 

provided a foundation for further operational improvements on the contract. As a result of this, the team 

has developed a new operational dashboard using PowerBI with links back to the Causeway system. 

This has helped improve the scheduling of work, increase productivity, and enabled better and more 

consistent operational performance. This has been shared as an example of best practice across 

Milestone’s portfolio of highway contracts and is being considered for wider adoption.  

73



   

 
 
 

30 
 

 

Efficiency Savings 

Efficiency Road Map 

One of a number of Performance Groups that report to the PHOT is the Efficiency and Contract 

Management Group. This group comprises representatives from across the partnership and meets 

monthly. Every quarter this is expanded to a wider group to encourage greater participation and help 

embed a culture of efficiencies generation. The group focuses on four areas: 

• Capturing and validating efficiencies that have been generated. 

• Identifying and exploring new opportunities for the future generation of efficiencies. 

• Setting efficiency targets for the year ahead. 

• Maintaining and developing the Efficiency Route Map (which records efficiencies that have 

been achieved and monitors these against targets). 

The route map is owned by PHOT and reported to the PHSB quarterly. A total of £1.597m efficiencies 

(comprising £0.664m Cashable Savings and £0.932m Cost Avoidance) were delivered in the Financial 

Year 2021/22. This was against an annual target of £1.522m (comprising £0.597m Cashable Savings 

and £0926m Cost Avoidance) 

A breakdown of the efficiencies for 2021/22 is shown in the table below: 

Road Map Item Cashable Cost Avoidance Notes 

Co-ordination of 

Programme 

- £503,566 Sharing of traffic management across the 

service and with other PCC partners and 

stakeholders to reduce separate traffic 

management charges.  

Integrated contract 

management 

£ 33,948 - Savings made through sharing Milestone 

Infrastructure support staff with 

Cambridgeshire Highways to ensure they 

are fully utilised. 

3rd party works £23,810 - Completing work for other customers – be 

it public or private sector customers. 

Percentage fee returned to PCC. 

Increase in turnover £119,187  1% rebate for every additional million 

pound through the contract above the 

£10m threshold. 

Systems thinking 

projects 

- £19,162 Systems thinking - project and business 

process improvement approach. Delivered 

74



   

 
 
 

31 
 

 

efficiencies in the way the emergency 

response process is delivered. 

Abnormal load 

management 

£1,224 - Savings made through sharing Milestone 

Infrastructure support staff with 

Cambridgeshire Highways to ensure they 

are fully utilised. 

Delivery of Major 

Schemes 

£139,308 - 1% management fee. 

Winter Service - £92,001 Agreement to make winter service lump 

sum rather than a target cost. 

Incident Response - £58,008 Agreement to make incident response a 

lump sum rather than a target cost. 

New Depot 

Relocation 

£61,992 - Annual saving on rent and rates. 

Major Schemes 

Management Fee 

£90,000 - PCC salary subsidy as part of the major 

projects agreement.  

£50k saving 

annually on 

structures 

- £50,000 PCC has reduced its budget by this figure. 

Green Claims - £204,994 This is the amount of cash Milestone 

Infrastructure has received and hence 

PCC have not had to fund these repairs. 

Supply of IT 

equipment 

£31,391  Efficiency returned for use of Milestone IT. 

North Somerset £75,000  Payment resulting from North Somerset’s 

use of the PCC contract to procure 

Milestone Infrastructure.  

Movement of 

containers from 

LED Depot to 

Highways Dept 

£3,043  Re-use of purchased containers from the 

LED project enabled hired containers to be 

off hired. 

Oxfordshire 

Schemes 

£85,654  Payment resulting from Oxfordshire 

County Council’s use of the PCC contract 

to procure Milestone Infrastructure for 

major projects. 

75



   

 
 
 

32 
 

 

Section 38-278 

adoption process 

improvement 

 £5,196 Savings resulting from Highways Control 

Team not dealing with complaints 

Total £664,557 £932,971  

 

The total forecast efficiencies for 2022/23 are set at £1,588,154 comprising £662,278 Cashable Savings 

and £925,876 Cost Avoidance.  

Efficiencies Table 

76



   

 
 
 

33 
 

 

Service Performance 

Key Performance Indicators 

The performance of the Peterborough Highways Contract is monitored through an extensive suite of 

Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s), as set out in the table below.  27 KPI’s are in operation across four 

domains – Operations, Customer Service, Commercial and Finance, and Added Value.  Performance 

is reported monthly to the PHOT in order to monitor progress, capture lessons learnt and support 

continuous improvement.  The PHSB also plays a critical role in overseeing the performance of the 

contract.  

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description 

Operations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Programme 

Delivery 

OP1 Number of cyclic maintenance activities 

completed against programme 

OP12 Number of schemes completed against 

programme 

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per 

scheme 

Operational 

Delivery 

OP2 Percentage of emergency work instructions 

attended to within agreed timescales 

OP3 [a] Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work 

instructions completed within agreed timescale 

OP3 [b] Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work 

instructions completed within agreed timescale 

OP4 [a] Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work 

instructions completed within agreed timescales 

OP4 [b] Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work 

instructions completed within agreed timescale 

OP5 Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment 

runs completed within the agreed timescale 

OP10 Percentage of work passing inspection 

Health and 

Safety 

OP6 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 

OP7 Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported 

OP9 Number of Service Strikes 

Customer 

Service 

Customer 

Service 

CS3 Number of satisfaction surveys completed for 

[a] Client, [b] Members and [c] Public (returned) 

CS4 

[b] & [c] 

Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public 

CS5 Number of commendations received minus 

number of complaints received 

Commercial & 

Financial 

Commercial & 

Financial 

CF1 Percentage of accounts approved and paid 

within agreed period 

CF3 Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared 

to turnover (in current Financial Year) 

CF5 Value from other revenue streams 

77



   

 
 
 

34 
 

 

Added Value Carbon AV1 Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through 

energy and fuel use in buildings and vehicles 

against target 

Water AV2 Reduction in mains Water consumption through 

use of a rainwater harvesting system 

Waste AV3 Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage 

of total waste produced over a rolling twelve-

month period 

Procurement AV4 Percentage of material procurement spend 

within the LEP area 

Suppliers AV5 Percentage of SME contractor’s procurement 

spend within the LEP area 

Sustainable 

transport 

AV6 Reduction in single occupancy car travel 

through application of transport hierarchy 

Economy & 

CSR 

AV7 Support development of local skills provision 

directly and indirectly (supply chain) 

 

Each KPI, score card and domain is weighted and contributes to an overall annual performance score 

for the contract. For 2020/21, PHS achieved an annual score of 97.24%. A high-level summary of this 

score is provided below and expanded upon in Appendix A.   

Domain Weighting Score 

Operations 70% 71.21% 

Customer Service 10% 5.82% 

Commercial & Finance 0% (report only) 0% 

Added Value 20% 20.21% 

Total 100% 97.24% 

 

The lower score for Customer Service was impacted directly by the severe congestion from the Safety 

Barrier Upgrade programme (see earlier). Both Operations and Added Value scored above their 

weighted value due to over-performance.  

Monthly performance against each of the KPI’s between April 2020 and March 2021 is detailed in 

Appendix B but as noted earlier, a number of KPI targets were relaxed for a period of time due to 

COVID-19. The KPI dashboard operates a Green / Amber / Red system, which represents: 

Suite of KPIs  

Annual Performance Score Breakdown 

78



   

 
 
 

35 
 

 

• Green: the KPI is at or exceeding the target. 

• Amber: the KPI has dropped beneath the target for the first month. 

• Red: the KPI is beneath the target for the second month or longer. 

In a similar manner to the Efficiency Group, a KPI Performance Group is established and is responsible 

for reviewing, maintaining, and developing the suite of KPI’s. This includes the annual review of KPI 

targets and making recommendations to the PHOT. The group is made up of members from across the 

partnership and meets monthly.   

Environmental Performance 

PHS is unusual in that environmental considerations feature so prominently in the overall performance 

of the contract. The Added Value KPI’s cover many environmental aspects from carbon, waste, and 

water through to supporting local businesses. Overall performance is good with some key headlines 

provided below: 

• AV1 – Carbon (CO2e tonnes emitted per £100,000 spend) is currently at an average of 0.93 

for the year, which is well below the 2.21 target for the last financial year. This is a reduction of 

60% compared to the 2015 baseline and a reduction of 31% compared to last year (average 

1.34). 

• AV2 – 15,895 litres of potable water were saved by using the rainwater harvesting system 

installed in the depot. Potable water taken to sites has been replaced by filling containers from 

rainwater harvesting leading to this saving. This is below the target of 23,980 litres and is a 

40% reduction in the amount of rainwater collected compared to last year. This was impacted 

by a lack of rainfall and major refurbishment work to the depot building. 

• AV3 – 100% of construction waste produced by the contract was diverted from landfill (based 

on a 12-month rolling period) which remains above the 95% target.  

A contract carbon reduction strategy was developed that aligns with the Council’s own Carbon 

Management Action Plan. The carbon reduction strategy focuses on the following three key areas with 

an action plan to accompany this: 

• Fuel and fleet – Exploring alternative, low carbon fuel replacement for fleet and the future 

electrification of fleet and equipment. 

• Low carbon design – Increasing the consideration of carbon at design stage where there is the 

greatest opportunity to make gains.  

• Material reuse and recycling – Exploring use of recycled aggregate, including material 

generated within the network, and moving towards a circular economy.  

Over the past year, there has been a significant amount of progress made with the Carbon Action Plan. 

A Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) fuel tank was installed at the depot in December 2021 and was 

79



   

 
 
 

36 
 

 

commissioned in January 2022. Since commissioning, 20,000 litres of HVO fuel have been dispensed 

from the fuel tank across the PHS contract. This has led to a saving of approximately 87% (44.2 tonnes) 

of CO2 from the use of HVO over conventional white diesel.   

Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA) is a lower carbon alternative to traditional asphalt and has become the default 

material choice for machine laid surfacing. Since the start of 2021, over 6,932 tonnes of WMA have 

been delivered and used on the contract. Work is ongoing with suppliers to further understand how we 

can continue to adopt new low-carbon materials within the highways environment.  

In the last year, significant progress has been made with identifying carbon savings at design stage. 

This has been achieved through the roll out of a Net Zero Design workshop and a dedicated webinar 

explaining this in further detail. More recently, the design team has adopted a design carbon tracker 

which details and logs the carbon savings during the design stage of a project, capturing any savings 

made through material selection and descoping. This is a good example of cross-organisational learning 

across Milestone. The use of Carbon Assessments on projects is expected to increase through 2022/23 

with the potential to highlight other opportunities to reduce carbon.   

Building upon the successes of the Carbon Action Plan, a Peterborough Highways Environment Plan 

has been created and is expected to be released shortly. This set out key focus areas for the contract 

during 2022/23 including the desire to work towards PAS2080 ‘Carbon Management in Infrastructure’ 

accreditation.  

Good progress has also been made with Biodiversity Net Gain, thanks to the support of Milestone’s 

Environment Team. The team has undertaken initial Biodiversity Net Gain Assessments on several 

projects, including A1260/A47 Junction 15, A1139/A1260 Junction 3, A16 Norwood, River Nene 

Footbridge and Storey’s Bar Road (Fengate). This will continue in 2022/23, with the ecology and design 

teams working closely with PCC and Aragon to identify areas for habitat enhancement and tree planting 

along with providing wider environmental support for projects and schemes.  

Other examples of good practice include: 

• Orton Mere Cycleway – As noted earlier, this scheme saved approximately 150 tonnes of 

carbon through the careful choice of materials and virtually no waste being generated from site. 

The new surface was created using a material formed from recycled tyres and nearly 200 

tonnes of aggregated imported was from a recycled source.  Excavated soil was also used on 

site to reprofile adjacent areas.  

• French Drove – Working with specialist supply chain, Milestone identified that the French 

Drove site was suitable for deep in situ recycling. 6,000m2 of carriageway was pulverised in situ 

using specialist equipment with the resulting material mixed with a cementitious power to create 

a Hydraulically Bound Material layer, before receiving a new surface course. This method 

generates no waste from site and requires a greatly reduced volume of imported material, 

delivering significant cost and carbon savings when compared to traditional road construction.  

80



   

 
 
 

37 
 

 

• A1260/A47 Junction 15 – Significant effort was made to mitigate the environmental impact of 

the scheme. This included achieving a biodiversity net gain through additional soft landscaping 

and tree planting.  The site also has nationally significant rock formations which will be exposed 

as part of the works. The overall approach to environmental mitigation was praised by the 

CPCA who commented that this would set the benchmark for other work in the region.   

Customer Feedback  

Customer Feedback Surveys 

The performance of PHS is also measured through a series of feedback surveys which contribute 

towards two KPI’s – CS3 and CS4. These are typically undertaken on selected schemes with the 

following groups: 

• Council Members – Feedback cards are left with local Members following the completion of 

schemes. These cards provide Members with the opportunity to comment on all aspects of the 

scheme, including the standard of the work, the safety of the site and the way in which the staff 

conducted themselves. 

• Members of the Public – As for Council Members, feedback cards are left with local residents 

following the completion of schemes.  

Due to the COVID-19 restrictions it was agreed that these feedback surveys would not be undertaken. 

It is expected that these surveys will recommence in 2022/23. 

Compliments & Complaints  

Compliments and complaints from the public are raised either through the Customer Contact Centre or 

directly with staff. These are logged, actioned, and subsequently reported at the PHOT.  This data 

contributes directly to the KPI CS5, please see Appendix B for more information.  

Unfortunately, the highway service received a significant increase in the number of complaints in 

December 2021 as concurrent roadworks on the A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway, A15 London Road and 

the A47 caused significant congestion across the City. A key factor in this issue was the delay to works 

on the A1139 due to safety concerns over a temporary works proposal. This incident also prompted the 

Streetworks review described earlier in this report.  

The National Highways & Transport surveys 

The National Highways and Transport (NHT) annual survey captures public satisfaction on services 

delivered by local authorities. The Council has participated in the survey every year from 2015, and it 

is the intention of the Council to continue to do these surveys annually. 

81



   

 
 
 

38 
 

 

Data released in 2021 showed that Peterborough was ranked 39th out of 111 participating local 

authorities for overall satisfaction. However, Peterborough was ranked first amongst the 11 local 

authorities in the eastern region, a position it has retained for the past five years. Key findings from the 

survey are provided below.  

• Peterborough achieved a 50% satisfaction score, 2% above the national average and 6% below 

the highest scoring local authority.  

• Of the 27 Key Benchmark Indicators Peterborough were above the national average in 66% 

instances (18 out of 27). 

• Comparing Peterborough's results with national averages, 106 indicators are on or above the 

national average and 55 indicators are below average. 

• Indicator scores ranged from a high of 82% for ‘Provision of Bus Stops (PTQ108)', to a low of 

26% for 'The Council’s Actions on Climate Change (CMQ120)'. 

• The best ranking indicators for Peterborough against all other highway authorities taking part 

in the survey include the availability / reliability of taxi / mini cab services (KB109 / PTBI21/22), 

the advanced warning of planned roadworks (TCB101), as well as communication in relation to 

speed and quality in response to enquiries (KQ101 / CMQ103). 

• The worst ranking indicators for Peterborough against all other highway authorities taking part 

in the survey include the direction signposts for pedestrians (WCBI04), tackling illegal on-street 

parking (TCBI11), provision of safe crossing points (WCBI105) and drop kerb crossing points 

(WCBI106). 

Road Condition Survey 

Each year the Department for Transport (DfT) asks highway authorities to provide data on the condition 

of their road network. This national benchmarking exercise was last carried out using 2020 data and a 

summary is included in the table below. This demonstrates that during the timeframe of this report our 

A, B and C roads continue to be in a good condition in comparison with other authorities. Our 

Unclassified network is showing deterioration which may need future capital investment to reverse. 

Classification Peterborough 
(%) 

Cambs (%) Lincs (%) Northants 
(%) 

Regional 
Average (%) 

National 
Average (%) 

A-class 1 3 2 3 3 4 

B & C class 5 7 6 11 5 7 

Unclassified 23 33 28 16 21 17 

In the absence of new national benchmarking data, the table below compares Peterborough’s 2021 

road condition indicators with the 2020 figures. This indicates that the condition of unclassified roads 

has deteriorated further with interventions continuing to be prioritised on roads most in need of 

intervention. It should be noted that some Local Authorities have started to use other technology-based 

survey tools (such as Gaist or Vaisala) to report condition data meaning that it currently difficult to 

82



   

 
 
 

39 
 

 

compare data. The Department for Transport is carrying out a review of this with the intention to 

standardise the data collection within the next couple of years.  

Data Set Roads classified ‘red’ (roads where maintenance should 

be considered)  

A Roads (%) B & C Roads (%) Unclassified 

Roads (%) 

2020 1 5 23 

2021 1 4 26 

 

Transport Incentive Fund 

DfT has an incentive fund in operation which rewards councils who demonstrate they are delivering 

value for money in the management of their highway network. Councils are banded 1 to 3 based on 

their response to a detailed questionnaire which covers the following five criteria: 

• Asset management 

• Resilience 

• Customer 

• Benchmarking and efficiency 

• Operational delivery 

Those councils which achieve Band 3 receive their full allocation of Incentive Funding. For bands 1 and 

2 this is reduced by 90% and 50%, respectively. For 2021/22, PHS continued to be rated as a Band 3. 

The Performance Management Framework Dashboard forms a key part of the Council’s Incentive Fund 

submission and is included in Appendix C. The Department of Transport has indicated that it is looking 

to revise the incentive fund criteria, but details have yet to be released.  

Repudiation of Claims 

Under the Highways Act, local authorities can be subject to compensation claims from third parties 

where there has been a breach of duty. In most cases this relates to highway defects not being 

inspected or repaired within stated timescales. In 2021/22 the Council achieved a claims repudiation 

rate of 100%, which is an exceptional performance for a highway authority. (This does not include any 

claims dealt with directly by Skanska or Milestone.) This was in no small part due to the strong 

operational performance of the service in responding to defects and the performance of the highway 

inspectors who typically achieve close to a 100% inspection rate on time. This provides the Council with 

a robust defence under Section 58 of the Highways Act.  

Road Condition Survey Data Summary 

83



   

 
 
 

40 
 

 

Good News Stories 

PHS Contract Extension  

In April 2021, formal agreement was reached to extend the PHS contract by five years. Central to 

reaching this agreement was high levels of service performance over many years and the strong, 

collaboration relationship that has been developed. This has taken the contract completion date to the 

30th September 2028.  Discussions have and will continue to take place to evolve the service to meet 

the needs of the Council with particular emphasis on environmental initiatives and new commercial 

arrangements for Major Projects. 

A performance Report was prepared which summarised the key successes of the service since the 

commencement of the partnership in 2013. This included performance data up to including 2020/21 

(and not the 2021/22 period of this report.) Some of the highlights included:  

• Achieving an annual performance score of greater that 99% for the past five years.  

• Over 1.3m man-hours without a Lost Time Injury.  

• 43% reduction in carbon against a 2015 baseline.  

• £7.69m of efficiencies (both cashable savings and cost avoidance).  

• Secured over £27m of additional funding for PCC.  

• Positive industry benchmarks for network condition and NHT survey results.  

• Various industry awards. 

Growth Works Support  

Milestone has continued to support schools across the City, by providing volunteers for events such as 

mock interviews and career fairs. Over the last year the previously known ‘Skills Service’ has transferred 

to ‘The Growth Works’, with Business and Education Manager Debbie Longhurst remaining as the key 

contact between organisations. School events re-commenced (most virtually) in late October 2021 

following the relaxation of COVID-19 rules.  As of March 2022, 59 hours of volunteering have been 

undertaken interfacing with over 300 students. This included facilitating activities / events at the Jack 

Hunt, Ken Stimson, and Arthur Mellows Secondary Schools. A further 60 hours of volunteering have 

also been committed for the period of April to June 2022.  

84



   

 
 
 

41 
 

 

PECT Junior Forester Awards 

In October 2021 Milestone was invited to be a part of the PECT Junior Forester Award programme with 

Milestone’s Senior Environmental Advisor, Henry Fenn, supporting students over a six-week period.   

The programme included a small group of students from the Thomas Deacon Academy, who had been 

struggling to settle into secondary school life and needed extra support. The students attended the 

same area of woodland each week to learn and understand why woodlands and forests are important 

to us and our environment. They also learnt about habitats, woodland management and care, mini-

beast identification, tree identification and the risks and hazards that woodlands face. PECT also built 

time into the programme for the students to learn about themselves, helping them to improve self-belief, 

confidence, self-esteem, interpersonal and communication skills, and team working.  

On completion of the programme students 

used their knowledge to provide a tour for 

sponsors and attended an Eco Awards 

ceremony on the 26th May 2022. Milestone 

Infrastructure were the main sponsor, 

supported by a number of its supply chain 

(Aggregate Industries, GAP Hire, Keyline, 

Emneth Construction, Avanti, and PGR 

Construction). Councillor Peter Hiller and two 

of PHS’s Environment Team, Henry Fenn, 

and Jackson Smith, attended the event and 

helped present the awards to students. Henry 

Fenn commented ‘‘The work that PECT do for 

the Junior Foresters is inspiring. It was fantastic to see all of the Junior Foresters take interest in the 

natural environment and utilise their skills developed on the course to everyday situations. All the 

students should be very proud of themselves”.  

Green Level Accreditation  

PHS has also re-secured its Green Level accreditation for 2021 with 

Investors in the Environment (IiE). This is a national environmental 

accreditation scheme and the ‘green award’, the highest grade of 

accreditation, reflects the commitment of the PHS contract in minimising 

environmental impact and helping to set the standard for the 

environment. 

Highlights from the contract which contributed to the highest level of 

accreditation include a 21% annual reduction in the use of electricity at its depot, a 14% reduction in 

the use of diesel in its plant vehicles and an 16% annual reduction in carbon dioxide emissions – 

85



   

 
 
 

42 
 

 

resulting in an overall reduction in its carbon footprint of 40% against a 2015 baseline. (Again, this 

related to data up to and including 2020/21.) 

Councillor Nigel Simons, Cabinet Member for Waste, Street Scene, and the Environment for PCC, said: 

“Milestone’s accreditation reinforces the council’s commitment to improving the environment for all 

residents, creating the UK’s Environment Capital and is a further step towards making Peterborough 

net-zero carbon by 2030.”  

Milestone’s Contract Manager, Keith McWilliams, commented: “We are delighted to achieve the ‘Green 

Level’ accreditation which recognises our commitment to the environment. There is still much work to 

do but we are looking forward to working with PCC to deliver its 2030 net carbon zero ambitions and 

embed further environmental best practice into the highway service.” 

Introduction of HVO Fuel  

In December 2021 a HVO fuel tank 

was installed at the PHS depot, and 

as of January 2022 PHS has 

migrated its fleet to HVO fuel, 

delivering a 90% carbon savings 

when compared to diesel.  

It is anticipated that the transition to 

HVO fuel will save around 170 

tonnes of CO2 emissions a year, 

reduce polluting Nitrogen Oxide 

gases by 30% and Particulate Matter 

by 86%. This is a key step in 

supporting the Council’s goal of 

becoming Net Zero Carbon by 2030. 

Councillor Peter Hiller a PCC cabinet member for Strategic Planning and Commercial Strategy and 

Investments, said: “We’re delighted Milestone has made the decision to convert to HVO which is now 

being used in all highway vehicles operating across our city. While we cannot cut back on essential 

repairs and activities, this will greatly reduce the amount of polluting material being put into the 

environment which is something we can all welcome.”  

Councillor Nigel Simons, cabinet member for Waste, Street Scene, and the Environment, said: “By 

swapping white diesel for HVO will help the council reach its net zero carbon target of 2030 and improve 

air quality throughout Peterborough. This is an excellent example of how becoming greener need not 

impact budgets”.  

  

86



   

 
 
 

43 
 

 

Nene Bridge 

The improvements to the Nene Bridge Bearings has featured positively within the local press. This 

project overcame a number of complex engineering challenges throughout its delivery and has 

developed a strengthening solution that is sympathetic to the original award-winning design.  

Councillor Peter Hiller said “The replacement of the bearings at Nene Bridge has been a lengthy but 

necessary piece of work, which will save us money in the long-term. The Expertise needed to complete 

the job has been quite stunning to observe, and I would like to thank all of those involved for their tireless 

efforts”. This project has showcased the good work being undertaken in Peterborough having previously 

secured or been shortlisted for a number of awards and been featured with a major industry publication. 

Unsung Heroes  

Our frontline workforce also continues to perform admirably in what can sometimes be difficult 

circumstances. They are often the most visible parts of our highway service and provide a direct 

interface with the public. On Christmas Day our street lighting operative, Terry Stephens, spent much 

of the day responding to an emergency, helping contribute to a safe network. 

In January, two of our highway operatives, Louis Hemus and William Knight, were on their way home 

when they spotted a darkly dressed member of the public walking around an unpedestrianised 

roundabout. Concerned for the welfare of this individual, they reported the incident to the police and 

then drove back to locate the individual at bus stop close to the original sighting. The member of the 

public was clearly distressed and reported that he was suffering from mental health issues. Louis and 

Will reassured the individual and offered their support, subsequently seeking assistance from the 

nearby police station. This is a heart-warming example of where members of our team have shown 

care and compassion for others. It is often forgotten that we are part of the community in which we 

work, and we should be really proud of how Louis and Will have acted in this situation. 

In addition, it is worth noting how well the team responded to the flood events in the summer of 2020. 

The Highway Inspection Team Manager, Lee Moore, was the on-call duty officer on both occasions and 

collaborated well with the call out crew and members of the public to provide knowledge and support to 

all involved. Thanks also goes to PCC’s Senior Drainage Engineer, Craig Campbell, whose local 

knowledge was vital to the team’s response. 

 

87



Appendix A 

88



  

v1.0

Domain Scorecard KPI ref. KPI description
Scorecard 

weighting

KPI

weighting

Scorecard

 totals

OP1
Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme
95% year 10%

OP12 Number of schemes completed against programme 95% year 5%

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme 95%
Financial 

year
5%

OP2
Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to 

within agreed timescales
100% month 15%

OP3 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% month 15%

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% month 15%

OP4 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescales
95% month 10%

OP4 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
95% month 10%

OP5
Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs 

completed within the agreed timescale
98% month 10%

OP10 Percentage of work passing inspection 95% month 5%

OP6 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 0%

OP7 Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 0%

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported 0%

OP9 Number of Service Strikes 0%

CS3
Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)
0%

CS4 [b] & [c] Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public 85% month 0%

CS5
Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received

Positive 

score

rolling 12 

months
100%

CF1
Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period
0%

CF3
Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover 

(in current Financial Year)
0%

CF5 Value from other revenue streams 0%

Carbon AV1
Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy and 

fuel use in buildings and vehicles against target
35%

reduction 

by 2022/23
40.8%

Water AV2
Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 

rainwater harvesting system
3.0%

reduction 

in 2021/22
15.8%

Waste AV3
Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total 

waste produced over a rolling twelve month period
95%

rolling 12 

months
15.8%

Procurement AV4
Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP 

area
80%

Financial 

year
10.8%

Suppliers AV5
Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within 

the LEP area
50%

Financial 

year
10.8%

Sustainable 

transport
AV6

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through 

application of transport hierarchy
TBA 0%

Economy & CSR AV7
Support development of local skills provision directly and 

indirectly (supply chain)

125 

hours

Financial 

year
5.8%

2021/22 total score 97.24%

Version No. Measure

DRAFT All

1.0 -

 Added Value Scorecard total and 2021/22 total score updated to reflect

 changes to measures as detailed above.

04/07/2022
 Formal issue further to agreement of DRAFT KPI Scorecard at PHOT

 28 June 2022.

Peterborough Highway Services
KPI Scorecard

 Financial Year: 2021/22

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

 Details of issue/change

 Draft issue 18 May 2022

Scorecard

Target

Programme 

Delivery

Operational 

Delivery

Health and

Safety

Report only

Report only

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

a
n
d
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l

Commercial & 

Financial

Report only

71.21%

5.82%

0.00%

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

0%

(report only)

20%

Customer

Service

20.21%

Report only

Report only

Report only

70%

10%

Report only

Report only

 Further draft issue 24 June 2022.

Date

18/05/2022

24/06/2022

A
d
d
e
d
 V

a
lu

e

Issue/change log

 AV7: Final score recalculated further to adjustment of KPI Target for

 FY 2021/22.

 AV4 and AV5: Values finalised further to completion of annual review

 and reconciliation of data.

AV4, AV5 and AV7DRAFT

PHS 2021-22 KPI Scorecard v1.0

Page 1 of 2

89



  

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22
Average or 

final score

Target 

multiplier

Multiplied 

score

Scorecard 

weighting

KPI 

weighting

Overall 

weighting
KPI score

Scorecard

totals

OP1
Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme
95% year 0/0 1/1 1/1 3/2 3/2 4/3 5/7 5/7 5/7 5/7 5/7 11/11 100.00% 105.26% 105.26% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.37%

OP12 Number of schemes completed against programme 95% year 1/1 1/1 1/1 3/3 7/7 9/7 12/12 16/16 18/18 20/20 22/20 28/22 100.00% 105.26% 105.26% 70% 5% 3.50% 3.68%

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme 95%
Financial 

year
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95.8% 96.4% 96.7% 97.1% 97.4% 97.6% 98.0% 97.96% 105.26% 103.11% 70% 5% 3.50% 3.61%

OP2
Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to 

within agreed timescales
100% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98.1% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98.5%

As agreed by PHOT in July 2020, in month performance figures 

representative of relaxed response time/s set out in Service Manager's 

Instruction, number SMI 001, first issued 30/03/2020 in response to 

COVID-19.

99.72% 100.00% 99.72% 70% 15% 10.50% 10.47%

OP3 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescale
100% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 75.0% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

As agreed by PHOT in July 2020, in month performance figures 

representative of relaxed response time/s set out in Service Manager's 

Instruction, number SMI 001, first issued 30/03/2020 in response to 

COVID-19.

97.92% 100.00% 97.92% 70% 15% 10.50% 10.28%

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 70% 15% 10.50% 10.50%

OP4 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescales
95% month 95.7% 98.1% 96.6% 98.3% 98.7% 96.3% 96.9% 95.8% 96.1% 95.7% 98.0% 98.9%

As agreed by PHOT in July 2020, in month performance figures 

representative of relaxed response time/s set out in Service Manager's 

Instruction, number SMI 001, first issued 30/03/2020 in response to 

COVID-19.

97.09% 105.26% 102.20% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.15%

OP4 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
95% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 97.8% 100% 100.0% 100% 100% 98.4% 99.69% 105.26% 104.94% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.35%

OP5
Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs 

completed within the agreed timescale
98% month 100% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A No runs 100% 100% 98.8% 100% 100% 99.80% 102.04% 101.84% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.13%

OP10 Percentage of work passing inspection 95% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99.2% 100% 96.7% No data 100% 99.55% 105.26% 104.79% 70% 5% 3.50% 3.67%

OP6 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.63 3.73 3.86 3.92 7.86 70% 0% 0.00%

OP7 Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.63 3.73 3.86 3.92 3.93 70% 0% 0.00%

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported 2 2 0 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 1 70% 0% 0.00%

OP9 Number of Service Strikes 0 1 1 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 2 0 70% 0% 0.00% 71.21%

CS3
Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10% 0% 0.00%

CS4 [a] Satisfaction scores for [a] Client year N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 10% 0% 0.00%

CS4 [b] & [c] Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public 85% month Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns No data available for FY 2021/22. 10% 0% 0.00%

CS5
Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received

Positive 

score

rolling 12 

months
-1 2 0 -3 -2 0 -3 -3 -13 0 0 0

KPI weighting combined (100%) as no scores for CS4 [a], [b] and [c]; 

approved by PHOT June 2022.

Between April 2021 and March 2022, a total of 16 No. commendations and 

39 No. complaints were received resulting in a -23 score during this period.

58.17% 100.00% 58.17% 10% 100% 10.00% 5.82% 5.82%

CF1
Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period
93.8% 88.0% 100% 94.1% 100% 96.4% 95.5% 96.6% 96.4% 67.1% 100% 100% 0% 0% 0.00%

CF3
Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover (in 

current Financial Year)
14.6% 7.8% 7.8% 6.8% 5.5% 5.7% 5.1% 4.4% 4.7% 4.7% 4.5% 4.9% 0% 0% 0.00%

CF5 Value from other revenue streams £61,817 £3,225 £23,894 £21,205 -£3,683 £19,947 £38,508 £25,806 £18,487 £52,514 £29,220 £49,039 0% 0% 0.00% 0.00%

Carbon AV1
Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy and 

fuel use in buildings and vehicles against target
35%

reduction 

by 

2022/23

87.6% 53.9% 47.2% 43.9% 36.7% 34.3% 34.3% 32.3% 33.0% 34.2% 34.3%
32.0% of 

target
Counted as pass (100%). 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 20% 40.8% 8.17% 8.17%

Water AV2
Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 

rainwater harvesting system
3.0%

reduction 

in 2021/22
0% 1.5% 7.5% 18.3% 28.2% 32.0% 34.8% 44.7% 46.3% 57.31% 63.5%

66.3% of 

target
66.30% 100.00% 66.30% 20% 15.8% 3.17% 2.10%

Waste AV3
Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total 

waste produced over a rolling twelve month period
95%

rolling 12 

months
100% 97.9% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99.83% 105.26% 105.08% 20% 15.8% 3.17% 3.33%

Procurement AV4
Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP 

area
80%

Financial 

year
95.9% 94.8% 94.1% 93.1% 93.3% 92.2% 92.1% 91.9% 91.6% 91.4% 91.0% 92.7% Finalised values for FY 2021/22 92.72% 125.00% 115.90% 20% 10.8% 2.17% 3.33%

Suppliers AV5
Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within 

the LEP area
50%

Financial 

year
48.7% 59.7% 58.1% 58.3% 61.3% 60.5% 61.2% 62.0% 63.5% 62.9% 62.6% 63.2% Finalised values for FY 2021/22 63.18% 200.00% 126.36% 20% 10.8% 2.17% 2.74%

Sustainable 

transport
AV6

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through application 

of transport hierarchy
TBA TBA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Measure under review by KPI Performance Group. KPI weighting (5%) 

equally distributed amongst remaining Added Value measures.
20% 0% 0.00%

Economy & CSR AV7
Support development of local skills provision directly and 

indirectly (supply chain)

125 

hours

Financial 

year
0 0 0 0 0 0 2 12 18 30 38 59

As agreed by KPI Performance Group in June 2022, final score for FY 

2021/22 (47.20%) based on the 6 month period where data is available. 

Target adjusted accordingly.

47.20% 100.00% 47.20% 20% 5.8% 1.17% 0.55% 20.21%

2021/22 total score 97.24%

A
d
d
e
d
 V

a
lu

e

Report only

Report only

Report only

Report only

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

a
n
d
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l

Commercial & 

Financial

Customer

Service

Report only

Report only

Report only

Peterborough Highway Services
KPI Scorecard: Data Sheet

 Financial Year: 2021/22 Scorecard calculations

Target

Report only

Notes

2021/22 performance

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

Programme 

Delivery

Operational 

Delivery

Health and

Safety

PHS 2021-22 KPI Scorecard v1.0

Page 2 of 2

90



Appendix B 

91



5/7 5/7 11/11

20/20 22/20 28/22

97% 98% 98%

G G G

100% 100% 100%

G G G

100% 100% 100%

G G G

100% 100% 100%

G G G

96% 98% 99%

G G G

100% 100% 98%

G G G

99% 100% 100%

G G G

97% No data 100%

G ND G

3.86 3.92 7.86

3.86 3.92 3.93

0 2 1

0 2 0

0 0 0

Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns

G G G

0 0 0

R R R

67% 100% 100%

4.7% 4.5% 4.9%

£52,514 £29,220 £49,039

34% 34% 32%

57% 64% 66%

100% 100% 100%

G G G

64%
To follow 

next month

To follow 

next month

R ND ND

63% 63%
To follow 

next month

G G ND

NA NA NA

10% 16% 21%

Version No. Measure/s  Details of issue/change

1.0 All  First issue

1.1 OP13, CS3, CS4 [c], CF3, CF5 and AV1  Addition of in month data

CF5

CF3

95%

Percentage of work passing inspection

CF1

All 5 No. precautionary treatments in month were completed within the agreed 

timescale. An additional 3 No. runs were completed by a replacement vehicle 

which was not equipped with a tracking system.

Please note that in month figures are subject to change as confirmation of on site 

data is required for 2 No. emergency work instructions.

CS5

Report only

All 7 No. Street Lighting Cat 1 work instructions in month were completed within 

the agreed timescale.

0%

0%

Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)

Positive 

score

85%

Feb-22

Support development of local skills provision directly and 

indirectly (supply chain)

AV3

250 

hours

CS3

Target

year

Financial 

year
95%

year95%

CS4 [b] & [c]

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
&

 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l

Commercial & 

Financial

C
u

s
to

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

Customer

Service

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

Financial 

year

Report only

month

Programme 

Delivery

Operational 

Delivery

Health and

Safety

TBA % reduction

(from 2019 survey 

results)

50%

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through 

application of transport hierarchy

AV5

AV4

reduction 

by 2022/23
35%

Financial 

year

Date

Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP 

area

Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 

rainwater harvesting system

14/04/2022

A
d

d
e

d
 V

a
lu

e

Carbon

Water

Waste

Procurement

Suppliers

AV6

AV7Economy & CSR

Sustainable 

transport

AV2

AV1
Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy 

and fuel use in buildings and vehicles against target

Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within 

the LEP area

Report only

rolling 12 

months

Report only

Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period

Value from other revenue streams

Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received

80%
Financial 

year

3.0%
reduction 

in 2021/22

100%

Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover 

(in current Financial Year)

rolling 12 

months
95%

Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total 

waste produced over a rolling twelve month period

Number of Near Misses reported

Number of Service Strikes

95%

Report only

Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public

Report only

month

Report only

Report only

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)

Data for February 2022 to follow.

0%

100%

63 of the 64 No. Street Lighting Cat 2 work instructions in month were completed 

within the agreed timescale.-2%

month

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale

Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale

OP3 [a]

Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescales
OP4 [a]

month

95%

98%

100%

month

month

month

All 22 No. Highways Cat 1 work instructions in month were completed within the 

agreed timescale.

1%
560 of the 566 No. Highways Cat 2 work instructions in month were completed 

within the agreed timescales.95% month

0%

OP9

OP4 [b]

OP7

OP5

OP10

Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs 

completed within the agreed timescale

Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale

OP1

OP12

OP2

OP13

Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme

Number of schemes completed against programme

Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme

Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to 

within agreed timescales

OP6

OP8

Peterborough Highway Services
KPI Dashboard

Domain Score card KPI descriptionKPI ref.
Change 

indicator
  NotesMar-22

2021/22

Issue/change log

25/04/2022

Jan-22

rev1.1   Reporting month: March 2022 (published 25/04/2022)

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2022 rev1.1

Page 1 of 5

92



OP1
Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme
95% 0/0 1/1 1/1 3/2 3/2 4/3 5/7 5/7 5/7 5/7 5/7 11/11

OP12 Number of schemes completed against programme 95% 1/1 1/1 1/1 3/3 7/7 9/7 12/12 16/16 18/18 20/20 22/20 28/22

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 96% 96% 97% 97% 97% 98% 98%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of target cost schemes completed in month 4 8 4 3 3 2 4 2 5 3 3 8

Number of target cost schemes completed outside

+/- 10% of original target cost
in month 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of target cost schemes completed cumulative 4 12 16 19 22 24 28 30 35 38 41 49

Number of target cost schemes completed outside

+/- 10% of original target cost
cumulative 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

OP2
Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to 

within agreed timescales
100%

99% 

(100%)
100%

99%

(100%)
100% 98% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G A G G G G G G

Number of emergency work instructions in month 59 69 (69) 74 70 (70) 34 53 54 36 44 40 59 43

Number of emergency work instructions attended to within 

agreed timescales

(Highways - 2 hours/ Street Lighting - 1 hour)

in month 59 68 (69) 74 69 (70) 34 52 54 36 44 40 59 43

Average time to arrive at site in month 49 mins 56 mins 61 mins 65 mins 61 mins 54 mins 62 mins 55 mins 51 mins 52 mins 46 mins TBA

OP3 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescale
100%

96%

(100%)
100% 100%

86% 

(100%)
100% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G G A G G G G G

Number of Highways CAT 1 24 hour work instructions in month 15 23 (23) 25 15 14 (14) 9 8 6 10 14 13 22

Number of Highways CAT 1 24 hour work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale (24 hours)
in month 15 22 (23) 25 15 12 (14) 9 6 6 10 14 13 22

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions

('Urgent' priority code)
in month 2 0 4 9 1 3 5 4 5 3 4 7

Number of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed with agreed timescale (by end of next day)
in month 2 0 4 9 1 3 5 4 5 3 4 7

Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescales

95% 

(96%)

98%

(98%)

96% 

(97%)

98% 

(98%)

98% 

(99%)
96% 97% 96% 96% 96% 98% 99%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of Highways CAT 2 work instructions

(7 day, 14 day, 28 day & 3 month)
in month 675 (675) 525 (525) 474 (474) 516 (516) 473 (473) 383 477 522 383 302 443 566

Number of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescales
in month 642 (646) 513 (515) 454 (458) 506 (507) 462 (467) 369 462 500 368 289 434 560

Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions

('Routine Maintenance' priority code)
77 87 56 60 87 96 93 126 142 86 79 64

Number of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescales (7 days)
77 87 56 60 87 96 91 126 142 86 79 63

OP5
Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs 

completed within the agreed timescale
100% NA NA NA NA NA No runs 100% 100% 99% 100% 100%

G G G G G G G

Number of gritting runs in month 30 NA NA NA NA NA 0 30 25 85 34 5

Number of gritting runs completed within agreed timescale

(3 hours)
in month 30 NA NA NA NA NA 0 30 25 84 34 5

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99% 100% 97% No data 100%

G G G G G G G G G G ND G

Number of orders inspected in month 168 138 210 228 150 240 210 237 228 213 0 231

Passed in month 56 46 70 76 50 80 70 79 76 70 0 77

Failed in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Passed in month 56 46 70 76 50 80 70 78 75 69 0 77

Failed in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0

Passed in month 56 46 70 76 50 79 70 78 76 67 0 77

Failed in month 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 4 0 0

OP6

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)

To measure the number of employee Lost Time Injuries per 

1,000,000 hours worked over a rolling twelve month period

Report only 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.63 3.73 3.86 3.92 7.86

No. of Lost Time Injuries (Milestone Infrastructure) in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

No. of Lost Time Injuries (supply chain) in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

No. of hours worked (Milestone Infrastructure) in month 15340 12285 15011 11815 13521 10594 11574 13721 8811 10452 12051 14358

No. of hours worked (supply chain) in month 8739 6780 9013 10412 9535 10189 9070 10504 5547 5938 7275 11910

OP7

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)

To measure the number of reportable accidents per 

1,000,000 hours worked over a rolling twelve month period

Reportable accidents are those as defined in RIDDOR 

regulations prepared by the HSE 

Report only 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.63 3.73 3.86 3.92 3.93

No. of RIDDOR reportable accidents

(Milestone Infrastructure)
in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

No. of RIDDOR reportable accidents

(supply chain)
in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

No. of hours worked (Milestone Infrastructure) in month 15340 12285 15011 11815 13521 10594 11574 13721 8811 10452 12051 14358

No. of hours worked (supply chain) in month 8739 6780 9013 10412 9535 10189 9070 10504 5547 5938 7275 11910

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported Report only 2 2 0 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 1

OP9 Number of Service Strikes Report only 0 1 1 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 2 0

Dec-21Jul-21Jun-21May-21Apr-21 Nov-21Oct-21Sep-21Aug-21

95%

Target

95%

Operational 

Delivery

100%

100%

95%

OP10

100%

95%

98%

OP4 [a]

Percentage of work passing inspection

in month

Work as ordered

in month

Peterborough Highway Services
Operations Data Sheet

  Measures OP1 to OP13

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description Mar-22

2021/22

Feb-22Jan-22

O
p
e
ra

ti
o

n
s

OP4 [b]

Quality of work

Health and

Safety

Programme 

Delivery

Site cleanliness

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2022 rev1.1

Page 2 of 5

93



CS3
Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)
Report only 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS4 [a]
Satisfaction scores for:

Client
NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of excellent responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of good responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of satisfactory responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of poor responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of very poor responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS5
Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received
-1 2 0 -3 -2 0 -3 -3 -13 0 0 0

G G G G G G G A R R R R

Number of commendations received in month 0 4 1 1 1 2 0 1 1 1 2 2

Number of complaints received in month 1 2 1 4 3 2 3 4 14 1 2 2

Dec-21Jul-21Jun-21May-21Apr-21 Nov-21Oct-21

C
u

s
to

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

Positive 

score

Target

Customer

Service

CS4 [b] & [c] Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public

Domain Score card KPI ref.

85%

KPI description

Peterborough Highway Services
Customer Service Data Sheet

  Measures CS1 to CS5

Mar-22

2021/22

Feb-22Jan-22Sep-21Aug-21

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2022 rev1.1

Page 3 of 5

94



CF1
Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period
94% 88% 100% 94% 100% 96% 96% 97% 96% 67% 100% 100%

Number of payment applications 162 234 221 204 207 221 247 261 274 258 257 325

Number of approved applications 152 206 230 192 216 213 236 252 264 173 263 335

CF3
Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover 

(in current Financial Year)
14.6% 7.8% 7.8% 6.8% 5.5% 5.7% 5.1% 4.4% 4.7% 4.7% 4.5% 4.9%

Turnover £1,319,494 £1,615,514 £1,675,387 £1,330,624 £2,089,379 £1,698,930 £2,060,689 £2,957,002 £1,666,642 £1,201,817 £1,471,987 £2,876,642

Efficiencies £192,539 £36,845 £129,884 £47,555 £37,816 £105,264 £49,779 £49,818 £125,150 £47,309 £35,795 £227,312

Turnover £1,319,494 £2,935,008 £4,610,396 £5,941,020 £8,030,399 £9,729,329 £11,790,018 £14,747,020 £16,413,662 £17,615,480 £19,087,467 £21,964,108

Efficiencies £192,539 £229,383 £359,267 £406,822 £444,638 £549,902 £599,681 £649,500 £774,650 £821,958 £857,753 £1,085,065

CF5 Value from other revenue streams £61,817 £3,225 £23,894 £21,205 -£3,683 £19,947 £38,508 £25,806 £18,487 £52,514 £29,220 £49,039

Green Claims £59,709 £0 £23,894 £17,859 -£637 £15,471 £38,508 £15,584 £18,487 £52,514 £22,869 £42,646

Third parties £2,107 £3,225 £0 £3,346 -£3,046 £4,475 £0 £10,222 £0 £0 £6,352 £6,393

Dec-21Jul-21Jun-21May-21Apr-21 Nov-21Oct-21Sep-21Aug-21

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
&

 F
in

a
n
c
ia

l

Commercial & 

Financial

Score card KPI ref. KPI descriptionDomain

in month

in month

cumulative

cumulative

in month

in month

in month

Report only

Report only

Target

Report only

in month

Peterborough Highway Services
Commercial and Financial Data Sheet

  Measures CF1, CF3 & CF5

Feb-22Jan-22 Mar-22

2021/22

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2022 rev1.1

Page 4 of 5

95



88% 54% 47% 44% 37% 34% 34% 32% 33% 34% 34% 32%

Tonnes of Carbon emitted 25.54 9.42 13.11 9.56 7.47 8.56 15.75 15.78 14.46 13.43 11.81 10.42

Tonnes of Carbon emitted 25.54 34.96 48.07 57.63 65.10 73.66 89.41 105.19 119.65 133.08 144.89 155.31

Contract spend £1,319,494 £1,615,514 £1,675,387 £1,330,624 £2,089,379 £1,698,930 £2,060,689 £2,957,002 £1,666,642 £1,201,817 £1,471,987 £2,876,642

Contract spend £1,319,494 £2,935,008 £4,610,396 £5,941,020 £8,030,399 £9,729,329 £11,790,018 £14,747,020 £16,413,662 £17,615,480 £19,087,467 £21,964,108

Tonnes of Carbon emitted per £100,000 contract spend 1.94 1.19 1.04 0.97 0.81 0.76 0.76 0.71 0.73 0.76 0.76 0.71

Target 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21 2.21

Water 0% 2% 7% 18% 28% 32% 35% 45% 46% 57% 64% 66%

Litres of Water collected from rainwater harvesting 

system
0 365 1,425 2,602 2,362 913 680 2,375 374 2,646 1,490 663

Litres of Water collected from rainwater harvesting 

system
0 365 1,790 4,392 6,754 7,667 8,347 10,722 11,096 13,742 15,232 15,895

Target 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979

AV3 100% 98% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Waste produced 420.00 485.60 330.56 200.00 551.54 466.24 220.00 340.00 267.58 280.00 342.22 414.62

Waste diverted from Landfill 420.00 475.60 330.56 200.00 551.54 466.24 220.00 340.00 267.58 280.00 342.22 414.62

50% 55% 58% 65% 70% 70% 69% 69% 64% 64%
To follow 

next month

To follow 

next month
A R R R R R R R R R ND ND

LEP spend £62,626 £34,130 £30,823 £71,749 £111,696 £44,983 £24,835 £32,619 £29,625 £33,367

Total spend £126,458 £50,539 £43,544 £85,900 £136,115 £69,375 £43,419 £45,558 £91,369 £53,475

LEP spend £62,626 £96,755 £127,579 £199,327 £311,023 £356,006 £380,841 £413,460 £443,085 £476,452 £476,452 £476,452

Total spend £126,458 £176,998 £220,542 £306,441 £442,557 £511,932 £555,351 £600,909 £692,278 £745,753 £745,753 £745,753

49% 60% 58% 58% 61% 60% 61% 62% 63% 63% 63%
To follow 

next month
A G G G G G G G G G G ND

SME spend £1,172,550 £1,203,915 £841,724 £610,019 £706,373 £781,904 £599,755 £957,841 £1,271,878 £674,891 £266,063

Total spend £2,406,535 £1,576,026 £1,558,869 £1,022,931 £832,397 £1,394,508 £868,170 £1,422,591 £1,753,296 £1,186,980 £485,284

SME spend £1,172,550 £2,376,465 £3,218,189 £3,828,209 £4,534,581 £5,316,486 £5,916,241 £6,874,082 £8,145,960 £8,820,852 £9,086,914 £9,086,914

Total spend £2,406,535 £3,982,560 £5,541,429 £6,564,360 £7,396,757 £8,791,265 £9,659,435 £11,082,026 £12,835,323 £14,022,303 £14,507,587 £14,507,587

NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Percentage of PHS respondents from the annual Travelchoice 

council staff survey who have indicated that they travel to and from 

their place of work by car (with no passengers)

NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 2% 5% 10% 10% 16% 21%

Hours volunteered

(Skanska and Supply Chain employees)
2 0 1.5 0 0 0 2 6 13 0 15 14

Hours volunteered

(Skanska and Supply Chain employees)
2 2 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 5.5 11.5 24.5 24.5 39.5 53.5

Dec-21Jul-21Jun-21May-21Apr-21

cumulative

cumulative

in month

Financial 

year

in month

(from 2019 survey 

results)

TBA % reduction

reduction 

by 2022/23

Target

in month

Financial year

cumulative

3.0%

A
d
d
e
d
 V

a
lu

e

AV5
Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within 

the LEP area

Waste

AV4
Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP 

area

cumulative

Suppliers

rolling 12 

months
95%

Procurement

cumulative

in month

in month

AV7

AV6

Financial 

year

cumulative

250 

hours

Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total 

waste produced over a rolling twelve month period

Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of 

a rainwater harvesting system

cumulative

Carbon

AV1

Support development of local skills provision directly and 

indirectly (supply chain)

Sustainable 

transport

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through 

application of transport hierarchy

Economy & CSR

Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy 

and fuel use in buildings and vehicles against target

AV2

in month

50%

in month

80%

in month

cumulative

Financial year

in month

Financial 

year

in month

in month

reduction in 

2020/21

35%

Peterborough Highway Services
Added Value Data Sheet

  Measures AV1 to AV7

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description Mar-22

2021/22

Feb-22Jan-22Nov-21Oct-21Sep-21Aug-21

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2022 rev1.1

Page 5 of 5

96



Appendix C 

97



Carbon emissions from 

maintenance activities
SU1 Tonnes of Carbon emitted for every £100,000 spent Quarterly

<= annual 

KPI 

reduction

1.28

(2.35)

1.04

(2.21)

0.50

(2.21)

0.69

(2.21)

Street Lighting energy 

consumption
SU2

Amount of electricity consumed across the City for the lighting 

asset (incl. lit signs and bollards). (Avg Kwh per light per month)
Quarterly

<= average 

usage from 

qtr for prev 

year

10.73

(15.78)

7.24

(9.02)

8.49

(6.40)

15.18

(12.62)

0

(10.86)

Congestion SU3
Average delay on locally managed 'A' roads (DfT measure 

CGN0502b) spvpm (seconds per vehicle per mile)
Annually 24 spvpm 17.7

SU4a Public Transport - Public satisfaction (%) of local bus services Annually

>= 

national 

average

60% 

(57%)

54% 

(55%)

SU4b Walking - Public satisfaction (%) of pavements and footpaths Annually

>= 

national 

average

60% 

(55%)

54% 

(52%)

SU4c Cycling - Public satisfaction (%) of cycle routes and facilities Annually

>= 

national 

average

59% 

(49%)

56% 

(50%)

BSCI Score SE1 Annual Average Bridge Stock Condition Indicator.
Bi-

annually
>= 70.00 83.15

% of A Road Network That 

is Red
SE2

% of A Road Network from the scanner data marked red, that 

should have been considered for maintenance
Annually

<= 

national 

average

1%

(4%)

% of B & C Road Network 

That is Red
SE3

% of B & C Road Network from the scanner data marked red, 

that should have been considered for maintenance
Annually

<= 

national 

average

5%

(7%)

% of Unclassified Road 

Network That is Red
SE4

% of Unclassified Road Network from the scanner data 

marked red, that should have been considered for maintenance
Annually

<= 

national 

average

23%

(17%)

Emergency response on

the Network
SA1

Percentage of emergencies responded to within agreed 

timescales.
Quarterly 100%

98.0%

(100%)

99.5% 

(100%)

98.7% 

(99.4%)
100%

Urgent Defect repair on the 

Network
SA2

Percentage of Highways CAT 1 defects completed within 

agreed timescales
Quarterly 100%

95.9% 

(100%)

98.4% 

(100%)

94.7% 

(100%)
91.7%

Defect repair on

the Network
SA3

Percentage of Highways CAT 2 defects completed within 

agreed timescales.
Quarterly 95%

92.7% 

(95.2%)

96.1% 

(96.7%)

97.4% 

(97.9%)
96.2%

Delivery of planned safety 

inspections
SA4 Percentage of safety inspections delivered to programme. Quarterly 100% 99.6% 100% 97% 100%

Accident statistics SA5 Annual KSI (Killed or Seriously Injured) figure. Annually n/a
K-6

SI-77

Highways Claims Defended SA6 Percentage of Highway Claims Defended Annually n/a 98% 100%

Highways Claims Payments 

Made
SA7 Total Amount Paid Out for Highway Claims Annually n/a £28 £0

Customer Feedback

Cards
SH1 Positive feedback from members of the public. Quarterly 85%

Nil

returns

Nil 

returns

Nil 

returns

Nil 

returns

SH2 Overall results for Theme #03: Walking/ Cycling. Annually

>= 

national 

average

58%

(52%)

54%

(52%)

SH3 Overall results for Theme #04: Tackling Congestion. Annually

>= 

national 

average

51%

(46%)

48%

(43%)

SH4 Overall results for Theme #05: Road Safety. Annually

>= 

national 

average

59%

(53%)

52%

(52%)

SH5
Overall results for Theme #06: Highway Maintenance/ 

Enforcement.
Annually

>= 

national 

average

55%

(49%)

46%

(45%)

Version No. Measure  Details of issue/change

1.0 All  First issue

  Quarter 1 2021/22 (published 20/08/2021)

Previous year is 2019/20, Qtr 1 is 2020/21

Feedback cards haven't been given out during Covid-19, now 

restarted

Available/ 

reported
TargetMeasureKey area DescriptionRef. Q or Yr

Data from Annual NHT public satisfaction survey KBI 11

Value in Green represents national average.

Peterborough Highway Services

Asset Management Performance Management Framework - Dashboard

20/08/2021

Previous 2021/22

Q2Q1

v1.0

S
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty

Travel choice

S
e
rv

ic
e
a
b
ili

ty
S

a
fe

ty
S

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

NHT Survey

Value in Green represents national average. Added December 

2021

Value in Green represents national average. Added December 

2021

Value in brackets represents alternative performance score which 

takes into consideration relaxation of response times as a result of 

COVID-19 (SMI 30/03/2020, updated 07/05/2020).

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Previous year is 2019/20, Qtr 1 is 2020/21

Date

Value in brackets represents alternative performance score which 

takes into consideration relaxation of response times as a result of 

COVID-19 (SMI 30/03/2020, updated 07/05/2020).

Value in brackets represents alternative performance score which 

takes into consideration relaxation of response times as a result of 

COVID-19 (SMI 30/03/2020, updated 07/05/2020).

Value in Green represents national average. Added December 

2021. Not all athourities report unclassified data so the national 

average may be inaccurate

Value in Green represents national average.

Issue/change log

Data from Annual NHT public satisfaction survey KBI 13

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents target.

  Notes

Data from DfT CGN0502b return (due Feb each year)

This year's results each quarter to be targets for 2020/21

Value in Green represents target.                                                                

Data from Annual NHT public satisfaction survey KBI 07

Value in Green represents national average.

Q4Q3

98



Appendix D 

99



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

PETERBOROUGH HIGHWAY SERVICES  

2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 

 

 

 

Nene Bridge Bearing Replacement 

100



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

2 
 

 

Contents 

Contents .......................................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary .......................................................................... 3 

Introduction ..................................................................................... 5 

COVID-19 Response ......................................................................... 6 

Maintenance Activities ...................................................................... 8 

Schemes Delivery ........................................................................... 12 

Planning and Design ....................................................................... 16 

Health and Safety ........................................................................... 21 

Improving the Way we Work ............................................................ 22 

Efficiency Savings ........................................................................... 24 

Service Performance ....................................................................... 27 

Good News Stories ......................................................................... 34 

 

Appendices 

KPI Annual Scorecard ................................................................ Appendix A 

KPI Dashboard ........................................................................... Appendix B 

Performance Management Framework Dashboard ................. Appendix C 

 

 

 

101



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

3 
 

 

Executive Summary  

Peterborough Highway Services (PHS) is a partnership between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and 

Milestone Infrastructure Ltd following the recent sale of Skanska’s Infrastructure Services business to 

M Group Services on the 30th April 2021. PHS is responsible for improving and maintaining 

Peterborough’s highway network including roads, drainage, street lighting and bridges.  This report 

covers the period of April 2020 to March 2021 which predates the aforementioned sale.   

During this period, PHS has continued to deliver high levels of performance having achieved an overall 

annual performance score of 99.97%.  This score is built up from 27 individually weighted KPI’s covering 

four domains – Operations, Customer Service, Commercial and Finance, and Added Value. Some of 

the key operational metrics are set out below: 

• 100% of emergencies call outs were attended within the agreed timescale.  

• 100% of Category 1 defects were responded to within the agreed timescales. 

• 94.5% of highway Category 2 defects were responded to within the agreed timescales. 

• 98.8% of street lighting Category 2 defects were responded to within agreed timescales.  

• 67 precautionary winter treatment runs were undertaken (each comprising five routes) with all 

runs completed within the agreed timescales.  

PHS is unusual in that environmental considerations feature so prominently in the performance of the 

contract.  Headline environmental KPIs include: 

• Carbon – 1.34 tonnes CO2e per £100,000 spend was emitted, well below the target of 2.35. 

This is a reduction on 43% compared to the 2015 baseline.  

• Water – 26,665 litres of potable water were saved by using the rainwater harvesting systems 

installed in the depot. 

• Waste – 100% of construction waste produced by the contract was diverted from landfill, which 

remains above the 95% target. 

A positive health and safety culture is promoted within the partnership with no RIDDOR (reporting of 

injuries, diseases, and dangerous occurrences regulations) or Lost Time Injuries recorded during the 

reporting period.  The team has now achieved over 1.3 million man-hours without a lost time injury. This 

is an exceptional performance for a highway services contract.  

Delivering efficiencies is an integral part of the contract. A total of £1.556m savings (Cashable £0.550m 

and Cost Avoidance £1.106m) were delivered in year. This is against an annual target of £0.565m and 

£0.926m for Cashable Savings and Cost Avoidance, respectively.   

There are also other positive indicators of the good performance of the service. The National Highways 

and Transport (NHT) annual survey captures public satisfaction on services delivered by local 

102



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

4 
 

 

authorities. In 2020, the Council was ranked 1st for Overall Satisfaction of the 109 authorities 

participating across the UK. This was a tremendous achievement for the Service and acknowledges 

the hard work and commitment of the PHS team.  The team has also secured Green Level accreditation 

with Investors in the Environment and the strong performance of the highway inspectors and operational 

teams has enabled the Council to achieve a 100% repudiation rate of third-party highway claims.  

During 2020/21, PHS continued to develop and deliver a number of improvement projects across the 

City. The key projects that have been completed or are under construction include the bearings 

replacement to Nene Bridge, the upgrade to the roundabout at Junction 18, Parkway resurfacing, A605 

Whittlesey Access, and the widening scheme to the A605 Alwalton. There were also a large number of 

schemes that are and continue to progress through planning and design phases, most notably 

improvements to Junction 15 (A1260/A47), Junction 3 (A1260/A1139), A16 Norwood and Fengate 

Access. A Smart Cities trial and the development of a City Centre transport vision have also been 

completed.  

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on PHS throughout 2020/21. Most staff have 

continued to work from home, but the depot has remained operational throughout the year, helping to 

maintain a safe and accessible highway network. The team responded admirably to the challenges 

presented by the pandemic, developing, and embedding new safe systems of work and, by April 2020, 

all services had resumed. The restrictions did, unfortunately, impact upon the programmes of a number 

of schemes which resulted in an intense period of delivery during the last quarter. However, all parties 

worked hard to ensure that the Council’s programme of works was completed by the end of the year.  

  

103



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

5 
 

 

Introduction 

Peterborough Highway Services (PHS) is responsible for planning, improving, and maintaining 

Peterborough’s highway network including roads, drainage, street lighting and bridges.   

PHS is a partnership between Peterborough City Council (PCC) and Milestone Infrastructure Ltd. The 

contract was awarded to Skanska UK on 15th August 2013 and the contract started on 1st October 2013. 

A Major Projects team was added in 2016, and an LED Street Lighting Project was added to the contract 

in 2017 but has since been disbanded due to the successful completion of the LED upgrade 

programme. 

The PHS contract is now into its eighth year and continues to go from strength to strength. The contract 

operates from two shared office facilities including Sand Martin House and Dodson House, of which the 

latter accommodates the PHS depot which became operational in May 2016. 

The partnership operates a simple governance structure comprising the Peterborough Highways 

Strategic Board and the Peterborough Highways Operations Team. The purpose of the Strategic Board 

is to provide strategic direction and monitor the performance of the contract. The Operations Team is 

responsible for leading and managing all aspects of service delivery and performance, and 

implementing the strategic direction set by the Strategic Board. 

This report covers the 12-month period from April 2020 to March 2021. The report was prepared in 

August 2021.  

Note: On April 30th, 2021, the sale of Skanska Infrastructure Services to M Group Services was 

completed and a new organisation, Milestone Infrastructure Ltd, was formed. All Skanska staff 

transferred to Milestone with no changes to the personnel delivering the Peterborough Highways 

Service or in providing senior management oversight. This report will continue to refer to Skanska as 

the sale to M Group occurred after the reporting period.  

 

  

104



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

6 
 

 

COVID-19 Response 

Like many areas of society, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on PHS during this 

reporting period. Both the Council and Skanska implemented a ‘working from home’ policy in line with 

Government guidance although Dodson House has operated under a significantly reduced capacity 

since late 2020. 

Whilst most staff have continued to work from home, the depot remained operational throughout the 

year including all three national lockdowns with a skeleton management team in place. Highway and 

street lighting maintenance continued, albeit with a number of restrictions in place and certain activities 

were initially halted on safety grounds. These were slowly reintroduced as the risks were better 

understood and new working methods and mitigations implemented. Central to this has been the 

implementation of the Construction Leadership Council’s guidance document ‘Safe Site Operations’. 

The additional measures resulted in some cost increases, most notably for routine maintenance, which 

placed additional pressures on budgets. However, all parties worked hard to minimise these.  

A Service Manager Instruction was issued on the 30th March 2020, setting out a number of changes. 

These included, amongst others, the temporary suspension of all schemes; the prioritisation of work 

activities; the relaxation of KPI response times; and changes to inspection requirements. This was 

replaced by a second Service Manager Instruction on the 27th April 2020 which included the 

reintroduction of schemes, modified requirements on inspections and amended commercial 

arrangements. It is worth noting that both parties worked closely together on the development of the 

second Service Manager Instruction. 

In order to minimise the impact of COVID-19, weekly (and later two-weekly) risk reduction meetings 

have been held since the start of the crisis. These have covered both operational and commercial 

aspects, including the Cabinet Office’s Procurement Policy Notes 02/20 ‘Supplier Relief due to COVID-

19’ and the furloughing of staff. Whilst discussions have been difficult at times, the open and 

collaborative approach taken by the partnership ensured that tremendous progress was made, and key 

services maintained.   

By August 2020, all work recommenced including a full programme of schemes, with control measures 

and new ways of working well established and working effectively. Understandably, the pandemic has 

delayed the development and commencement of some schemes. This resulted in a significant volume 

of site-based work being delivered in March 2021. To place this into context, the contract delivered 

approximately one quarter of its annual turnover in March with the highway schemes team alone 

delivering over £2m. Whilst this is not ideal, it is a credit to all teams that such a volume of work has 

been delivered successfully.  

The pandemic has also resulted in some costs increases, most notably in routine maintenance, due to 

additional welfare facilities, single occupancy vehicles, and some loss of productivity resulting from 

social distancing.  

105



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

7 
 

 

At the time of writing this report (August 2021), a new Service Manager’s Instruction had been agreed 

which would overturn most of the temporary arrangements previously introduced in response to the 

COVID-19 pandemic. These changes would provide greater cost certainty for the Council and 

remove temporary relaxations in performance targets. 

 

  

106



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

8 
 

 

Maintenance Activities 

Highway Maintenance 

During the 2020/21 year, PHS responded to: 

• 623 emergency call outs, all of which were attended on time.1 

• 277 Category 1 highway defects and 51 Category 1 street lighting defects, all of which were 

repaired on time.2 

• 5,894 Category 2 highway defects, where 5,568 were repaired on time3. These repairs need to 

be undertaken with 7, 14, 28 days or 3 months depending on the nature of the defect and 

timescale given on the order raised. 

• Repaired 1,043 7-day street lighting faults, with 1,041 repaired on time.  

Winter Service  

PHS is responsible for the Winter Service within the Council area. The Winter Service is provided by 

six purpose-built gritters which operate on five different routes across the city area, including car parks. 

However, Aragon Services provides the Winter Service to the pedestrian areas of the City Centre.  

Between April 2020 and March 2021, 67 precautionary treatment runs were undertaken (each 

comprising five routes), using 2,217 tonnes of salt. The number of precautionary treatment runs is the 

highest over the past three years with 50 runs taking place in 2019/20 and 42 runs in 2018/19. All runs 

were completed within the two-hour target.  Due to snow accumulations, the snow ploughs were 

required to clear snow across the city’s highway network. This was the second time the ploughs have 

been used since the start of the PHS contract in 2013. 

The PHS winter fleet consists of: 

• 2 x 26t dedicated Mercedes Econ Gritters. 

• 3 x 18t Quick Change Body Gritters and Tippers. 

• 1 x 7.5t Multi-spread Gritter for the car parks within Peterborough. 

The benefit of the changeable 18t bodies is that the vehicles are used all year round rather than for just 

the Winter Service. This enables more efficient use of the fleet. 

 
1 Figure includes 17 No. emergency call outs which were responded to within the relaxed timescale (24 hours) as set out in the 

Service Manager’s Instruction issued 30th March 2020 (issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic). 
2 Figure includes 10 No. Highways Cat 1 defects that were completed within the relaxed timescale (7 days) as set out in the 
Service Manager’s Instruction issued 30th March 2020 (issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic). 
3 Figure includes 110 No. Highways Cat 2 (7 day) defects that were completed within the relaxed timescale (28 days) as set 

out in the Service Manager’s Instruction issued 30th March 2020 (issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic). 
 

107



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

9 
 

 

 

PHS continue to engage with the public during the winter months via the Council’s Twitter account. 

Updates were regularly posted to inform residents about treatment decisions, as well as which routes 

would be treated across the network and when.  

 

PHS Vehicle Fleet 

Winter Service Social Media Communication 

108



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

10 
 

 

Flooding Events 

Heavy rainfall on the 23rd / 24th December resulted in severe flooding across the city’s highway network. 

The service was inundated with emergency calls and responded to over 40 events throughout the night.  

Although this represented one of the most challenging situations faced by the service, the team 

responded positively. The Duty Officer worked closely with the Lead Inspector and Drainage Officer to 

determine the best course of action, and then co-ordinated the response from the operational gangs 

and specialist subcontractor, ADC. Vital to the success of the response was the dedication and 

commitment from the team; historic knowledge of the drainage system and its performance; and good 

teamwork between the Council, Skanska, and its supply chain.  

Dragon Patcher 

The Swedish pothole repair machine nicknamed ‘The Dragon’, continues to be an integral part of PHS’s 

highway maintenance offering. The Council is part of a Memorandum of Understanding with 

Cambridgeshire County Council and Oxfordshire County Council that enables PHS to share the use of 

the Dragon Patcher. There is also now provision to hire vehicles directly from the manufacturer.   

The Dragon Patcher was in Peterborough for approximately three months in 2020/21 and was used on 

all types of roads (with the exception of the Parkways). The use of this machine has resulted in faster 

and more efficient repairs of potholes and supports the Council’s approach to asset management and 

preventative maintenance. 

Surfacing Programme 

Major resurfacing works were undertaken to the A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway between Junction 3 and 

Junction 8. The £1.2m scheme took 8 weeks to complete, and all works were undertaken at night to 

minimise the impact to the travelling public. 

A £1.9m programme of resurfacing to smaller sites was also successfully completed between May and 

November. This included: 

• Fengate 

• Morley Way 

• Clayton 

• Bukehorn Road 

• Hartwell Way 

• Cranford Drive 

• Fulbridge Road 

• Chapel Street 

• Huntley Road 

• Gordon Avenue 

• New Cut 

• Main Road (Upton)  

• Newcombe Way 

• Goldhay Way 

• Boongate 

109



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

11 
 

 

Specialist Treatments 

PHS carry out a wide range of specialist surface treatments. These are typically cost-effective ways of 

maintaining carriageway and footway surfaces and extend the life of the asset. Treatments include: 

• Surface dressing – This is applied to road surfaces and comprises a combination of hot-sprayed 

bitumen and road chippings. A £508k programme commenced in July 2020, applying treatment 

to 99,088m2 of carriageway across 14 sites. The treatment in the Whitewater area did fail 

prematurely and was rectified at no cost to the Council in the summer of 2021. The cause of 

the failure was investigated, and it was concluded that this was due to the material itself.  

• Micro-Asphalting – This is a cold-applied polymer liquid which is applied to road surfaces.  The 

programme commenced in June 2020, applying treatment to 44,637m2 of carriageway across 

19 residential roads. The overall value of the works was £565k.   

• Slurry Sealing – This is a cold-applied polymer liquid which is applied to footway surfaces. A 

£116k programme commenced in August, applying 16,104m2 of treatment across the 

Stanground area of the city. 

Safety Barrier Upgrade 

In March 2020, PHS was awarded £419,000 from the Department for Transport’s Local Highways 

Maintenance Challenge Fund. The funding contributed towards a total scheme cost of £855,000 to 

replace the safety barriers on A15 Paston Parkway and Werrington Parkway to ensure these sections 

of the Parkway Network remain safe and resilient for road users. In addition, the next phase of replacing 

the safety barriers on A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway Junction 3 to Junction 8 were also due for 

completion in the 2021/22 financial year.   

110



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

12 
 

 

Schemes Delivery 

Since the commencement of the contract, PHS has been actively involved in the delivery of transport 

improvement schemes across the City. Beneath are a few examples of the major improvement works 

and schemes delivered throughout the year. 

A605 Alwalton  

The £1.6m A605 Alwalton widening scheme was completed mid-October after a 32-week construction 

period. The scheme involved the installation of an extra traffic lane, a newly reconfigured junction at 

Alwalton to improve access, the installation of new pedestrian crossings, and a new footpath to the 

south of the highway. The scheme will alleviate traffic congestion leaving the A1 and travelling to 

Lynchwood via the A605. 

Cllr Peter Hiller commented ‘This project 

has been a real joint effort between our 

teams, the public and businesses in 

Lynchwood and I’m delighted with its 

successful conclusion. Traffic congestion 

has been an issue in this area for some time 

and the improvements will provide a long-

term solution for motorists and pedestrians. 

The success of the project has been helped 

by the continued support and co-operation 

of the local councillors, the Parish Council 

and most notably local residents. We would 

like to thank them for all their patience while 

the works were ongoing and delayed due to the outbreak of COVID-19. It is important to the city, and 

by in large, we have a good transport foundation that can support this, with some of the lowest 

congestion levels of any UK city.’ 

Junction 18 Improvements  

Junction 18 is a grade-separated, signalised interchange that provides access to the City Centre via 

A15 Bourges Boulevard, the north of Peterborough via A15 Lincoln Road, and the A47. The junction 

was approaching capacity in peak periods with queues occurring on many of the approaches. 

111



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

13 
 

 

The £5.5m upgrade, which started in January 2019, included increasing the capacity of the junction, 

providing signalised pedestrian crossings and ground-level footpaths across the roundabout, and 

structural repairs to the existing 

footbridge.  

The scheme opened in Autumn 2020, 

with the new signalised pedestrian 

crossings operational. Following 

completion of the Junction 18, works to 

refurbish the footbridge at Junction 18 

started in February 2021 and continued 

into the 2021/22 financial year. The new 

at-grade crossings facilitated the 

temporary closures of the bridge for 

repairs.  

A605 Whittlesey Access Phase 2 (Stanground Access) 

The A605 / B1095 Milk and Water Drove junction suffered from significant congestion and queuing in 

the evening peak period, with congestion often extending back from the junction to the A605 Stanground 

Bypass junction and beyond. The congestion was caused by vehicles making a right turn manoeuvre 

from A605 onto B1095 Milk and Water Drove, blocking vehicles behind from continuing their journey. 

The £2.15m A605 Whittlesey Access Phase 2 scheme commenced on 21st September 2020, initially to 

install a temporary road on Milk and Water Drove, site haul roads and piling mats. The main works 

created left and right-hand exits from Milk and Water Drove, and a right-hand turn lane into Milk and 

Water Drove from A605 Whittlesey Road. This commenced on the 16th November and was completed 

in July 2021.  

Nene Bridge 

Nene Bridge is one of only three road crossings of the River Nene in Peterborough. It plays an important 

role in the City’s transport network as part of the A1139 Frank Perkins Parkway, linking the A1 to the 

A47. Nene Bridge was constructed in the 1980s as part of Peterborough’s New Town development 

phase. 

Inspections of the bridge identified signs of structural distress to the bearings and piers that were likely 

to exacerbate over time. A first phase of this scheme, costing £4.2m, commenced in April 2018 and 

112



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

14 
 

 

was completed in 

September 2019.  The 

scheme involved 

constructing concrete 

‘jackets’ around six of the 

eight V-shaped piers and 

replacing the bearings.  

Phase 2 of this scheme 

commenced in December 

2020 to replicate the 

works previously carried 

out on the remaining two 

piers (Piers 7 and 8). A 

cofferdam was installed within the River Nene to facilitate the pier works. Unfortunately, the project was 

initially impacted by the flooding of the cofferdam which resulted in delays, but the work is now 

progressing well. The £2m scheme is due for completion in December 2021. 

Great Haddon Cycleway Improvement 

The £300k Great Haddon cycleway improvement scheme comprised widening the existing footway to 

create a shared use path for both pedestrians and 

cyclists. The scheme also included the 

implementation of new street lighting to improve 

public visibility along the 500m section from Goldhay 

Way to Artemis Way.  

This cycleway improvement links the residential 

developments of Orton Goldhay and Orton Waterville 

to the industrial areas south of Fletton Parkway and 

adjacent to the A1. The completion of the scheme 

improves safety and helps support sustainable travel 

modes. 

The scheme commenced on 4th January 2021 but was 

halted on the 19th February on environmental grounds. Protected species (Great Crested Newts and 

slow worms) were discovered on site but were safely re-located. The project recommenced on 16th April 

under a precautionary method of work. The main works were completed in August with the remaining 

street lighting work completed in September. 

 

113



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

15 
 

 

Emergency Active Travel Funding 

£175k of grant funding (tranche 1) was provided to the Council to support the introduction of temporary 

measures which would encourage walking and cycling. Potential sites were identified, and individual 

schemes developed at pace in order to meet strict funding requirements. Schemes included: 

• City Road cycle lane – Installed July 2020 

• Crescent Bridge cycle lane – Installed July 2020 

• Priestgate cycle lane – Installed August 2020 

• New Road cycle lane – Installed September 2020 

• Cattle Market Road widened footway – Installed June 2020 

• Lower Broadway widened footway – Installed June 2020 

A variety of proprietary barriers, posts and bollards were used to create dedicated cycleways or to widen 

existing footways. Key considerations included road safety requirements, maintenance requirements 

and the availability of products which were either in short supply or had considerable delivery periods.  

In addition to the above, a number of ‘school streets’ initiatives were installed to temporarily restrict 

motorised traffic at drop off and pick up times.  

All temporary measures were removed the week before Christmas 2020 with the exception of Crescent 

Bridge, which remained in place until June 2021, and the ‘school streets’ initiatives that continue to 

operate outside a number of schools.   

Green Wheel 

A £110k Green Wheel improvement scheme was undertaken at Wharf Road. The works commenced 

in March 2021 and comprised footway reconstruction and the installation of a flexible surface material 

comprising recycled tyres. The works were completed in April with further schemes ongoing. 

114



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

16 
 

 

Planning and Design 
PHS is actively involved in the planning and design of potential future schemes within the City. Beneath 

are a few examples of the schemes being developed. Some of these projects will be dependent upon 

external funding sources if they are to progress further.  

Junction 15 

Junction 15 (A1260 Nene Parkway / A47 Soke Parkway) is heavily congested during peak hours, with 

extensive queues on the A1260 Nene Parkway northbound approach as well as queuing at Thorpe 

Wood.  

In 2018/19, a preferred option was selected comprising the widening of the A1260 Nene Parkway 

northbound to three lanes from Junction 33 and associated widening of the Junction 15 circulatory 

between A1260 Nene Parkway and Bretton Way. A replacement footbridge linking Longthorpe with 

Thorpe Wood is also proposed as part of the project. 

The scheme has been developed over recent years to incorporate active travel and significant 

environmental benefits. The project will deliver a net gain in biodiversity and expose the nationally 

significant rock formations along the embankment for public viewing from the Longthorpe Bridge. 

Alongside the Junction 15 highway works, the complimentary Thorpe Wood cycle scheme will also be 

delivered in the coming years, providing a high quality, segregated cycle lane between the new 

footbridge, Ferry Meadows, and Thorpe Wood Business Park. 

In 2020/21, further work to progress the scheme was undertaken to ensure the benefits of the scheme 

deliver value for money. An Outline Business Case (OBC) was submitted to the CPCA in April 2020 

with an estimated benefit cost ratio (BCR) of 10.2, demonstrating very high value for money.  During 

2020/21 the detailed design and Full Business Case (FBC) was progressed alongside public 

consultation on the scheme in Autumn 2020 with further consultation due to take place in 2021. The 

FBC is due to be submitted to the CPCA in Autumn 2021, with construction expected to start in 2022. 

Junction 3 

Junction 3 is heavily congested during peak hours, which creates extensive queues on the A1260 Nene 

Parkway (southbound) and on the A1260 The Serpentine approach.  

During 2019/20, a preferred option for the junction was identified and includes the widening of three of 

the approaches and full signalisation of the junction. An OBC was submitted to the CPCA in May 2020 

with a forecast BCR of 3.2, demonstrating high value for money. During 2020/21 the detailed design 

and Full Business Case (FBC) was progressed alongside public consultation on the scheme in Autumn 

2020. The Full Business Case is due to be submitted to the CPCA in May 2022, with construction 

expected in 2022/23. 

115



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

17 
 

 

The scheme will also include measures to improve active travel connections around the junction, such 

as the creation of a new footpath in Orton Malborne, upgrading a significant stretch of cycleway in 

Orton Longueville, and creation of a new cycle facility along Phorpes Way. 

A16 Norwood Improvement Scheme 

The A16 Improvement Scheme is a package of highway improvements which will add capacity to the 

highway network, addressing existing problems of peak hour congestion, and help to facilitate planned 

residential growth at Norwood and Paston Reserve. 

 

The Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (adopted July 2019) allocates Norwood and Paston Reserve 

as urban extensions, generating a combined total of 2,945 dwellings to the north of Peterborough. 

However, the existing highway network adjacent to these development sites is under increasing 

pressure, particularly in the AM and PM peak periods, with extensive queues and delays on the 

approaches to the A47 / A16 roundabout. 

A Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) was produced to understand the strategic case for a scheme 

at this location and ensure the benefits of a scheme delivered value for money. The Preferred Option 

includes the following improvements: 

• Closure of Newborough Road access onto A47. 

• Dualling of A16 between A16 / A47 / Welland Road Roundabout and the Norwood Development 

Access. 

116



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

18 
 

 

• Partial signalisation of A16 / A47 / Welland Road Roundabout (A16 southbound approach). 

• A 50-metre flare added to the A47 westbound approach to provide additional capacity for left 

turning traffic to Welland Road. 

• Dedicated Left Turn Lane from the A47 eastbound to the A16 northbound. 

The SOBC was submitted to the CPCA in November 2020 and approval for funding was received to 

proceed to the next stage of the Business Case process. An Outline Business Case and preliminary 

design is expected to be complete in March 2022, and a public consultation is expected in Autumn / 

Winter 2021. 

Smart Cities 

In 2018/19, PHS developed a Smart Cities Transport Strategy for Peterborough. The purpose of the 

strategy is to provide an efficient, optimised, and dynamic highway network that is able to adjust to 

conditions and communicate with users. It is intended to achieve the specific objectives of maximising 

existing capacity, prioritising the movement of public transport vehicles on key corridors, improve 

network resilience, and improve the efficiency of the network. 

As part of the Smart Cities initiative PHS, working with Vivacity Labs and Tracsis, trialled the deployment 

of Intelligent Machine Learning-based video sensors to gather real-time detailed data on how a road 

space is being used. From March 2019, anonymous data generated can be used to monitor traffic flow 

and to enable the real time management of traffic signals. The trial was deemed to be a success, and 

the accuracy of the sensors was found to be greater than other monitoring sensors (around 97% 

accurate). Due to the success of the trial, further sensors are due to be rolled out across selected areas 

of the network.  

The next stage of the project is to trial Smart Junctions in 2021/22. If successful, it will show that the 

sensors can be used to control traffic lights which has implications for not only car users but also active 

travel (as the sensors can prioritise active modes / public transport). The sensors are installed, and 

Vivacity are currently in the process of training their Artificial Intelligence to predict better than existing 

traffic control modules. 

COVID-19 Traffic Monitoring 

The Smart City Sensors enabled PHS to undertake daily traffic monitoring of two routes in Peterborough 

to understand the impact on traffic levels at different stages throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. One 

of the sensors was on the Parkway Network to identify strategic travel patterns, the other sensor on an 

urban distributor route to identify more local traffic patterns. 

The wider Transport Technology Forum project that the COVID-19 data fed in to, was awarded ‘Project 

of the Year 2020’ at the ITS-UK Awards, and also ‘highly commended’ for ‘Outstanding Contribution to 

the COVID-19 Response’ at this year’s British Construction Industry Awards. The client thanked 

Milestone for ‘getting this setup and sending the data out several times a week for a number of months 

117



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

19 
 

 

now. As well as being used nationally it's also used weekly at the transport restart group that's chaired 

by CPCA’. 

Draft City Centre Transport Vision 

The City Centre is entering a new and exciting phase in its development, a phase that will deliver 

significant levels of growth, including significant redevelopment of the Station Quarter and a new 

University of Peterborough on the Embankment. 

To complement these development aspirations, a City Centre Transport Vision was prepared to guide 

future planning policy and provide 

an ambitious vision that can provide 

consistency to future development 

and growth within the City Centre. 

The vision embraces emerging 

technologies and a shift in travel 

behaviour. This includes the 

concept of multi-functional 

transport hubs on the periphery of 

the City Centre providing the vast 

majority of City Centre car parking 

(private and public), transition 

points for goods and deliveries 

destined for the City Centre and as 

terminals for a potential Urban Transit System, linking the City Centre to a wider Peterborough Mass 

Rapid Transit system.  

The City Centre Transport Vision also states that, as each area of the City Centre is planned and 

regenerated, it should:  

• Create high quality Public Realm Corridors from the growth area into the City Centre.  

• Establish Transport Hubs to replace City Centre parking.   

• Remove highway capacity and reallocate space for urban realm improvements.  

Fengate Access Study 

Fengate is a large industrial area to the east of Peterborough. It is bordered to the west by the A1139 

Frank Perkins Parkway, and to the east by the Fens. The Fengate area is an important employment 

area for Peterborough, with a large number of small and medium sized businesses located there, 

alongside large employers like Perkins Engines.  

The Local Plan seeks to build upon the industry in this area and has a number of allocations within the 

area for employment development. The largest employment allocation within Fengate is the Red Brick 

118



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

20 
 

 

Farm site which covers 126,600 square metres. This is likely to be a mixture of B8 (Storage and 

Distribution) units and B2 (General Industry) unit with ancillary B1 office space. However, evidence of 

existing and future conditions demonstrates that there are congestion and delay issues that need to be 

overcome to enable the growth to be realised, particularly at Red Brick Farm.  

Funding has been secured from the CPCA for the FBC and to develop the detailed highway design. 

The following improvements are proposed: 

• Create a 3rd lane southbound on the A15 Paston Parkway towards Junction 8. 

• Traffic signal improvements at Junction 7. 

• Traffic signal improvements at Edgerley Drain Road / Storey’s Bar Road / Vicarage Farm Road 

junction. 

• Creation of a roundabout at Oxney Road / Edgerley Drain Road (Developer Funded). 

• Creation of a mini roundabout at Oxney Road / Newark Road Junction. 

• Footpath Improvements on Newark Road. 

 

119



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

21 
 

 

Health and Safety 

Injury-Free Environment 

PHS adopted Skanska’s Injury Free Environment (IFE) culture, which provides the behaviours and 

values through which health, safety and wellbeing are managed within the contract.  The IFE culture 

empowers staff to take personal responsibility for their own safety, and that of their colleagues, both in 

work and at home.  

PHS participates in an active regional IFE team that includes representation from both the Council and 

Skanska. During 2020/21, the IFE team has engaged with staff through health and wellbeing information 

and events and delivered a number of IFE Stand Ups. These Stand Ups focused on mental wellbeing 

in light of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and remote working.  

Milestone is also developing its own behavioural health, safety, and wellbeing programme, MILife, to 

replace IFE. This will be rolled out in 2022. A positive health and safety culture will remain a key priority 

for Milestone. 

Health and Safety Performance 

PHS continued to demonstrate a strong health and safety performance throughout 2020/21 and has 

one of the best safety records across all of Skanska’s highway contracts.  During this period there were 

no Lost Time Injuries (defined as an incident resulting in a person being unable to work) or RIDDOR 

(reporting of injuries, diseases and dangerous occurrences regulations) incidents that required reporting 

to the Health and Safety Executive. This contract is now approaching 1.3 million man-hours without a 

lost time injury. This is a tremendous achievement for a highway services contract.   

Service strikes occur when a member of the workforce strikes utilities such as gas, water, electricity 

and telecommunications supplies. Although safe working practices are in operation, this remains a 

constant challenge as telecommunication cables, gas supplies to residential property and LV street 

lighting cables are often uncharted and/or installed at a substandard depth. During 2020/21 there were 

a total of nine service strikes, the majority of these were telecommunications cables at insufficient depth. 

None of the service strikes caused harm to individuals.   

Near misses and incidents that do not cause harm are also reported and investigated to ensure that a 

positive health and safety culture is maintained. These cover a range of activities, but two key areas 

remain an ongoing concern – members of the public placing themselves and the workforce at risk by 

entering traffic management (often in vehicles), and verbal abuse directed at the workforce from 

members of the public. This has been an issue over a number of years, but anecdotal evidence 

suggests it has worsened during the pandemic. 

120



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

22 
 

 

Improving the Way we Work 

From the first year of the contract, PHS has actively sought to introduce a culture of business 

improvement, where employees are empowered and promote improvements to daily activities. Projects 

progressed during 2020/21 are outlined below. 

Category 2 Defects 

Category (Cat 2) defects are non-emergency defects that are repaired within 7 days, 14 days, 28 days 

or more depending on their nature. The repair of these defects had been an area of concern during 

2019/20. A series of workshops were held to review the Cat 2 defect identification and rectification 

process. This included the use of different analytical techniques and resulted in a number of short, and 

long-term actions being identified. During 2020/21 a number of improvements were introduced including 

changes to the depot structure and enhanced data reporting. In the case of the SMART gangs, there 

has been an increase in productivity and much greater focus on geographical scheduling. 28-day orders 

are increasingly being completed within seven days and 7-day orders are typically being completed in 

just over four days. This reduced variability in the response times demonstrates an increased reliability 

in the process. 

Project Governance Framework 

A cross-organisational and cross-functional improvement team was formed to review project delivery 

and resulted in the creation of formal gateways at discrete points in the development and delivery of 

schemes. These gateways act as hold points, ensuring that the correct information is available, and 

that projects are on track to meet its objectives before progressing to the next delivery stage. These 

gateways were introduced for Annex 1 (highways) and 4 (bridges) projects in April 2020.  

A workshop was then held later in the year to review the effectiveness of this process. This revealed 

good compliance with the new process resulting in better governance around key milestones. Gateway 

checklists have proved invaluable at identifying any gaps in information or outstanding work by ensuring 

that key individuals are involved at the correct points. Collaboration between teams has improved and 

there is greater consistency, accountability, and clarity during design phases and at handovers. 

Further development of this framework has been identified and this has been taken forward. This 

included some refinement of Annex 1 and 4 checklists, tightening up controlled supporting 

documentation and further training. The expansion of this approach to other Annexes and Major 

Projects is underway. 

121



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

23 
 

 

Inspection and Test Plans  

In this reporting period there was renewed focus on the quality of routine maintenance activities. This 

was a business wide undertaking rather than a response to any local concerns. However, PHS 

embraced the initiative as it would help reinforce good quality practices amongst the teams. Inspection 

and Test Plans (ITPs) were created for all main maintenance activities from pothole repairs and 

patching to lighting column and luminaire replacement. Each of these ITPs were supported by visual 

guides which set out the step-by-step process (and example photographs) required to achieve the 

desired quality standard.   

122



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

24 
 

 

Efficiency Savings 

Efficiency Road Map 

One of a number of Performance Groups that report to the Peterborough Highways Operations Team 

is the Efficiency and Contract Management Group.  This group comprises representatives from across 

the partnership and meets monthly. Every quarter this is expanded to a wider group to encourage 

greater participation and help embed a culture of efficiencies generation. The group focuses on four 

areas: 

• Capturing and validating efficiencies that have been generated. 

• Identifying and exploring new opportunities for the future generation of efficiencies. 

• Setting efficiency targets for the year ahead. 

• Maintaining and developing the Efficiency Route Map (which records efficiencies that have 

been achieved and monitors these against targets). 

The route map is owned by the Peterborough Highways Operations Team and reported to the 

Peterborough Highways Strategic Board.   

A total of £1.556m efficiencies (comprising £0.550m Cashable Savings and £1.106m Cost Avoidance) 

were delivered in the Financial Year 2020/21. This was against an annual target of £0.565m and 

£0.926m for Cashable Savings and Cost Avoidance, respectively.   

A breakdown of the efficiencies for 2020/21 is shown in the table below: 

Road Map Item Cashable Cost 

Avoidance 

Notes 

Co-ordination of Programme - £484,864 Utilising the traffic management of other 

PCC partners and stakeholders in order 

to avoid the need to utilise chargeable 

Skanska traffic management. 

Integrated contract management £ 33,948 - Savings made through sharing Skanska 

support staff with Cambridgeshire 

Highways to ensure they are fully 

utilised. 

3rd party works £63,288 - Completing work for other customers – 

be it public or private sector customers 

- percentage fee returned to PCC. 

123



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

25 
 

 

Increase in turnover (20/21) £119,187  1% rebate for every additional million 

pound through the contract above the 

£10m threshold annually. 

Systems thinking projects - £14,854 Systems thinking - project and business 

process improvement approach. 

Delivered efficiencies in the way the 

emergency response process is 

delivered. 

Abnormal load management £1,224 - Savings made through sharing Skanska 

support staff with Cambridgeshire 

Highways to ensure they are fully 

utilised. 

Delivery of Major Schemes £74,025 - 1% management fee. 

Winter Maintenance - £92,001 Agreement to make Winter 

Maintenance lump sum rather than a 

target cost. 

Incident Response - £58,008 Agreement to make incident response a 

lump sum rather than a target cost. 

New Depot Relocation £61,992 - Annual saving on rent and rates. 

Major Schemes Management 

Fee 

£90,000 - PCC salary subsidy resulting from the 

part-secondment of PCC staff to 

Skanska.  

£50k saving annually on 

structures 

- £50,004 PCC has reduced its budget by this 

figure. 

Green Claims - £400,713 This is the amount of cash Skanska has 

received and hence PCC have not had 

to fund these repairs. 

Supply of IT equipment £28,663   

124



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

26 
 

 

North Somerset £75,000  Payment resulting from North 

Somerset’s use of the PCC contract to 

procure Skanska.  

Movement of containers from 

LED Depot to Highways Dept 

£3,296  Re-use of purchased containers from 

the LED project enabled hired 

containers to be off hired. 

Rainwater Harvesting  £39 Use of harvested rainwater in 

operational activities rather than water 

from meter 

Section 38-278 adoption process 

improvement 

 £5,198 Savings result from Highways Control 

Team not dealing with complaints 

Total £550,623 £1,105,681  

 

The total forecast efficiencies for 2021/22 is set at £1,625,330 comprising £699,401 Cashable Savings 

and £925,929 Cost Avoidance.  

Efficiencies Table 

125



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

27 
 

 

Service Performance 

Key Performance Indicators 

The performance of the Peterborough Highways Contract is monitored through an extensive suite of 

Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s), as set out in the table below.  27 KPI’s are in operation across four 

domains – Operations, Customer Service, Commercial and Finance, and Added Value.  Performance 

is reported monthly to the Peterborough Highways Operations Team in order to monitor progress, 

capture lessons learnt and support continuous improvement.  The Peterborough Highways Strategic 

Board also plays a critical role in overseeing the performance of the contract.  

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description 

Operations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Programme 

Delivery 

OP1 Number of cyclic maintenance activities 

completed against programme 

OP12 Number of schemes completed against 

programme 

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost 

per scheme 

Operational 

Delivery 

OP2 Percentage of emergency work instructions 

attended to within agreed timescales 

OP3 [a] Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work 

instructions completed within agreed 

timescale 

OP3 [b] Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work 

instructions completed within agreed 

timescale 

OP4 [a] Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work 

instructions completed within agreed 

timescales 

OP4 [b] Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work 

instructions completed within agreed 

timescale 

OP5 Winter Maintenance - precautionary 

treatment runs completed within the agreed 

timescale 

OP10 Percentage of work passing inspection 

Health and 

Safety 

OP6 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 

OP7 Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported 

OP9 Number of Service Strikes 

Customer 

Service 

Customer 

Service 

CS3 Number of satisfaction surveys completed 

for [a] Client, [b] Members and [c] Public 

(returned) 

CS4 

[b] & [c] 

Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] 

Public 

126



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

28 
 

 

CS5 Number of commendations received minus 

number of complaints received 

Commercial & 

Financial 

Commercial & 

Financial 

CF1 Percentage of accounts approved and paid 

within agreed period 

CF3 Percentage of cashable efficiencies 

compared to turnover (in current Financial 

Year) 

CF5 Value from other revenue streams 

Added Value Carbon AV1 Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising 

through energy and fuel use in buildings 

and vehicles against target 

Water AV2 Reduction in mains Water consumption 

through use of a rainwater harvesting 

system 

Waste AV3 Diversion of waste from landfill: as a 

percentage of total waste produced over a 

rolling twelve-month period 

Procurement AV4 Percentage of material procurement spend 

within the LEP area 

Suppliers AV5 Percentage of SME contractor’s 

procurement spend within the LEP area 

Sustainable 

transport 

AV6 Reduction in single occupancy car travel 

through application of transport hierarchy 

Economy & 

CSR 

AV7 Support development of local skills 

provision directly and indirectly (supply 

chain) 

 

Each KPI, score card and domain is weighted and contributes to an overall annual performance score 

for the contract. For 2020/21, PHS achieved an impressive annual score of 99.97%. A high-level 

summary of this score is provided below and expanded upon in Appendix A.   

Domain Weighting Score 

Operations 70% 69.97% 

Customer Service 10% 10% 

Commercial & Finance 0% (report only) 0% 

Added Value 20% 20% 

Total 100% 99.97% 

 

Suite of KPIs  

Annual Performance Score Breakdown 

127



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

29 
 

 

Monthly performance against each of the KPI’s between April 2020 and March 2021 is detailed in 

Appendix B. The KPI dashboard operates a Green / Amber / Red system, which represents: 

• Green: the KPI is at or exceeding the target. 

• Amber: the KPI has dropped beneath the target for the first month. 

• Red: the KPI is beneath the target for the second month or longer. 

The overall performance of the contract was very high, however the performance of the Category 2 

defects (OP4a) dipped slightly below the desired performance levels for a number of months across the 

year. The team responded positively to this challenge and implemented a number of improvements as 

noted earlier in this report which has delivered the desired improvement. As highlighted earlier in the 

report, the April 2020 Service Manager Instruction allowed a relaxation of response times to a small 

number of KPI’s due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact this has had on the way of working. 

In a similar manner to the Efficiency Group, a KPI Performance Group is established and is responsible 

for reviewing, maintaining and developing the suite of KPI’s. This includes the annual review of KPI 

targets and making recommendations to the Peterborough Highways Operations Team. The group is 

made up of members from across the partnership and meets monthly.   

Environmental Performance 

PHS is unusual in that environmental considerations feature so prominently in the overall performance 

of the contract. The Added Value KPI’s cover many environmental aspects from carbon, waste, and 

water through to supporting local businesses. Overall performance is good with some key headlines 

provided below: 

• AV1 – Carbon (CO2e tonnes emitted per £100,000 spend) is currently at an average of 1.34 

for the year, which is well below the 2.35 target for the last financial year. This is a reduction of 

43% compared to the 2015 baseline. 

• AV2 – 26,665 litres of potable water were saved by using the rainwater harvesting system 

installed in the depot. Potable water taken to sites has been replaced by filling containers from 

rainwater harvesting leading to this saving. This exceeds the target of 23,980 litres. 

• AV3 – 100% of construction waste produced by the contract was diverted from landfill (based 

on a 12-month rolling period) which remains above the 95% target.  

A contract carbon reduction strategy was developed that aligns with the Council’s own Carbon 

Management Action Plan. The carbon reduction strategy focuses on the following three key areas with 

an action plan to accompany this: 

• Fuel and fleet – Exploring alternative, low carbon fuel replacement for fleet and the future 

electrification of fleet and equipment. 

128



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

30 
 

 

• Low carbon design – Increasing the consideration of carbon at design stage where there is the 

greatest opportunity to make gains.  

• Material reuse and recycling – Exploring use of recycled aggregate, including material 

generated within the network, and moving towards a circular economy.  

Further environmental successes are set out in the ‘Awards & Recognition’ section later in this report.  

Over the past year good progress has been made with the Carbon Management Action Plan. Positive 

steps are being made in securing a site for a Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil fuel tank and Warm Mix 

Asphalt is now the default material choice for machine-laid surfacing. 

In addition, considerable work has also taken place on the A605 Alwalton Scheme following a Carbon 

Assessment. This assessment highlighted a number of key actions which reduced carbon over the 

construction of the project. This included: 

• 4 tonnes of broken kerbs were re-used in the construction of a retaining wall. 

• KBI flexi-pave, a 50/50 mixture of recycled rubber tyres and natural stone aggregate, was used 

to pave 300m2 of footpath. 

• Site offices and welfare units were connected to mains electricity rather than a diesel generator. 

• The site was connected to mains water thus avoiding the need to transport in over 2,000 litres 

of water. 

• Restoring 0.14ha of grassland and planting a 10m hedge and six birch trees. 

Customer Feedback  

Customer Feedback Surveys 

The performance of PHS is also measured through a series of feedback surveys which contribute 

towards two KPI’s – CS3 and CS4. These are typically undertaken on selected schemes with the 

following groups: 

• Council Members – Feedback cards are left with local Members following the completion of 

schemes. These cards provide Members with the opportunity to comment on all aspects of the 

scheme, including the standard of the work, the safety of the site and the way in which the staff 

conducted themselves. 

• Members of the Public – As for Council Members, feedback cards are left with local residents 

following the completion of schemes.  

Due to the COVID restrictions it was agreed that these feedback surveys would not be undertaken.  

  

129



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

31 
 

 

Compliments & Complaints  

Compliments and complaints from the public are raised either through the Customer Contact Centre or 

directly with staff. These are logged, actioned, and subsequently reported at the Peterborough 

Highways Operations Team.  This data contributes directly to the KPI CS5. 

The National Highways & Transport surveys 

The National Highways and Transport (NHT) annual survey captures public satisfaction on services 

delivered by local authorities. The Council has participated in the survey every year from 2015, and it 

is the intention of the Council to continue to do these surveys annually. 

In 2020, The Council was ranked 1st for Overall Satisfaction of the 109 authorities participating across 

the UK. This was a tremendous achievement for the highway service and acknowledges the hard work 

and commitment shown by PHS in looking after 550 miles of carriageway, 718 miles of footways and 

366 structures.  

Key findings from the survey are provided below.  

• Public satisfaction results ranged from a high of 72% for 'Taxi/mini cab services (KBI09)', to a 

low of 43% for 'Traffic management (KBI19)', with the majority of results over 50%.   

• The best year-on-year change in satisfaction for an individual indicator was recorded for 

'Overall Satisfaction (KBI00)' which saw a change of 8%. The indicator with poorest change in 

satisfaction was 'Rights of Way (aspects) (KBI16)' which recorded a change of -1%. 

• Of 27 Key Benchmark Indicators Peterborough were above the national average in all 27. 

• Comparing Peterborough's results with all other authorities taking part this year, 131 indicators 

are on or above the national average and 5 indicators are below average. 

• The largest positive difference from the NHT average was for 'Condition of road surfaces 

(HMBI01)' which was 16% above average. 

• Peterborough was ranked in the top ten of the authorities participating across the UK for 67 of 

the individual indicators. 

• The individual indicator for ‘Road safety education of young drivers’ was ranked 1st, as was the 

indicator for ‘Reliability of taxis or minicabs’.  

Road Condition Survey 

Each year the Department for Transport asks highway authorities to provide data on the condition of 

their road network. This national benchmarking exercise was last carried out using 2019 data although 

PHS has continued to collect this data for its own asset management purposes. In the absence of 

national benchmarking data, the table below compares Peterborough 2020 road condition indicators 

with the 2019 figures. This indicates that the condition of A, B and C class roads has been maintained 

130



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

32 
 

 

but that unclassified roads have deteriorated. Budget limitations has meant that spend has been 

prioritised on higher classified roads.  

Data Set Roads classified ‘red’ (roads where maintenance should 

be considered)  

A Roads (%) B & C Roads (%) Unclassified 

Roads (%) 

2019 1 5 17 

2020 1 5 23 

 

Transport Incentive Fund 

The Department for Transport has an incentive fund in operation which rewards councils who 

demonstrate they are delivering value for money in the management of their highway network. Councils 

are banded 1 to 3 based on their response to a detailed questionnaire which covers the following five 

criteria: 

• Asset management 

• Resilience 

• Customer 

• Benchmarking and efficiency 

• Operational delivery 

Those councils which achieve Band 3 receive their full allocation of Incentive Funding. For bands 1 and 

2 this is reduced by 90% and 50%, respectively. For 2020/21, PHS continued to be rated as a Band 3. 

The Performance Management Framework Dashboard forms a key part of the Council’s Incentive Fund 

submission and is included in Appendix C. The Department of Transport has indicated that it is looking 

to revise the incentive fund criteria, but details have yet to be released.  

Repudiation of Claims 

Under the Highways Act, local authorities can be subject to compensation claims from third parties 

where there has been a breach of duty. In most cases this relates to highway defects not being 

inspected or repaired within stated timescales. In 2020/21 the Council achieved a claims repudiation 

rate of 100%, which is an exceptional performance for a highway authority. This was in no small part 

due to the strong operational performance of the service in responding to defects and the performance 

of the highway inspectors who typically achieve close to a 100% inspection rate on time. This provides 

the Council with a robust defence under Section 58 of the Highways Act. (Inspections rates were 

Road Condition Survey Data Summary 

131



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

33 
 

 

impacted by the initial national lockdown but returned to normal levels once new working arrangements 

were established.)   

Good News Stories 

Skanska Infrastructure Services held its internal Major Projects awards ceremony in December 2020, 

where Steve Malby, Site Agent, was awarded the ‘People Award’.  This recognised the great work at 

the A605 Alwalton and A605 Whittlesey Access. Of particular note was his efforts to build relationships 

with local residents, many of whom he was on a first name basis with. His contribution was vital to 

minimising disruption and proactively sharing information with the public, including printing off bus 

timetables for residents on a weekend, providing flood advice, and holding open evenings.  

This proactive approach was also evident in his interaction with supply chain partners. He ensured that 

they were well integrated into the project team helping to ensure the successful delivery of the Alwalton 

project. Steve is a great ambassador for the service. 

PHS has also re-secured its Green Level accreditation for 2020 

with Investors in the Environment (IiE). This is a national 

environmental accreditation scheme and reflects the good 

work undertaken on the contract. ‘Green’ is the highest grade 

of accreditation. IiE noted strong performance in reducing 

carbon and procuring local subcontractors and suppliers. It also identified areas for improvement which 

will be explored in the year ahead.   

The partnership continues to be well represented on professional engineering institutions with Keith 

McWilliams being re-elected as Chair of the CIHT East of England Committee for 2020/21. Steve Biggs 

remains Vice President of the Institution of Lighting Professionals (ILP) and Matt Fisher is the current 

Chair of the Young Lighting Professionals within the ILP. 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a number of social value activities have not been able to take place. 

However, this should not detract from the good work that has taken place on the contract with a number 

of positive achievements. During June and July, the team responded to an urgent request to introduce 

temporary improvements to pedestrian and cycling facilities to support social distancing. This included 

the reassigning of road space to a cycleway on Crescent Bridge with other measures planned for City 

Road, Upper Broadway, and Priestgate in August. This programme of work was planned, programmed, 

and delivered at pace to ensure that the Council secured the maximum level of funding. 

The highways and streetlighting operational teams also deserve special mention as they have continued 

to deliver front line services throughout the current crisis. An equally important contribution was also 

made by a skeleton depot management team which continued to work from the depot and helped keep 

the team busy and safe and ensure that the service adapted to new ways of work.  

132



   

Printed copies of this document are not controlled. The master document is controlled electronically.  
Document users are responsible for ensuring printed copies are valid prior to use. 
 

34 
 

 

The team also made use of the quieter roads to re-programme work and minimise the impact on the 

public. This included: 

• Surfacing to Atherstone Avenue and Beech Lane which was completed four weeks ahead of 

programme. 

• Carriageway repairs to Boongate and safety barrier repairs on A15 Paston Parkway were 

undertaken during the daytime when under normal circumstances these would normally be 

undertaken at night at greater cost. 

• Abandoned temporary road signs have been collected to reduce street clutter.  

In September, PHS assisted the NHS with the set-up of new flu vaccination centres at the Peterborough 

United football ground and the Nightingale Medical Centre. Operatives provided barriers and cones 

which would facilitate social distancing measures. This allowed the NHS to continue setting this up as 

a functioning site, keeping both staff and the public safe. Praise was given to PHS for the coordination 

of the equipment at short notice, the professionalism of the operatives and the last-minute additional 

location.  

Finally, PHS expressed its thanks to the 

NHS and local care workers for their 

tireless efforts during the pandemic. On 

the 27th April rainbow signs were 

painted on the carriageway outside 

Peterborough Hospital. Councillor 

Peter Hiller commented: “It’s only right that we show our 

NHS just how vital they are and how much we all 

appreciate everything they have done since the COVID-19 

outbreak. They are literally putting themselves on the 

frontline to care for us all.” 

 

133



Appendix A 

134



v1.1

Domain Scorecard KPI ref. KPI description
Scorecard 

weighting

KPI

weighting

Scorecard

 totals

OP1
Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme
95% year 10%

OP12 Number of schemes completed against programme 95% year 5%

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme 95%
Financial 

year
5%

OP2
Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to 

within agreed timescales
100% month 15%

OP3 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% month 15%

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% month 15%

OP4 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescales
95% month 10%

OP4 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
95% month 10%

OP5
Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs 

completed within the agreed timescale
98% month 10%

OP10 Percentage of work passing inspection 95% month 5%

OP6 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 0%

OP7 Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 0%

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported 0%

OP9 Number of Service Strikes 0%

CS3
Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)
0%

CS4 [b] & [c] Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public 85% month 0%

CS5
Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received

Positive 

score

rolling 12 

months
100%

CF1
Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period
0%

CF3
Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover 

(in current Financial Year)
0%

CF5 Value from other revenue streams 0%

Carbon AV1
Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy and 

fuel use in buildings and vehicles against target
35%

reduction 

by 2022/23
42%

Water AV2
Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 

rainwater harvesting system
3.0%

reduction 

in 2020/21
17%

Waste AV3
Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total 

waste produced over a rolling twelve month period
95%

rolling 12 

months
17%

Procurement AV4
Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP 

area
80%

Financial 

year
12%

Suppliers AV5
Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within 

the LEP area
50%

Financial 

year
12%

Sustainable 

transport
AV6

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through 

application of transport hierarchy
TBA 0%

Economy & CSR AV7
Support development of local skills provision directly and 

indirectly (supply chain)

250 

hours

Financial 

year
0%

2020/21 total score 
99.97%

(102.50%)

Version No. Measure

1.0 All

1.1 AV4 and AV5

Peterborough Highway Services
KPI Scorecard

 Financial Year: 2020/21

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

 Details of issue/change

 First issue (provisional score)

Scorecard

Target

Programme 

Delivery

Operational 

Delivery

Health and

Safety

Report only

Report only

Report only

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

a
n
d
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l

Commercial & 

Financial

Report only

69.97%

(71.17%)

10.00%

(10.00%)

0.00%

20.00%

(21.33%)

Report only

Report only

70%

10%

Report only

Report only

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

A
d
d
e
d
 V

a
lu

e

Issue/change log

0%

(report only)

20%

Customer

Service

 Values finalised further to completion of annual review and reconciliation

 of data. Added Value Scorecard total and 2020/21 total score updated

 to reflect finalised values for these measures.

Date

24/05/2021

14/06/2021

PHS 2020-21 KPI Scorecard v1.1.xlsx

Page 1 of 2
135



Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21
Average or 

final score

Target 

multiplier

Multiplied 

score

Scorecard 

weighting

KPI 

weighting

Overall 

weighting
KPI score

Scorecard

totals

OP1
Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme
95% year 0/0 1/1 1/1 2/2 2/2 5/3 7/8 8/8 8/8 8/8 8/8 11/11 100.00% 105.26% 105.26% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.00%

OP12 Number of schemes completed against programme 95% year 0/0 1/0 2/2 2/2 5/5 8/8 11/11 16/16 18/18 19/19 21/20 37/28 100.00% 105.26% 105.26% 70% 5% 3.50% 3.50%

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme 95%
Financial 

year
N/A 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95.5% 96.0% 96.3% 96.30% 105.26% 101.37% 70% 5% 3.50% 3.50%

OP2
Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to 

within agreed timescales
100% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

As agreed by PHOT in July 2020, in month performance figures 

representative of relaxed response time/s set out in Service Manager's 

Instruction, number SMI 001, first issued 30/03/2020 in response to 

COVID-19.

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 70% 15% 10.50% 10.50%

OP3 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescale
100% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

As agreed by PHOT in July 2020, in month performance figures 

representative of relaxed response time/s set out in Service Manager's 

Instruction, number SMI 001, first issued 30/03/2020 in response to 

COVID-19.

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 70% 15% 10.50% 10.50%

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
100% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 70% 15% 10.50% 10.50%

OP4 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescales
95% month 94.9% 96.1% 96.7% 98.1% 95.7% 96.7% 95.0% 91.0% 84.3% 95.8% 97.0% 93.9%

As agreed by PHOT in July 2020, in month performance figures 

representative of relaxed response time/s set out in Service Manager's 

Instruction, number SMI 001, first issued 30/03/2020 in response to 

COVID-19.

94.60% 105.26% 99.58% 70% 10% 7.00% 6.97%

OP4 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 

completed within agreed timescale
95% month 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98.8% 100% 100% 100% 99.90% 105.26% 105.16% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.00%

OP5
Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs 

completed within the agreed timescale
98% month No runs N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A No runs 100% 98.0% 98.1% 98.5% 100% 98.92% 102.04% 100.94% 70% 10% 7.00% 7.00%

OP10 Percentage of work passing inspection 95% month No data 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 98.7% 98.8% 99.77% 105.26% 105.02% 70% 5% 3.50% 3.50%

OP6 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 70% 0% 0.00%

OP7 Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 70% 0% 0.00%

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported 0 3 1 2 3 3 1 4 1 1 1 1 70% 0% 0.00%

OP9 Number of Service Strikes 1 1 0 2 1 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 70% 0% 0.00%
69.97%

(71.17%)

CS3
Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10% 0% 0.00%

CS4 [a] Satisfaction scores for [a] Client year N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 10% 0% 0.00%

CS4 [b] & [c] Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public 85% month Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns As a direct consequence of COVID-19, no data available for FY 2020/21. 10% 0% 0.00%

CS5
Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received

Positive 

score

rolling 12 

months
0 1 2 -1 4 0 1 1 2 -1 4 2

KPI weighting combined (100%) as no scores for CS4 [a], [b] and [c]; 

approved by PHOT November 2020.

Between April 2020 and March 2021, a total of 33 No. commendations and 

18 No. complaints were received resulting in a positive score of 15 during 

this period, i.e. Pass (100%).

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 10% 100% 10.00% 10.00%
10.00%

(10.00%)

CF1
Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period
95.8% 96.4% 97.6% 100% 100% 100% 97.5% 96.7% 100% 100% 97.8% 100% 0% 0% 0.00%

CF3
Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover (in 

current Financial Year)
16.1% 11.2% 6.3% 5.1% 6.8% 6.4% 5.3% 6.0% 5.5% 5.3% 5.2% 5.0% 0% 0% 0.00%

CF5 Value from other revenue streams £59,992 £29,176 £51,469 £69,183 £55,093 £62,305 £57,805 £67,169 £87,537 £55,860 £71,508 £43,815 0% 0% 0.00% 0.00%

Carbon AV1
Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy and 

fuel use in buildings and vehicles against target
35%

reduction 

by 

2022/23
115.4% 127.6% 86.2% 80.7% 73.4% 63.2% 54.7% 55.9% 58.0% 63.1% 65.3%

56.8% of 

target
Counted as pass (100%). 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 20% 42% 8.40% 8.40%

Water AV2
Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 

rainwater harvesting system
3.0%

reduction 

in 2020/21
8.1% 15.4% 21.2% 26.8% 51.8% 63.6% 73.6% 88.5% 101.4% No data 111.2%

111.2% 

of target
Counted as pass (100%). 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 20% 17% 3.40% 3.40%

Waste AV3
Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total 

waste produced over a rolling twelve month period
95%

rolling 12 

months
100% 99.6% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99.97% 105.26% 105.23% 20% 17% 3.40% 3.40%

Procurement AV4
Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP 

area
80%

Financial 

year
84.2% 91.1% 91.5% 87.3% 86.7% 87.5% 86.0% 89.3% 89.2% 89.2% 87.2% 90.4% Finalised values for 2020/21 90.36% 125.00% 112.95% 20% 12% 2.40% 2.40%

Suppliers AV5
Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within 

the LEP area
50%

Financial 

year
52.9% 58.2% 57.1% 59.0% 61.0% 63.1% 68.8% 71.2% 70.0% 67.4% 66.8% 67.5% Finalised value for 2020/21 67.50% 200.00% 135.00% 20% 12% 2.40% 2.40%

Sustainable 

transport
AV6

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through application 

of transport hierarchy
TBA TBA N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Measure under review by KPI Performance Group. KPI weighting (5%) 

equally distributed amongst remaining Added Value measures.
20% 0% 0.00%

Economy & CSR AV7
Support development of local skills provision directly and 

indirectly (supply chain)

250 

hours

Financial 

year
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

As a direct consequence of COVID-19, no data available for FY 2020/21. 

KPI weighting (5%) equally distributed amongst remaining Added Value 

measures; approved by PHOT November 2020.

20% 0% 0.00%
20.00%

(21.33%)

2020/21 total score 
99.97%

(102.50%)

A
d
d
e
d
 V

a
lu

e

Report only

Report only

Report only

Report only

C
u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

a
n
d
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l

Commercial & 

Financial

Customer

Service

Report only

Report only

Report only

Peterborough Highway Services
KPI Scorecard: Data Sheet

 Financial Year: 2020/21 Scorecard calculations

Target

Report only

Notes

2020/21 performance

O
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

Programme 

Delivery

Operational 

Delivery

Health and

Safety

PHS 2020-21 KPI Scorecard v1.1.xlsx

Page 2 of 2

136



Appendix B 

137



8/8 8/8 11/11

19/19 21/20 37/28

95% 96% 96%

G G G

99%
(100%)

98%
(100%)

97%
(100%)

G G G

91%
(100%)

96%
(100%)

100%

G G G

100% 100% 100%

G G G

92%
(96%)

97%
90%

(94%)

G G A

100% 100% 100%

G G G

98% 98% 100%

G G G

100% 99% No data

G G ND

0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.00

1 1 1

0 0 0

0 0 0

Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns

G G G

-1 4 2

G G G

100% 98% 105%

5.3% 5.2% 5.0%

£55,860 £71,508 £43,815

63% 65% 57%

No data 111% 111%

100% 100% 100%

G G G

53% 54%
To follow 

next month

R R ND

67% 67%
To follow 

next month

G G ND

NA NA NA

0% 0% 0%

Version No. Measure  Details of issue/change

1.0 All  First issue

Mar-21

2020/21

Issue/change log

Feb-21Jan-21

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

&
 

Fi
n

a
n

ci
a

l

Commercial & 

Financial

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed 
within agreed timescales

95%

95%

OP5

OP4 [a]

Customer

Service

Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 
rainwater harvesting system

reduction 
by 2022/2335%

Date

22/04/2021

A
d

d
e

d
 V

a
lu

e

Carbon

Water

Waste

Procurement

Suppliers

AV6

AV7Economy & CSR

Sustainable 

transport

AV2

Financial 
year

Support development of local skills provision directly and 
indirectly (supply chain)

AV3

Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs completed 
within the agreed timescale

Percentage of work passing inspection

Report only

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)OP7

OP10

AV5

AV4

95%

98%

Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public

Number of commendations received minus number of 
complaints received

OP9

CS3

CS5

CS4 [b] & [c]

CF1

AV1

CF5 Report only

CF3

rolling 12 
months

95%
Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total waste 

produced over a rolling twelve month period

Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy and fuel 
use in buildings and vehicles against target

Financial 
year

Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within the 
LEP area

80%
Financial 

year

3%
reduction in 

2020/21

TBA % reduction
(from 2019 survey 

results)

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through application of 
transport hierarchy

month

Report only

In month data to follow.

Report only

rolling 12 
months

Report only

month95%

85%

50%

4%
All 37 No. Highways Cat 1 work instructions in month were completed within the agreed 
timescale.

Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions 
completed within agreed timescale

Positive 
score

Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 
Members and [c] Public (returned)

All 115 No. Street Lighting Cat 2 work instructions in month were completed within the 
agreed timescale.0%

Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover (in 
current Financial Year)

250 
hours

Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 
period

Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP area

Value from other revenue streams

2%
All 15 No. precautionary treatments in month were completed within the agreed 
timescale.

OP4 [b]

OP6

Report only

Report only

month

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)

Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions 
completed within agreed timescale

month

Report only

-7%

595 of the 658 No. Highways Cat 2 work instructions in month were completed within 
the standard agreed timescales.
Further to the issue of a Service Manager's Instruction on 30th March 2020 and 
relaxation of the Cat 1B repair time (7 day), alternative performance figures (represented 
by brackets) have been provided.

95% month

66 of the 68 No. emergency call outs in month were responded to within the standard 
agreed timescales. A case of COVID-19 in the depot on the 4th March meant that a 
second crew had to be assigned to attend 2 No. Highways call outs mid-morning 
resulting in a small delay to our arrival on site.
Further to the issue of a Service Manager's Instruction on 30th March 2020 and 
relaxation of the Cat 1A response time, alternative performance figures (represented by 
brackets) have been provided.

All 4 No. Street Lighting Cat 1 work instructions in month were completed within the 
agreed timescale.

-1%

0%

Peterborough Highway Services
KPI Dashboard

Domain Score card

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

Programme 

Delivery

Operational 

Delivery

Health and

Safety

KPI description

Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 
programme

Number of schemes completed against programme

Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme

Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to within 
agreed timescales

Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions completed 
within agreed timescale

Number of Near Misses reported

Number of Service Strikes

OP8

OP13

month

OP3 [b] 100%

month

95%

month

Change 

indicator
  Notes

OP3 [a]

yearOP1

100%

OP12

KPI ref. Target

100%OP2

year

Financial 
year

v1.0   Reporting month: March 2021 (published 22/04/2021)

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2021.xlsx
Page 1 of 5

138



OP1
Number of cyclic maintenance activities completed against 

programme
95% 0/0 1/1 1/1 2/2 2/2 5/3 7/8 8/8 8/8 8/8 8/8 11/11

OP12 Number of schemes completed against programme 95% 0/0 1/0 2/2 2/2 5/5 8/8 11/11 16/16 18/18 19/19 21/20 37/28

OP13 Defined cost within +/- 10% of target cost per scheme NA 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 96% 96%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of target cost schemes completed in month 0 3 2 0 5 2 1 1 5 3 3 2

Number of target cost schemes completed outside
+/- 10% of original target cost

in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Number of target cost schemes completed cumulative 0 3 5 5 10 12 13 14 19 22 25 27

Number of target cost schemes completed outside
+/- 10% of original target cost

cumulative 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

OP2
Percentage of emergency work instructions attended to within 

agreed timescales
100% 100%

83%

(100%)
91% (100%) 100% 100%

98%

(100%)
100%

98%

(100%)

99%

(100%)

98%

(100%)

97%

(100%)
G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of emergency work instructions in month 28 34 40 (40) 43 (43) 82 45 49 (49) 44 59 (59) 69 (69) 62 (62) 68 (68)

Number of emergency work instructions attended to within 
agreed timescales

(Highways - 2 hours/ Street Lighting - 1 hour)
in month 28 34 33 (40) 39 (43) 82 45 48 (49) 44 58 (59) 68 (69) 61 (62) 66 (68)

Average time to arrive at site in month 40 mins 37 mins
2 hrs

25 mins

1 hr

52 mins
55 mins 48 mins 50 mins 38 mins 43 mins 52 mins 50 mins 41 mins

OP3 [a]
Percentage of Highways CAT 1 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescale
100%

91%

(100%)
100% 100%

82%

(100%)

96%

(100%)
100% 100% 100%

91%

(100%)

96%

(100%)
100%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of Highways CAT 1 24 hour work instructions in month 11 22 (22) 15 12 11 (11) 23 (23) 25 11 25 32 (32) 53 (53) 37

Number of Highways CAT 1 24 hour work instructions completed 
within agreed timescale (24 hours)

in month 11 20 (22) 15 12 9 (11) 22 (23) 25 11 25 29 (32) 51 (53) 37

OP3 [b]
Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions completed 

within agreed timescale
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions
('Urgent' priority code)

in month 5 2 2 4 1 5 3 1 11 6 7 4

Number of Street Lighting CAT 1 work instructions completed 
with agreed timescale (by end of next day)

in month 5 2 2 4 1 5 3 1 11 6 7 4

Percentage of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed 
within agreed timescales

82%

(95%)

93%

(96%)
97% 98% 96% 97% 95%

90%

(91%)

82%

(84%)

92%

(96%)
97%

90%

(94%)
G G G G G G G A R G G A

Number of Highways CAT 2 work instructions
(7 day, 14 day, 28 day & 3 month)

in month 585 (564) 286 (284) 454 579 584 487 642 499 (499) 511 (511) 265 (265) 367 658 (658)

Number of Highways CAT 2 work instructions completed within 
agreed timescales

in month 482 (535) 266 (273) 439 568 559 471 610 448 (454) 419 (431) 245 (254) 356 595 (618)

Percentage of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions completed 
within agreed timescale

100% 100% 100% 98% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions
('Routine Maintenance' priority code)

45 120 122 55 65 74 60 106 86 91 104 115

Number of Street Lighting CAT 2 work instructions completed 
within agreed timescales (7 days)

45 120 122 54 65 74 60 106 85 91 104 115

OP5
Winter Maintenance - precautionary treatment runs completed 

within the agreed timescale
No runs NA NA NA NA NA No runs 100% 98% 98% 98% 100%

G G G G G G G

Number of gritting runs in month 0 0 34 50 106 66 15

Number of gritting runs completed within agreed timescale
(3 hours)

in month 0 0 34 49 104 65 15

No data 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 99% No data

G G G G G G G G G G G ND

Number of orders inspected 0 186 165 276 276 171 225 198 228 249 237 0

62 55 92 92 57 75 66 76 83 78

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

62 55 92 92 57 75 66 76 83 78

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

62 55 92 92 57 75 66 76 83 78

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

OP6

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR)
To measure the number of employee Lost Time Injuries per 
1,000,000 hours worked over a rolling twelve month period

Report only 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

No. of Lost Time Injuries (Skanska) in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

No. of Lost Time Injuries (supply chain) in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

No. of hours worked (Skanska) in month 15745 11242 14632 12053 15075 12101 11057 12605 13041 14364 13449 13208

No. of hours worked (supply chain) in month 2414 3225 6223 7068 7034 11264 10261 8634 8803 11052 9879 13604

OP7

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)
To measure the number of reportable accidents per 1,000,000 

hours worked over a rolling twelve month period
Reportable accidents are those as defined in RIDDOR regulations 

prepared by the HSE 

Report only 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

OP8 Number of Near Misses reported Report only 0 3 1 2 3 3 1 4 1 1 1 1

OP9 Number of Service Strikes Report only 1 1 0 2 1 1 1 2 0 0 0 0

Mar-21

2020/21

Feb-21Jan-21Nov-20Sep-20Aug-20Jul-20May-20 Jun-20Apr-20 Oct-20 Dec-20

95%

Programme 

Delivery

Passed in month

in month

95%

Target

Operational 

Delivery

100%

100%

95%

OP10

Site cleanliness

100%

95%

98%

in month

Failed in month

Passed in month

Peterborough Highway Services
Operations Data Sheet

  Measures OP1 to OP13

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

in month

Failed in month

OP4 [b]

Failed in month

Passed in month

Quality of work

Percentage of work passing inspection

OP4 [a]

Health and

Safety

Work as ordered

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2021.xlsx
Page 2 of 5

139



CS3
Number of satisfaction surveys completed for [a] Client, [b] 

Members and [c] Public (returned)
Report only 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS4 [a]
Satisfaction scores for:

Client
NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of excellent responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of good responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of satisfactory responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of poor responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of very poor responses in month 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS5
Number of commendations received minus number of 

complaints received
0 1 2 -1 4 0 1 1 2 -1 4 2

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Number of commendations received in month 1 1 3 1 5 2 6 2 2 1 4 5

Number of complaints received in month 1 0 1 2 1 2 5 1 0 2 0 3

Mar-21

2020/21

Feb-21Jan-21Nov-20Sep-20Aug-20Jul-20Jun-20May-20Apr-20

C
u

st
o

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

Positive 
score

Target

Customer

Service

CS4 [b] & [c] Satisfaction scores for [b] Members & [c] Public

Domain Score card KPI ref.

85%

KPI description

Peterborough Highway Services
Customer Service Data Sheet

  Measures CS1 to CS5

Dec-20Oct-20

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2021.xlsx
Page 3 of 5

140



CF1
Percentage of accounts approved and paid within agreed 

period
96% 96% 98% 100% 100% 100% 98% 97% 100% 100% 98% 105%

Number of payment applications 190 196 167 234 237 322 242 239 236 197 414 352

Number of approved applications 182 189 163 234 242 332 236 231 246 201 405 370

CF3
Percentage of cashable efficiencies compared to turnover (in 

current Financial Year)
16.1% 11.2% 6.3% 5.1% 6.8% 6.4% 5.3% 6.0% 5.5% 5.3% 5.2% 5.0%

Turnover £967,996 £670,532 £1,669,656 £1,327,137 £1,502,870 £2,475,697 £2,623,214 £1,698,851 £1,894,727 £1,255,399 £1,803,068 £4,281,310

Efficiencies £156,141 £26,657 £26,553 £27,164 £180,278 £134,096 £45,916 £175,748 £45,758 £41,047 £68,353 £186,878

Turnover £967,996 £1,638,528 £3,308,184 £4,635,321 £6,138,192 £8,613,889 £11,237,103 £12,935,954 £14,830,682 £16,086,081 £17,889,149 £22,170,459

Efficiencies £156,141 £182,798 £209,351 £236,515 £416,793 £550,889 £596,805 £772,553 £818,311 £859,359 £927,711 £1,114,589

CF5 Value from other revenue streams £59,992 £29,176 £51,469 £69,183 £55,093 £62,305 £57,805 £67,169 £87,537 £55,860 £71,508 £43,815

Green Claims £45,149 £23,864 £46,812 £60,884 £46,794 £32,931 £44,855 £64,167 £67,883 £38,374 £31,783 £16,861

Third parties £14,843 £5,312 £4,657 £8,299 £8,299 £29,374 £12,950 £3,002 £19,654 £17,486 £39,725 £26,954

Mar-21

2020/21

Feb-21Jul-20Jun-20May-20 Jan-21Nov-20Sep-20Aug-20Apr-20 Dec-20Oct-20

Report only

Report only

Target

Report only

in month

in month

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

&
 F

in
a

n
ci

a
l

Commercial & 

Financial

Score card KPI ref. KPI descriptionDomain

in month

in month

cumulative

cumulative

in month

in month

Peterborough Highway Services
Commercial & Financial Data Sheet

  Measures CF1, CF3 & CF5

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2021.xlsx
Page 4 of 5

141



115% 128% 86% 81% 73% 63% 55% 56% 58% 63% 65% 57%

Tonnes of Carbon emitted 26.25 22.90 17.83 20.94 18.01 22.03 16.49 25.44 32.22 36.33 35.93 21.71

Tonnes of Carbon emitted 26.25 49.15 66.98 87.92 105.93 127.96 144.45 169.89 202.11 238.44 274.37 296.08

Contract spend £967,996 £670,532 £1,669,656 £1,327,137 £1,502,870 £2,475,697 £2,623,214 £1,698,851 £1,894,727 £1,255,399 £1,803,068 £4,281,310

Contract spend £967,996 £1,638,528 £3,308,184 £4,635,321 £6,138,192 £8,613,889 £11,237,103 £12,935,954 £14,830,682 £16,086,081 £17,889,149 £22,170,459

Tonnes of Carbon emitted per £100,000 contract spend 2.71 3.00 2.02 1.90 1.73 1.49 1.29 1.31 1.36 1.48 1.53 1.34

Target 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35 2.35

Water 8% 15% 21% 27% 52% 64% 74% 89% 101% No data 111% 111%

Litres of Water collected from rainwater harvesting system 1,945 1,745 1,388 1,357 5,986 2,832 2,390 3,580 3,100 2,342 0

Litres of Water collected from rainwater harvesting system 1,945 3,690 5,078 6,435 12,421 15,253 17,643 21,223 24,323 24,323 26,665 26,665

Target 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979 23,979

AV3 100% 99.6% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

G G G G G G G G G G G G

Waste produced 206.50 281.00 430.00 166.00 156.25 400.04 310.08 1917.42 203.96 462.38 1492.88 11604.62

Waste diverted from Landfill 206.50 279.80 430.00 166.00 156.25 400.04 310.08 1917.42 203.96 462.38 1492.88 11604.62

54% 76% 68% 66% 66% 68% 68% 52% 52% 53% 54%
To follow 

next month
A R R R R R R R R R R ND

LEP spend £22,155 £92,774 £67,157 £35,931 £38,162 £45,374 £52,025 £35,249 £22,605 £28,653 £36,833

Total spend £40,846 £111,275 £115,516 £64,728 £58,094 £55,005 £72,368 £226,929 £42,667 £43,379 £57,015

LEP spend £22,155 £114,929 £182,086 £218,017 £256,179 £301,553 £353,578 £388,827 £411,432 £440,086 £476,918 £476,918

Total spend £40,846 £152,122 £267,638 £332,366 £390,460 £445,465 £517,833 £744,762 £787,429 £830,809 £887,824 £887,824

53% 58% 57% 59% 61% 63% 69% 71% 70% 67% 67%
To follow 

next month
G G G G G G G G G G G ND

SME spend £756,394 £613,290 £176,266 £697,073 £483,263 £531,676 £1,480,098 £1,979,645 £623,239 £675,180 £466,315

Total spend £1,429,137 £922,310 £355,233 £1,097,282 £664,696 £692,851 £1,725,278 £2,544,433 £1,057,858 £1,398,920 £812,491

SME spend £756,394 £1,369,684 £1,545,950 £2,243,023 £2,726,286 £3,257,961 £4,738,060 £6,717,705 £7,340,944 £8,016,124 £8,482,440 £8,482,440

Total spend £1,429,137 £2,351,447 £2,706,680 £3,803,962 £4,468,659 £5,161,510 £6,886,788 £9,431,221 £10,489,078 £11,887,999 £12,700,490 £12,700,490

83% NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Percentage of PHS respondents from the annual Travelchoice 
council staff survey who have indicated that they travel to and 

from their place of work by car (with no passengers)
83% NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Hours volunteered
(Skanska and Supply Chain employees)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hours volunteered
(Skanska and Supply Chain employees)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mar-21

2020/21

Feb-21Jan-21Nov-20

80%

in month

cumulative

50%

in month

Jul-20Apr-20

cumulative

cumulative

in month

Financial 
year

in month

(from 2019 survey 
results)

TBA % reduction

Financial 
year

in month

in month

Financial 
year

cumulative

250 
hours

Diversion of waste from landfill: as a percentage of total waste 
produced over a rolling twelve month period

Reduction in Potable Water consumption through use of a 
rainwater harvesting system

cumulative

3%
reduction in 

2020/21

35%
reduction by 

2022/23

Target

in month

Financial year

cumulative

Financial year

in month

in month

A
d

d
e

d
 V

a
lu

e

AV5
Percentage of SME contractors procurement spend within the 

LEP area

Waste

AV4 Percentage of material procurement spend within the LEP area

cumulative

Suppliers

rolling 12 
months

95%

Procurement

cumulative

in month

in month

AV7

AV6

Carbon

AV1

Support development of local skills provision directly and 
indirectly (supply chain)

Sustainable 

transport

Reduction in single occupancy car travel through application of 
transport hierarchy

Economy & CSR

Reduction in Carbon Emissions arising through energy and fuel 
use in buildings and vehicles against target

AV2

Peterborough Highway Services
Added Value Data Sheet

  Measures AV1 to AV7

Domain Score card KPI ref. KPI description Jun-20May-20 Dec-20Sep-20Aug-20 Oct-20

PHS KPI Dashboard - March 2021.xlsx
Page 5 of 5

142



Appendix C 

143



Carbon emissions from 

maintenance activities
SU1 Tonnes of Carbon emitted for every £100,000 spent Quarterly

<= annual 

KPI 

reduction

2.02

(2.49)

2.02

(2.35)

1.15

(2.35)

1.19

(2.35)

0

(2.35)

Street Lighting energy 

consumption
SU2

Amount of electricity consumed across the City for the 

lighting asset (incl. lit signs and bollards). (Avg Kwh per light 

per month)

Quarterly

<= average 

usage from 

qtr for prev 

year

15.78

(25.31)

8.92

(13.72)

6.33

(14.96)

12.48

(18.91)

0

(15.78)

Congestion SU3
Average delay on locally managed 'A' roads (DfT measure 

CGN0502b) spvpm (seconds per vehicle per mile)
Annually 24 spvpm 23.7

SU4a Public Transport - Public satisfaction (%) of local bus services Annually

>= 

national 

average

59%

(60%)

60% 

(57%)

SU4b Walking - Public satisfaction (%) of pavements and footpaths Annually

>= 

national 

average

57%

(55%)

60% 

(55%)

SU4c Cycling - Public satisfaction (%) of cycle routes and facilities Annually

>= 

national 

average

58%

(51%)

59% 

(49%)

Major Projects waste 

material recycling
SU5 Major Projects - Percentage of waste material recycled Quarterly 95%

BSCI Score SE1 Annual Average Bridge Stock Condition Indicator.
Bi-

annually
>= 70.00 76.14

% of A Road Network That 

is Red
SE2

% of A Road Network from the scanner data marked red, that 

should have been considered for maintenance
Annually

<= 

national 

average

1%
(3%)

% of B & C Road Network 

That is Red
SE3

% of B & C Road Network from the scanner data marked red, 

that should have been considered for maintenance
Annually

<= 

national 

average

5%
(6%)

% of Unclassified Road 

Network That is Red
SE4

% of Unclassified Road Network from the scanner data 

marked red, that should have been considered for 

maintenance

Annually

<= 

national 

average

17%

(16%)

Emergency response on

the Network
SA1

Percentage of emergencies responded to within agreed 

timescales.
Quarterly 100% 98.5%

93.1% 

(100%)

97.6%

(100%)

98.7% 

(100%)

Urgent Defect repair on the 

Network
SA2

Percentage of Highways CAT 1 defects completed within 

agreed timescales
Quarterly 100% 100%

95.8% 

(100%)

93.5%

(100%)
100%

Defect repair on

the Network
SA3

Percentage of Highways CAT 2 defects completed within 

agreed timescales.
Quarterly 95% 80.0%

89.6% 

(95.8%)
96.8%

89.4% 

(90.5%)

Delivery of planned safety 

inspections
SA4 Percentage of safety inspections delivered to programme. Quarterly 100% 100.0%

80%

Covid
100% 100%

Accident statistics SA5 Annual KSI (Killed or Seriously Injured) figure. Annually n/a
K-12

SI-89

Highways Claims Defended SA6 Percentage of Highway Claims Defended Annually n/a 98% 98%

Highways Claims Payments 

Made
SA7 Total Amount Paid Out for Highway Claims Annually n/a £10,425 £28

Customer Feedback

Cards
SH1 Positive feedback from members of the public. Quarterly 85% 99.2% Nil returns Nil returns Nil returns

SH2 Overall results for Theme #03: Walking/ Cycling. Annually

>= 

national 

average

58%

(54%)

58%

(52%)

SH3 Overall results for Theme #04: Tackling Congestion. Annually

>= 

national 

average

49%

(48%)

51%

(46%)

SH4 Overall results for Theme #05: Road Safety. Annually

>= 

national 

average

56%

(55%)

59%

(53%)

SH5
Overall results for Theme #06: Highway Maintenance/ 

Enforcement.
Annually

>= 

national 

average

54%

(50%)

55%

(49%)

Version No. Measure Details of issue/ change

1.0 All  First issue (Q4 2019/20)

Previous year is 2018/19, Qtr 1 is 2019/20

Data from Annual NHT public satisfaction survey KBI 13

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents target.

  Notes

Data from DfT CGN0502b return (due Feb each year)

This year's results each quarter to be targets for 2020/21

Value in Green represents target.                                                                

Data from Annual NHT public satisfaction survey KBI 07

Value in Green represents national average.

Q4Q3

Date

Value in brackets represents alternative performance score 

which takes into consideration relaxation of response times as a 

result of COVID-19 (SMI 30/03/2020, updated 07/05/2020).

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in brackets represents alternative performance score 

which takes into consideration relaxation of response times as a 

result of COVID-19 (SMI 30/03/2020, updated 07/05/2020).

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Value in Green represents national average.

Issue/ change log

Peterborough Highway Services

Asset Management Performance Management Framework - Dashboard

12/05/2020

Previous 2020/21

Q2Q1

v1.0

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty

Travel choice

S
e

rv
ic

e
a

b
ili

ty
S

a
fe

ty
S

ta
k
e

h
o

ld
e

r 
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n

NHT Survey

  Quarter 1 2020/21 (published )

Previous year is 2018/19, Qtr 1 is 2019/20

Feedback cards haven't been given out during Covid-19

Available/ 

reported
TargetMeasureKey area DescriptionRef. Q or Yr

Data from Annual NHT public satisfaction survey KBI 11

Value in Green represents national average.

144



 

 
Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny 
Panel  
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 7 

1 NOVEMBER 2022 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Adrian Chapman, Executive Director: Place and Economy 

Jonathan Lewis, Service Director – Education 

Cabinet Member(s) 
responsible: 

Cllr Lynne Ayres, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services, Education, Skills 
and University 

Contact Officer(s): Dr Pat Carrington - Executive Principle, Peterborough City 
College and Assistant Director Skills and Employment, PCC 

Tel. 07812008878 

 

CITY COLLEGE PETERBOROUGH ANNUAL REPORT 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

FROM: Executive Director, Place and Economy, Service 
Director Education and Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Education, Skills and University 

Deadline date: N/A 
 

 

It is recommended that the Communities Scrutiny Committee:  

1. Note and scrutinise the content of the report and the history and progress to date of City College 
Peterborough and its priorities for the forthcoming academic year. 

 

 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The committee requested a report giving a comprehensive overview and progress report as 

part of City College Peterborough’s annual report to this committee. The committee have also 
asked for information on how the College is supporting new arrivals on ESOL courses and the 
impact of the cost-of-living crisis on the courses take up. 

 
2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  

 
2.1 This report is being presented to the Communities Scrutiny Committee to note the progress of 

the Council’s Adult and Community Learning College over the past 12 months and share its 
priorities for the forthcoming academic year. 
 

2.2 
 
 
 
 

This report is for Communities Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 
3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by 
Council: 
 
6. Adult Learning and Skills 
 

2.3 How does this report link to the Corporate Priorities? 
 
The work that City College Peterborough undertakes is grounded in the corporate priorities of the 
council, particularly in addressing social mobility and leading to social transformation. 
 

2.4 How does this report link to the Children in care Pledge? 

145



City College Peterborough works to support the educational growth and attainment of young 
people in care and care leavers. 
 

3. TIMESCALES [If this is not a Major Policy item, answer NO and delete the second line of boxes.] 
  

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

YES/NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

 

Date for relevant Council meeting No Date for submission 
to Government Dept. 
(Please specify 

which Government 
Dept.) 

N/A 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 Introduction 
 
City College Peterborough (CCP) is the council’s Adult and Community Learning college (ACL) 
and has been providing adult education to the residents of Peterborough since 1944. 

 
The College provides a wide range of services to the city, linking together traditional and non-
traditional styles of learning to meet local needs and priorities. 
 
What distinguishes the council’s ACL college from other types of post-16 providers is its core 
model, which is traditionally delivered in community-settings, in small classes, working with 
some of the most vulnerable learners in society and focusing on delivering a holistic curriculum 
for wider learning. The way in which CCP delivers it programmes is that they are designed to 
support the growth of the individual, not just academically but also socially, helping to develop 
new relationships and create an understanding of the world, which will support future career 
plans. CCP seeks to remove the barriers that some may have in accessing education, 
employment and careers and supports the wider development of an individual. 
 
CCP works in 3 core areas: 
 
16-19 provision 

 16-19 study skills programmes with intensive wrap around support 
o From Sept 2023, delivering T-Levels (a level 3 technical qualification 

equivalent to 3 A-Levels) 

 Providing transferable skills for next step progression 

 The City's provider of choice for young people with special educational needs 

 Supported internship pathways 

Adult and Community Learning (19+) 

 Adult Skills for improving work and pay prospects 

 Community Learning to support social and economic wellbeing 

 Work related learning 

Day Opportunities 

Support for adults with learning disabilities and autism including: 

 Helping individuals find sustainable work opportunities 

 Intensive therapies and activities for individuals with complex needs 

 A wide breadth of opportunities to support individuals maintain and develop 
independent living skills  

In sum: 

CCP operates from two campuses and four hubs, as well as in pop-up community venues. It 
has a Governing Board (GB) with devolved responsibilities from the council for the strategic 

146



direction, day to day management, finances and quality of the provision. This allows the college 
to work as a self-financing business unit that is aligned to local strategic priorities with an agility 
that is usually only afforded to the private sector.  

City College Peterborough: 

 had over 3000 learners attending the college in 2021/22, of which the youngest learner 
was 16 years old and the oldest 90. 

 provides approx. 2,150 hrs of collective wellbeing and pastoral support to young 
people on study programmes throughout the academic year. 

 supports 250 adults with learning disabilities and autism within Day Opportunities, who 
deliver over 71,000 hours of care and support a year. 

 has an Ofsted rating of “Good” with Outstanding features. 

 has learners that achieve some of the highest qualification success rates in the 
country. 

 is funded by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority, Education and 
Skills Funding Agency, Department of Work and Pension, Adult Social Care and full 
fee paying learners. 

 
4.2 The last 12 months 

 
The role of City College Peterborough is to support the social and economic growth of our 
residents, aligning what we do to the City’s priorities, alongside regional and national skills 
strategies 
 

With this is mind, during the past 12 months, we have, post covid and in the current economic 
climate, recognising the challenges we face, reflected on our strategic direction moving forward 
and with our staff, developed a new mission with operating principles which we are currently 
testing. These are shown below: 
 
Mission 
‘City College Peterborough’s mission is to facilitate excellence. We work with integrity and an 
entrepreneurial approach. Our learning environment seeks out new opportunities and forges long 
term, meaningful connections with people and communities ’ 
 
Operating Principals 
  
Resilience:  

 We will work to ensure all decisions we take meet the long-term ambition and best interest 
of the students, college and the council. 

Growth:  

 We will grow by expanding forward thinking programmes that generate economic, social 
and cultural prosperity. 

Outcomes:  

 We will focus on helping the people we work with achieve their desired outcomes as 
quickly and as simply as possible. 

Quality: 

 We will be relentless in our approach to continuous improvement.  
 
Whist this development has taken place, we have continued to develop and deliver our provision 
with some amazing results. The 2021/22 academic years performance of our services for three 
areas of our delivery are shown below: 
 

4.2.1 Study Programmes – Young People (16-19/24) 
 
City College Peterborough Study Programmes works with and supports young people up to the 
age of 24. A large proportion of learners have Special Educational Needs (72%) and high majority 
of learners have significant and profound barriers to their learning.   
 

147



City College address this by using a holistic approach to learning. We find that the wrap around 

support enables young people to become independent and access sustainable opportunities.  

The impact of the work we do is shown on the table below: 

 
Study Programmes KPI 2021/22 

Area Target 21/22 Actual to date 

Learner numbers 220 223 

Attendance 78% 84% 
Retention 95% 97% 

Positive destinations 90% 94% 

Work placement participation 130 learners 106 
Achievement Rates   

 Vocational 95% 98% 

 RARPA (non-qualification) 98% 99% 

 English non-regulated (non-qualification) 95% 99% 

 Maths non-regulated (non-qualification) 95% 99% 

 
Red Below target - Amber awaiting data - Green above target. 

nb – at the time of this report, some learners are still attending sessions and taking resits. The hard close for our exams result  is in 
October and this is when the Qualification Achievement Rates (QAR) data will be finalised. 

 
Pivotal to the success of our learner’s time at the college is to ensure we give support outside of 
the classroom as we have a “wellbeing team” to support this work, during 2021/22 the team dealt 
with a significant number of safeguarding cases and causes of concern for the last academic 
year.  
 
The rise in safeguarding and the severity of the concerns has been significant and directly linked 
to young people’s mental health and the impact of Covid.  Categories include:   
 

 Anxiety 

 emotional health 

 home issues 

 mental health 

 self-harm 

 self-neglect 

 substance misuse 

 suicidal thoughts / Ideation 

 domestic abuse 

 
4.2.2 Adult Learning – (19+) 

 
The work we have undertaken with adult learning has seen the bulk of the provision delivered in 
two main areas: 
 
1. English for Speakers of Other Languages (qualification courses) - at just over 1,000 

enrolments we deliver not just the language skills but also support our newly arrived citizens 
by: 

a. Offering short free ESOL courses through the community department while they wait 

for a space on the qualification ESOL courses 
b. When they join a qualification ESOL course, offering free termly targeted support 

classes in speaking and listening, reading and writing depending on the learners 
needs 

c. Offering free courses which provide at least 5 hours of ESOL per week 
d. Supporting learners to buy their coursebook and workbook  

e. Offering support with travelling to the college to take part in courses 

148



f. Depending on the learner’s level, offering free Maths, ICT, health care, teacher 
training, business admin and customer service courses to supplement the learners 
learning 

g. Offering all learners’ the opportunity to take part in the free reading club and cookery 

course 
h. And from November we will be offering short free Multiply ESOL for maths courses 

which could lead to a maths qualification and courses in money management. 

 
For our ESOL learners, we offer courses in the morning, afternoon and evening to give learners 
as much opportunity as possible to join a class. We also, where possible, have the same 
teacher teaching the morning classes as the evening at each level to enable shift workers to 

easily switch between classes, to maximise their participation, whatever their working pattern.   
 
 
2. Community Learning – Non qualification courses to support the community to improve their 
social and economic wellbeing, again at just over 1,000 enrolments 
 
The remainder of the courses we deliver are in employability, maths, English and level 2 
qualifications 
 
With all of our courses, we are sensitive to the needs of the people on our programmes, some of 
whom who can often be furthest away from learning and our aim is to support their development 
holistically. We recognised the qualification achieved and academic growth but, as importantly, 
we recognise the development over the course of their social skills, emotional intelligence, growth 
in knowledge of the world and what life options there are. 
 
What we deliver at City College is not a tick list of “can-do’s”, it is wider and deeper. We concern 
ourselves with changes which improve both academic and social skill, creating a space in which 
our learner can reflect on their positionality, connecting learning to the creation of the individual’s 
transformation capacity. 
  
The success of what we delivered in 2021/22 is seen below: 
 
Learner 

 Target Actual Notes 

Learner numbers 2035 2721 Funded via the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority’s Adult 
Education Budget (AEB). 

 177 Funded by Out of area AEB and National 
Skills Fund 

 691 Full Fees – no funding drawn down 
Attendance 91% 92%  

Retention 96% 97%  

Achievement 92% 92% QAR will continue to rise as achievement 
continues to come in prior to hard close in 
October 22 

  
Red Below target - Amber awaiting data - Green above target. 

 
 

4.2.3 Day Opportunities  
 
Day Opportunities is Peterborough’s largest local day support specialist provider and experienced 
social care provider, supporting over 250 adults with learning disabilities, autism and complex 
needs to live the fullest life possible. We promote individual choice for people using our service 
and we aim to understand and provide a voice on things that matter to the people we support, 
helping them to work towards their personal targets and promote their wellbeing.  
 
The Kingfisher Centre in Bretton is a fully accessible day support centre for people with high 
complex needs who require support with most aspects of their life. The site has fully-equipped, 

149



dedicated activity rooms, fully equipped sensory and UV rooms together with specialist 
bathrooms and changing facilities for our supported people. 
 
The City Centre Hub, based at Brook Street City College Peterborough and the Skills 
Development Hub at 441 Lincoln Road supports individuals to participate in meaningful activities 
both onsite and within the local community. 
 
The Employability Hub, provides support to help and find work experience, voluntary work or paid 
work for people with learning difficulties and disabilities. Our Job Coaches are there to find ways 
of identifying training opportunities, job searching, applying for vacancies, interview preparation 
and travel training. 
 
Day opportunities continues to provide a Covid secure service, as it has done over the last year 
and will continue to do following the latest Health & Social Care guidance. 
 

4.3 The current academic year. 
 
The delivery of the new mission shown above for 2022/23, is broken down into the specific 

department and delivery areas via a departmental “blueprint”, ‘delivery plan” all with their own 
Key Department Indicators (KPIs) that can be used to ensure we are delivering on these priorities. 
 
The management of which is shown below: 
 

 

 
For this new academic year, we have also: 
 
Reinvigorated the Governing Board. 
Following an external review of our governing board and John Holdich OBE stepping down as 
our chair of governors (becoming the college patron), we have realigned our governing board to 
ensure we meet the needs of the future with appropriate stretch and challenge. The new 
Governing Board, which has each governor aligned to a specific area, is shown on the table 
below: 
 

Governor specialism 

Chair of 

Governors  

Claire Higgins, MBE. Chair of the Governing Board (interim) 

 

Finance Jonathan Lewis, Director of Education Peterborough City Council 
 

Workforce Claire Higgins, MBE. Chief Executive Cross Keys Homes 
 

150



Local 

Authority 

Cllr Lynne Ayres, Portfolio Holder for Education, Skills and University  

Jonathan Lewis, Director of Education Peterborough City Council 

 

Health and 
Safety and 

Sustainability 

Currently recruiting 
 

Safeguarding Jonathan Lewis, Director of Education Peterborough City Council. 

 

Teaching and 
Learning  

Prof Ross Renton, Principal of ARU Peterborough. 
Kevin Taylor, Retired FE Director and training company owner 

 

Business John Hill, Director TWI Cambridge 

 

Marketing James O’Rawe, General Manager Peterborough Workspace 

 

Student 
Governor 

Currently recruiting 
 

Staff 
Governor 

Currently recruiting 
 

Executive 

Principal 

Dr Pat Carrington MBE, Executive Principal City College Peterborough and 

Assistant Director Employment and Skills, Peterborough City Council 
 

 
 
Reviewing our curriculum offer. 
This year sees us ensuring that our curriculum has the correct intent for the future and that it is 
aligned to City need. We are continuing with our core areas for 16–19-year-old provision, ESOL, 
math, English, level 2, employability and community work. However, we are also looking to 
advance our work in: 
 

 Supporting the current cost-of-living crisis as we have seen a decline in fee paying 
courses and need to ensure that we still support the social wellbeing agenda with more 
free courses for adults to access. 

 Further supporting the cost-of-living crisis by looking for new partners in the voluntary 
sector to fund them delivering courses, particularly for marginalised groups. 

 Recruiting for the new T-Level provision, with the opening of a T-Level shop at 61 Bridge 
Street. 

 Developing our adult provision to allow progress that support being able to move to Higher 
Education (HE) courses with the planning and introduction of adult ‘access to HE’ 
provision. 

 Delivery of the new ‘multiply’ programmes, designed to be innovative in improving the 
maths skills of adults. 

 
Re-establishing our national profile and policy influencer 
Peterborough City Council Adult and Community Learning Service (City College Peterborough) 
has always been a “go to’ organising for knowledge and experience of Adult and Community 
Learning. This took a back seat during covid and we are now re-establishing ourselves as a 
leader in the sector. To date, the Executive Principal has spoken at Ofsted National Conference 
for Skills on the ‘Developments in Adult Education”, met with the new Chief Executive of the 
Education Skills Funding Agency as part of his first month in office to talk about Adult Education 
and what it needs from the Department, and hosted a visit from the FE Commissioner’s office as 
part of developing their knowledge and understanding of Adult Education. 
 
Piloting support from the FE Commissioners Office. 
As a result of hosting a visit from the FE Commissioner Office, they are piloting with us ‘active 
support’ to see if and how this can benefit our sector. The areas in which we are currently 
receiving active support from their office, is in the planning and delivery of T-Levels and 
governance, with us being able to access the “National Leaders of Governance” programme 
(currently not accessible to our sector). 
  

151



 
T CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 No formal consultation undertaken as this is a performance report. 

 
6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  

 
6.1 The anticipated outcome is for the committee to note the annual report of City College 

Peterborough. 
 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 
 

7.1 For the committee to note the progress of City College Peterborough and the work it has 
undertaken in the past 12 months. 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

8.1 Not applicable as this is an annual progress report. 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Financial Implications 

 
9.1 none 

 
 Legal Implications 

 
9.2 none 

 
 Equalities Implications 

 
9.3 The work undertaken by City College Peterborough is to ensure that there are learning 

opportunities available to all and, as such, the College works to address any inequalities and 
embraces diversity. 
 

 Rural Implications [If this is not a report to a Scrutiny Committee, delete this line.] 

 
9.4 
 

As the college undertakes work across the wider Peterborough geographical area, rural learning 
opportunities are available if required. 
 

 Carbon Impact Assessment  
9.5 As this is a review and performance report that is being presented to the Communities Scrutiny 

Committee to note the progress of the Council’s Adult and Community Learning College over the 
past 18 months and share its priorities for the forthcoming academic year, this are no changes to 
the carbon impact as a result of this report 
 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

10.1 None 
 

11. APPENDICES 
 

11.1 None 
 

 
 

152



 

 
GROWTH, RESOURCES AND COMMUNITITES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM No. 8 

1 NOVEMBER 2022 PUBLIC REPORT 

 

Report of: Fiona McMillan, Director of Law and Governance  

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Coles, Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate 
Governance  

Contact Officer(s): Charlotte Cameron, Democratic Services Officer Tel. 07870 153052 

 

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
FROM: Democratic Services Officer Deadline date: N/A 

 

 
     It is recommended that the Growth Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee: 
 

1. Considers the current Forward Plan of Executive Decisions and identifies any relevant items for 
inclusion within their work programme or request further information. 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 

 
1.1 The report is presented to the Committee in accordance with the Terms of Reference as set out 

in section 2.2 of the report. 
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT  
 

2.1 This is a regular report to the Growth Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee outlining 
the content of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions. 
 

2.2 This report is for the Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee to consider 
under its Terms of Reference No. Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, 
paragraph 3.3: 
 
The Scrutiny Committees will: 
 

(f)  Hold the Executive to account for the discharge of functions in the following ways: 

ii) By scrutinising Key Decisions which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in 
the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions. 

3. TIMESCALES  

  
Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting  

N/A 

 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 
 

The latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions is attached at Appendix 1. The 

Forward Plan contains those Executive Decisions which the Leader of the Council believes that 

153



 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.4 

the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Member(s) can take and any new key decisions to be taken 

after 21 November 2022.  

 
The information in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions provides the Committee with the 
opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these executive decisions, 
or to request further information. 
 
If the Committee wished to examine any of the executive decisions, consideration would need to 
be given as to how this could be accommodated within the work programme. 
 
As the Forward Plan is published fortnightly any version of the Forward Plan published after 
dispatch of this agenda will be tabled at the meeting. 
 

5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 Details of any consultation on individual decisions are contained within the Forward Plan of 

Executive Decisions. 
 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT  

 
6.1 After consideration of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions the Committee may request 

further information on any Executive Decision that falls within the remit of the Committee. 
 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1 The report presented allows the Committee to fulfil the requirement to scrutinise Key Decisions 

which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions in 
accordance with their terms of reference as set out in Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny 
Functions, paragraph 3.3. 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
8.1 N/A 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 Financial Implications 

 
 N/A 

 
9.2 Legal Implications 

 
 N/A 

 
10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 
 

 None 
 

11. APPENDICES 

 
11.1 Appendix 1 – Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 
 

154



 

 

PETERBOROUGH CITY  
COUNCIL’S FORWARD PLAN OF 

EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  
 

 
 
 

PUBLISHED: 21 OCTOBER 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

 

155



PART 1 – FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 
 

KEY DECISIONS FROM 21 NOVEMBER 2022 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

Charging residents and developers for replacement bins – 

KEY/21NOV22/01 

Currently all replacement household bins are replaced for free, if 

implemented, if you loose your bin or damage it you will be required 

to pay for a replacement. 

 

 

Councillor 

Nigel Simons, 

Cabinet 

Member For 

Waste Street 

Scene And The 

Environment 

November 

2022 

Climate Change 

and Environment 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards  Via the budget 

setting last 

financial year and 

FSWG 

James 

Collingridge, 

Assistant Director 

of Operations, 

01733 864736, 

james.collingridge

@peterborough.go

v.uk 

 

Place and 

Economy 

A CMDN. 

Refugee Resettlement Befriender Contract Award – 

KEY/21NOV22/02 

To award a contract to provide services and support to resettled 

refugee families under the United Kingdom Resettlement Scheme 

and the Afghan Relocation and Assistance Programme. 

Councillor 

Steve Allen, 

Deputy Leader 

and Cabinet 

Member for 

Communicatio

n, Culture and 

Communities 

31 January 

2023 

Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Soft market testing 

with potential 

suppliers has taken 

place 

Ian Phillips 

Head of 

Communities and 

Partnerships 

Integration 

Email: 

Ian.phillips@peter

borough.gov.uk 

People Services It is not anticipated that 

there will be any 

documents other than the 

report and relevant 

appendices to be 

published. 

 

 

156

mailto:Ian.phillips@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.phillips@peterborough.gov.uk


PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED KEY DECISIONS 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

1. Peterborough City Council Housing Related Support 

Procurement / Commissioning - KEY/24MAY21/02 –  

To Procure / Commission Peterborough City Council Housing 

Related Support Services. Service redesign and change form 

annual Grant Agreements to longer term contracts. 

 

Cabinet 14 November 

2022 

Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee  

All Wards  Soft market testing 

is underway. A 

Housing Related 

Support 

Commissioning 

Strategy has been 

agreed and has 

received all the 

relevant approvals 

Sean Evans, 

Head of Service 

Housing Needs, 

Email: 

sean.evans@pet

erborough.gov.uk  

People Services 

 

To be submitted, Housing 

Related Support 

Commissioning Strategy for 

Cambridgeshire & 

Peterborough 2020 - 2022. 

Procurement / 

Commissioning information. 

 

 

2. Article 4 Direction - KEY/28MAR2022/01 – 

To agree to formulate an Article 4 Direction for public 

consultation that requires property owners in Bretton, Fletton & 

Woodston, Hargate & Hempstead, Hampton Vale, Park and 

Central wards, to obtain planning permission when converting 

single homes or residential properties into HMOs, alongside 

relevant planning policies to support this. 

Cabinet October 2022 Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Bretton, 

Fletton & 

Woodston, 

Hargate & 

Hempstead

, Hampton 

Vale, Park, 

North and 

Central. 

Formal public 
consultation within 
relevant wards 

Jim Newton,  

Assistant Director 

Planning & 

Building Control 

(Interim)  

Email: 

jim.newton@pete

rborough.gov.uk 

Place and 

Economy 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

3. Clare Lodge and agency resource - KEY/28MAR2022/02 - 

Relating to the supply of temporary agency requirements at 

Clare Lodge 

Cabinet October 2022 Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards Legal, 
Procurement, 
Service area, Clare 
Lodge, agency 
providers 

Steve McFaden, 

Business, 

Strategy & 

Infrastructure 

Manager Clare 

Lodge, 01733 

253246 

People Services It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

157

mailto:sharon.malia@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.malia@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

4. Investment in NHS Health Checks to address the backlog 

created by the impact of COVID-19 pandemic – 

KEY/23MAY22/02 - The NHS Health Checks Programme is a 

mandatory Local Authority function. Peterborough has very 

rates of cardiovascular disease and the Programme is a key 

prevention intervention for identifying and addressing 

cardiovascular disease risks. The COVID-19 pandemic had a 

huge impact on the number of NHS Checks completed and 

there is an urgent need to address the backlog of NHS Health 

Checks and ensure that risks in the population are reduced. 

The additional investment is to provide support to GP 

Practices to deliver the NHS Health Checks. GPs are an 

integral part of the Programme as their patient data is used to 

identify those eligible and they play a key role in addressing 

any identified clinical issues. The proposal is to commission 

the GP Federation in Peterborough to support the GPs to 

deliver the Programme. A GP Federation is a group of 

practices that come together to deliver services. The 

commission will be in line with the recommendations from 

procurement and legal services. 

 

Councillor 

John Howard, 

Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health 

and Public 

Health 

 

October 2022 

 

Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards 

 

GP Federations, 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group, Local 
Medical Committee 
 

Val Thomas 

Deputy Director 

of Public Health, 

Email: 

val.thomas@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k 

 

Public Health 

 

Cover paper 

 

5. Investment to fund the NHS pay award for staff who work 

in NHS services commissioned by Public Health – 

KEY/23MAY22/03 - Public Health commission services from 

NHS organisations. Their staff have had a 3% pay award. The 

Public Health Grant funding uplift for 2022/23 reflects this pay 

award. Local Authorities are expected to ensure that these 

NHS pay awards are fully met and included in any contractual 

arrangements or Section 75 agreements. 

 

Councillor 

John Howard, 

Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health 

and Public 

Health 

 

October 2022 

 

Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards NHS 
commissioned 
providers. 
 

Val Thomas 

Deputy Director 

of Public Health, 

Email: 

val.thomas@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k 

 

Public Health 

 

Cover paper 

 

6. Tenancy Sustainment and Employment Support Grant – 
KEY/18JUL22/02 - The Council is going through procurement 
for a Tenancy Sustainment and Employment Support service 
until 31 March 2025. This is Rough Sleeper Initiative Funding 
that we have been successful for. 
 

Councillor 
Marco Cereste, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Climate 
Change, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Transport 
 

December 

2022 

Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee  

All wards  There will be a full 
procurement 
exercise 

Sarah Scase, 

Housing Needs 

Operations 

Manager, 07920 

160502, 

sarah.scase@pet

erborough.gov.uk 

Place and 

Economy  

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

158



 
 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

 

 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 

THE DECISION SUBMITTED TO 

THE DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT ANNEXES 

7. Award of Insurance Contract - KEY/1AUG22/02 - The existing 
contract for the Councils insurance arrangements runs from 1 
April 2018 - 31 March 2023. (MAR18/CMDN/113). Discussions 
are now being held with insurance specialists and the 
Procurement Team to set out the specification requirements so 
that this contract can go out to tender with award expected in late 
January 2023 / early February 2023. 

Councillor 
Andy Coles, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Governance 

1 April 2023 Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Consultation 
internal 
(Procurement), 
external (insurance 
broker advisors). 

Steve Crabtree. 

Chief Internal 

Auditor.  

Tel: 01733 

384557. Email: 

steve.crabtree@p

eterborough.gov.

uk 

Corporate 

Services 

It is not anticipated that there will 

be any documents other than the 

report and relevant appendices to 

be published. 

 

The decision will include an exempt 

annexe. By virtue of paragraph 3, 

information relating to the financial 

or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority 

holding that information). 

 

8. Debt write-offs in excess of £10,000 - KEY/1AUG22/03 - 
Approval of debt write-offs in excess of £10,000 if applicable for 
Non-Domestic Rates, Council Tax, Housing Benefit overpayments 
and Sundry Debtor accounts. 

Councillor 
Andy Coles, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Governance 

October 

2022 

Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

N/A None Chris Yates, 

Finance Manager 

- Business 

Operations,  

Tel:01733 

384552, Email 

chris.yates@pete

rborough.gov.uk 

Corporate 

Services 

It is not anticipated that there will 

be any documents other than the 

report and relevant appendices to 

be published. 

 

 

159



KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 

THE DECISION SUBMITTED TO 

THE DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT ANNEXES 

9. Towns Fund Business Case for The Vine Project – 

KEY/29AUG22/01 

Assurance for Towns Fund Business Case Summaries for 

submission to DLUHC to apply for government funding for the 

Vine project. The total grant application for the project is over 

£12m from government. 

 

Cabinet 9 January 

2023 

 

Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Central 

 

Towns fund board 
consulted and 
approved the 
programme of 
submissions. 

Karen Lockwood, 

programme 

manager, 07825 

902794. 

Karen.Lockwood

@peterborough.G

ov.Uk 

 

Corporate 

Services 

 

Cabinet report to be submitted for 

consideration September 2022 

 

10. Cambridgeshire County Council's Pseudo Dynamic 

Purchasing System (Dps) For Individual Service Fund (Isf) 

Services - KEY/12SEP22/03 

Authorise Peterborough City Council to utilise Cambridgeshire 

County Council’s Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing Services (DPS) 

Agreement for the Provision of Individual Service Funds (ISF) 

Services to purchase ISF Services up to the value of £6,000,000 

(six million pounds). Authorise the Executive Director, People & 

Communities to enter into the required call off contracts following 

the competitive process, as required under the DPS, with the 

successful provider who has been selected to deliver the 

Services.  

   

 

Councillor 
John 
Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

October 

2022 

 

Adults and 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards 

 

N/A 
 

Shairbano 
Shaukat, 
Commissioning 
Officer, TEL 07739 
320000, 
shairbano.shaukat
@peterborough.go
v.uk 

 

Public Health 

 

It is not anticipated that there will 

be any documents other than the 

report and relevant appendices to 

be published. 

 

11. Renewal of ongoing Microsoft Software agreements – 

KEY/12SEP22/04 
Award of contract for the ongoing supply of Microsoft software due 

by 15/10/2022 to allow for all relevant standstill periods and checking 

to be done before a PO is required for the renewal 

Councillor 
Wayne 
Fitzgerald, 
Leader of the 
Council  
 

October 

2022 

Growth, 
Resources and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

All Wards N/A Kevin Halls, IT 

Finance and 

Contracts 

Manager – 

kevin.halls@camb

ridgeshire.gov.uk  

Customer and 

Digital 

Previous CMDN’s 

12. Re-tendering of the Care & Repair Framework Agreement (4 
LOTS) Jan 2023 to Dec 2025 with optional 2 yearly 
extensions to Dec 2027.  Procurement of Dynamic 
Purchasing System for Large Scale Adaptations and Repairs 
Assistance for the same period – KEY/26SEPT22/01 - A re-
tender of the existing Care & Repair Framework Agreement 
currently in Year 4 of a 3 year plus 1 plus 1 Agreement.  The 
framework of Contractors deliver mandatory Disabled Facility 
Grants and Repairs Grants.  Procurement of a separate DPS for 
large scale adaptations funded through mandatory Disable 
Facility Grants.  
 
 

Councillor 
Marco 
Cereste, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Climate 
Change, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Transport    

1 January 
2023 
 

Adults and 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards 
 

Soft Market 
Testing, 
Engagement 
Events and 
contract published 
via Pro Contract 

Sharon Malia - 
Housing 
Programmes 
Manager 07920 
160632 
sharon.malia@pe
terborough.gov.u
k  
 
 

 
People Services 
 

It is not anticipated that there will 
be any documents other than the 
report and relevant appendices to 
be published. 
 

160

mailto:shairbano.shaukat@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:shairbano.shaukat@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:shairbano.shaukat@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.halls@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:kevin.halls@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS 
REPORT 
AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 

THE DECISION SUBMITTED TO 

THE DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT ANNEXES 

13. Approval of the award of contract for Milestone Infrastructure 

for the Detailed Design of the River Nene Pedestrian Bridge – 

KEY/24OCT22/01 - Approval of the award of contract for 

Milestone Infrastructure for the Detailed Design of the River Nene 

Pedestrian Bridge. This is a Towns Fund project and the Bridge 

will provide a walking and cycling route between the Embankment 

and Fletton Quays and also support the ambition of opening up 

the waterfront for regeneration. 

 

Councillor 
Marco 
Cereste, 
Climate 
Change, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Transport 
 

24 October 

2022  

Growth, 
Resources, And 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Central, 

Fletton &  

Standgrou

nd 

Engagement with 

ward councillors 

and a public 

consultation will 

take place 

 

Karen Lockwood, 

Tel: 07825 

902794,  

Email: 

karen.lockwood@

peterborough.gov

.uk 
 

Corporate 

Services 

It is not anticipated that there will 
be any documents other than the 
report and relevant appendices to 
be published. 
 

14. Fees and Charges – KEY/24OCT22/02 - Comprehensive review 

of fees and charges and proposes inflationary increases wherever 

possible for the 2022/23 and 2023/24 financial years. 

 

Cabinet  14 
November 
2022 

Growth, 
Resources, And 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards Finance and from 

respective service - 

report will go to 

CLT, CPF, Joint 

Scrutiny and then 

Cabinet 

 

Cecilie Booth, 

Director of 

Resources and 

S151 Officer, Tel: 

07970325557, 

Email: 

Cecilie.Booth@pe

terborough.gov.u

k 

 

Corporate 

Services 

It is not anticipated that there will 
be any documents other than the 
report and relevant appendices to 
be published. 
 

15. Uplift in payments for delivery of public health services in 
primary care – KEY/25OCT22/01 - Stop smoking, NHS Health 
Checks and Long-Acting reversible contraception services are 
delivered in primary care. This CMDN seeks approval for an uplift 
in the price paid for each unit delivered. 
 

Councillor 

John 

Howard, 

Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health 

and Public 

Heatlh 

 

October 

2022 

 

Adults and 

Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards 

 

Consultation has 

been undertaken 

with the local 

medical committee 

which represents 

gps. 

 

Val Thomas 

Deputy Director 

of Public Health, 

07884 183373 

val.Thomas@ca

mbridgeshire.gov.

uk 

Public Health 

 

It is not anticipated that there will 

be any documents other than the 

report and relevant appendices to 

be published 

 

16. Extension of contract for care and support services in Extra 

Care schemes – KEY/7NOV22/01 
To authorize an extension for one year 10 months to the existing 

contract at a total cost of £3,480,253 

 

 

Councillor 

John 

Howard, 

Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health 

and Public 

Health 

 

November 

2022 

 

Adults and 

Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Eye, 

Thorney & 

Newborou

gh, Paston 

and 

Walton 

and East 

 

Preparations to 

tender the services 

had commenced 

and consultation 

questions had 

been completed by 

people living in the 

schemes and 

family members. 

 

Lynne O'Brien 

Commissioning 

Manager 0777 

667 9591 

lynne.o'brien@ca

mbridgeshire.gov.

uk 

 

People Services 

 

It is not anticipated that there will 

be any documents other than the 

report and relevant appendices to 

be published. 

 

161



KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED TO 
THE DECISION MAKER  
INCLUDING EXEMPT ANNEXES 

17. Approval for contract to be awarded to Milestone to deliver 

construction of two active travel schemes which will form 

part of A1260 Junction 3 improvement project. - 

KEY/7NOV22/02 

The Council is currently in the process of completing the business 

case and design of the A1260 Junction 3 improvement scheme, 

however it is recognised that to further enhance the main highway 

works and improve active travel options in the scheme area 

additional improvements are required for walking and cycling. 

Therefore, it is being proposed to deliver improvements along 

Malborne Way and Shrewsbury Avenue prior to the main highway 

construction works beginning later in 2023. The work is estimated 

to cost £519k and will be funded by the Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough Combined Authority. 

 

Cabinet 14 

November 

2022 

Climate Change 

and 

Environment 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Orton 

Longuevill

e and 

Hargate & 

Hempsted  

Consultation was 

undertaken with 

members of the 

public and relevant 

stakeholders to 

inform the detailed 

design and 

business case. 

Lewis Banks, 

Transport & 

Environment 

Manager, Tel: 

01733 317465, 

Email: 

lewis.banks@pet

erborough.gov.uk  

Place and 

Economy 

Currently the relevant documents 

for this decision are not available. 

The minutes of the CPCA Board 

meeting scheduled for 19 October 

2022 will serve as conformation of 

the additional grant funding award. 

The minutes and any supporting 

documents will be provided once 

they are made available. 

18. Approval for contract to be awarded to Milestone to deliver 

construction of active travel schemes and for payment of C4 

utility costs for Fengate Eastern Industries Access 

improvement scheme. - KEY/7NOV22/03 

The Council is currently in the process of completing the business 

case for Fengate Eastern Industries Access improvement 

scheme, however it is recognised that to accelerate progress 

funding has been requested to deliver active travel improvements 

on Newark Road and Oxney Road for an estimated cost of 

£550,424 and also for making  advance payment for C4 utility 

costs up to value of £315k (which is a requirement) to enable 

construction works to commence without delay for the main 

highway works later this and next financial year. All of the costs 

stated will be funded by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority. 

 

Cabinet 14 

November 

2022 

Climate Change 

and 

Environment 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

East  Consultation was 

undertaken with 

members of the 

public and relevant 

stakeholders to 

inform the detailed 

design and 

business case. 

Lewis Banks, 

Transport & 

Environment 

Manager, Tel: 

01733 317465, 

Email: 

lewis.banks@pet

erborough.gov.uk  

Place and 

Economy 

Currently the relevant documents 

for this decision are not available. 

The minutes of the CPCA Board 

meeting scheduled for 19 October 

2022 will serve as conformation of 

the additional grant funding award. 

The minutes and any supporting 

documents will be provided once 

they are made available. 

19. Approval for contract to be awarded to Milestone to deliver 

full business case and detailed design for A16 Norwood 

improvement scheme. - KEY/7NOV22/04 

The Council has previously received funding of £630k from the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) to 
deliver the outline business case and preliminary design for A16 
Norwood improvement scheme. As that stage is now complete, a 
request is to be made to the CPCA to fund a further £1,567,190 
so that the next stage (full business case and detailed design) can 
be undertaken. Approval is required for the contract to be 
awarded to Milestone to undertake the next phase of the scheme 
business case and design. The decision will only be progressed 
once funding is granted from the CPCA. 

Cabinet  19 

December 

2022  

Climate Change 

and 

Environment 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Gunthorpe 

and Eye, 

Thorney & 

Newborou

gh 

Consultation was 

undertaken with 

members of the 

public and relevant 

stakeholders to 

inform the detailed 

design and 

business case. 

Lewis Banks, 

Transport & 

Environment 

Manager, Tel: 

01733 317465, 

Email: 

lewis.banks@pet

erborough.gov.uk  

Place and 

Economy  

Currently the relevant documents 

for this decision are not available. 

The minutes of the CPCA Board 

meeting scheduled for 19 October 

2022 will serve as conformation of 

the additional grant funding award. 

The minutes and any supporting 

documents will be provided once 

they are made available 

 

162

mailto:lewis.banks@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lewis.banks@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lewis.banks@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lewis.banks@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lewis.banks@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lewis.banks@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION 

MAKER 

 

 
 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD  CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 

THE DECISION SUBMITTED TO 

THE DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT ANNEXES 

20. Modification to the PSSP Contract – KEY/7NOV22/05 

Procurement Function  

Councillor 

Andy Coles,  

Cabinet 

Member for 

Finance and 

Corporate 

Governance 

 

November 

2022 

Growth, 

Resources and 

Communities  

N/A Consulted with 

internal and 

external 

stakeholders.  No 

other consultation. 

Chris Yates, 

Finance, 

chris.yates@pete

rborough.gov.uk  

 

Corporate 

Services 

It is not anticipated that there will 

be any documents other than the 

report and relevant appendices to 

be published. 

 

21. Direct Payment Support Services – KEY/7NOV22/06 -  

This 5-year contract is due to end in February 2023.  Approval is 

sought to extend this contract for an additional two 12-month 

periods (1+1) at a total value of £250,984. This will increase the 

aggregated contract to £878,444. It is further requested that 

delegated authority to award be granted to the Executive Director, 

People & Communities, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.   

 

Councillor 
John 
Howard, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health 
and Public 
Health 
 

November 

2022 

 

Adults and 

Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards 

 

Direct payment 
service users 
engaged through 
satisfaction survey, 
soft market test to 
evaluation interest 
in the provider 
market, marker 
engagement event 
to inform service 
providers about the 
service and 
Council's vision, 
operational head of 
service, Direct 
Payment 
Monitoring 
Officers, Finance 
Managers, adult 
and childrens' 
commissioners 
reviewed service 
specification and 
social care 
practitioners 
shared their views 
on the professional 
support from the 
service. 
 

Leneva 

Nwachukwu, 

Commissioner, 

01954 286002, 

leneva.nwachukw

u@cambridgeshir

e.gov.uk 

 

Public Health 

 

Cabinet Member's Decision Notice, 

Joint Commissioning Board report 

v7 dated 26th July 2022 (meeting 

held 27th July).  Appendix 4 should 

be exempt from public circulation 

as it includes specific 

characteristics of real-life service 

users which may make them 

identifiable to members of the 

public, if known, this may cause 

these individuals embarrassment 

and cause people in need of the 

support service to be reluctant to 

seek help, if they believe data 

about their circumstances are 

being publicised. 

 

 

163

mailto:chris.yates@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:chris.yates@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:leneva.nwachukwu@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:leneva.nwachukwu@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:leneva.nwachukwu@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


  
  PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISIONS IN PRIVATE 
 

DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

Disposal of Part of Peterborough Rural Estate – 

KEY/21NOV22/03 - Disposal of part of PCC rural estate in 

accordance with the disposal strategy approved in September 

Cabinet.  

 

Cabinet 19 

December 

2023 

Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Eye, 

Thorney & 

Newborou

gh 

Part of the disposal 

programme already 

approved at Cabinet 

 

Felicity Paddick - 

felicity.paddick@

nps.co.uk, 07801 

910971 

Corporate 

Services 

Cabinet report & exempt 

annexes which include 

financial and personal 

details. 

  

PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

1. Disposal of land at A1/A605 – KEY/1AUG22/01 - Newlands 
development have proposed a development within HDC. 
However, to enable a larger development, the developer 
requires an area of CRA land, within PCC ownership, to be 
enhanced and enable planning permission. The land is 
therefore a ransom strip and a figure has been negotiated 
with the developer. 

Cabinet 14 

November 

2022 

Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Orton 

Waterville 

Consultation has 
been carried out with 
the Interim Head of 
Property, external 
valuers 

Christine Addison 

Interim Head of 

Property 

Corporate 

Services 

It is not anticipated that 

there will be any documents 

other than the report and 

relevant appendices to be 

published. 

 

The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 

relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 

particular person (including 

the authority holding that 

information). 

 

 

  

164



PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS 

DECISIONS FROM 21 NOVEMBER 2022 

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

Extend Grant funded lunch clubs and award grant for AgeUK 
Day Centre - To retrospectively approve the funding of various 
lunch clubs and an AgeUK Day Centre to include: 
  
Bharat Hindu Samaj Lunch Club 
Italian Community Centre Lunch Club 
South Grove Community Centre (formally known as FILEF Lunch 
Club) 
AgeUK Orton Day Service 
  
The provision commenced in April 2022 and will run until March 
2024. The grant funding comes to a total of £73,508 
 
 

Councillor John 

Howard, Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health and 

Public Health 

October 
2022 

Adults and Health 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

North, 

Fletton 

and 

Woodston 

No formal 

consultation other 

than engagement 

with relevant internal 

and external 

stakeholders 

Claire Cluer - 

Commissioning 

Manager (Day 

Opportunities 

Review) 01480 

372314, 

claire.cluer@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k 

People Services 

 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

 165



PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS 

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

1. Approval of the leasehold disposal of a brownfield site to 

a care provider –  

A site has been found for a care home and the Council are 

currently looking into a leasehold disposal to a care provider 

who will build a care facility and then contract to provide 

services to the Council. 

Councillor 

Cereste, Cabinet 

Member for 

Climate Change, 

Planning, 

Housing and 

Transport 

October 

2022 

Growth, 

Resources, And 

Communities 

Scrutiny 

Committee  

Park  Relevant internal 

and external 

stakeholders. 

 

 

A forum has been 

set up by the 

Combined Authority 

involving 

representatives from 

finance, legal, 

property and social 

care. 

Felicity Paddick,  

Manager - 

Estates and 

Valuation,   

Tel: 07801 

910971 

Email: 

felicity.paddick@

nps.co.uk 

Corporate 

Services 

The decision will include an 

exempt annexe. By virtue of 

paragraph 3, information 

relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any 

particular person (including the 

authority holding that 

information). 

2. Variation to the delegation agreement between 

Peterborough City Council (PCC) and Cambridgeshire 

County Council (CCC) regarding the delivery of the 

Healthy Child Programme (HCP) across Peterborough 

and Cambridgeshire 
This decision seeks authorisation to vary the Delegation and 

Partnering agreement to account for the increase in the value of 

PCC financial contributions to CCC in respect of the Agenda for 

Change pay increase. Agenda for Change is a nationally agreed 

UK-wide package of pay, terms and conditions for NHS staff. Under 

this deal, which came into effect in 2018, was the agreement for all 

NHS staff employed at the top pay points at bands 2-8c were to 

receive a 6.5% cumulative pay increase over a 3 year period. 

Councillor 

Howard, Cabinet 

Member for 

Adult Social 

Care, Health & 

Public Health 

October 

2022  

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Relevant internal 

and external 

stakeholders 

Amy Hall, 

Children's Public 

Health 

Commissioning 

Manager, 

Tel:07583040529  

Public Health CMDN to authorise delegation 

of HCP commissioning 

functions from PCC to CCC - 

https://democracy.peterboroug

h.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome

.aspx?IId=22331&PlanId=395

&RPID=0  

3. Approval of the Peterborough Sufficiency Strategy 

Every top tier local authority is required to publish a 

sufficiency strategy. This must set out how we seek to avoid 

children coming into care through the provision of family 

support services, and identify steps that we are taking to 

ensure that we have sufficient placements for children in care 

in our area, so that as many children and young people in 

care can live locally, provided that this is in their best 

interests. 

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University 

October 

2022 

 

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards There has been 
widespread 
consultation 
including with 
children and young 
people in care. 

Nicola Curley: 

Director of 

Children's 

Service, Email: 

nicola.curley@pet

erborough.gov.uk  

People and 

Communities  

Scrutiny Report 

4. Werrington Fields and Ken Stimpson Secondary School - 

Following a public meeting held on 20 September 2021 at 

Ken Stimpson School, a decision needs to be taken on 

whether or not to proceed with plans to erect a fence to 

enclose part of the school's playing fields.  The area is 

currently open access to the public.  The school has not been 

using the area for over two years due to concerns over the 

safeguarding risk to the young people attending the school.   

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University 

October 

2022 

 

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

Werrington Public meeting held 
on 20 September 
2021 at Ken 
Stimpson School.  
Prior to this, a 
detailed background 
information 
document was 
circulated to 
interested parties. 

Jonathan Lewis, 

Service Director, 

Education 

Email:jonathan.le

wis@peterboroug

h.gov.uk  

Education Cabinet Member Decision 

Notice, Background 

Information Document 

 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

166

https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22331&PlanId=395&RPID=0
https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22331&PlanId=395&RPID=0
https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22331&PlanId=395&RPID=0
https://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=22331&PlanId=395&RPID=0
mailto:lou.williams@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lou.williams@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Email:jon.lewis@peterborough.gov
mailto:Email:jon.lewis@peterborough.gov
mailto:Email:jon.lewis@peterborough.gov


DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

5. Approval to enter into a Section 75 Partnership 

Agreement with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS 

Foundation Trust 

This agreement will ensure the provision of CPFT mental 

health specialist working with mental health practitioners who 

are part of multiagency Family Safeguarding teams working 

as part of children's social care safeguarding teams. 

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
University  

October 

2022 

 

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders 

Helen Andrews, 

Children's 

Commissioning 

Manager 

helen.andrews@

cambridgeshire.g

ov.uk 

 

People Services It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

6. Approve the Joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Suicide Prevention Strategy 2022-2025 – to discuss and 

agree the Joint Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Suicide 

Prevention Strategy 2022-2025, for final approval by the 

Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Councillor John 
Howard, Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Public Health 
 

October 

2022 

 

Adults and 

Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

Dogsthorpe Chair and vice chair 
of adults and health 
committee, Director 
of Public Health, 
Mental health 
boards 
 

Joe Davies  

Email:joseph.davi

es@cambridgesh

ire.gov.uk 

 

Public Health 

 

It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

7. PCC/CCC Delegation Agreement for jointly procured 

Floating Support service - Approval of Delegation 

Arrangements to allow CCC to implement and manage this 

contract on behalf of PCC 

 

 

 

Councillor 
Howard, Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health & 
Public Health 

October 

2022 

 

Adults and 

Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

All Wards Feedback sought 
from existing 
customers, staff and 
external 
partners/stakeholder
s prior to 
commencing re-
procurement 

Lisa Sparks, 

Senior 

Commissioner 

(ASC 

Commissioning), 

07900163590, 

lisa.sparks@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k 

Public Health It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

8. Approval and Endorsement of a new countywide Infant 

Feeding Strategy - Decision sought to approve and endorse 

a countywide Infant Feeding Strategy developed 

collaboratively between Public Health and the 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG). This decision includes approval of overall 

strategy and underpinned action plans required to implement 

this. 

 

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres,  
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Services and 
Education, 
Skills and the 
the University 
 

October 

2022 

 

Children and 

Education 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

All Wards Maternity Voices 
Partnerships, who 
are made up of 
service user 
representatives and 
key stakeholders 
spanning maternity, 
health visiting and 
the third sector have 
coproduced the 
strategy alongside 
Local Authority and 
CCG colleagues. 
 

Amy Hall, 

Children's Public 

Health 

Commissioning 

Manager, 

amy.hall@peterb

orough.gov.uk, 

07583040529 

 

Public Health  Paper and Strategy to be 

submitted closer to the 

Cabinet meeting 

 

167



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

EXPECTED 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

9. Approval of Delegation Agreement for Floating Support 
Service -  
Requesting approval to delegate authority to CCC to 
enable them to deliver a new jointly commissioned 
Floating Support service on behalf of PCC. 
 

Councillor John 
Howard, Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Public Health 
 

November 
2022 
 

Adults and 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards 

 

Feedback gathered 
from existing 
customers, service 
staff and external 
stakeholders/partner
s. 

Lisa Sparks - 

Senior 

Commissioner - 

lisa.sparks@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k - 07900163590 

 

 

Public Health   It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

10. Approval to award a grant for a Mental Health 

Supported Living service. - Approval to award a 

grant for revenue funding to Eastlands Mental Health 

Supported Living Services, for a  period of 1 year 

period, from April 2023. 

 

Councillor John 
Howard, Cabinet 
Member for 
Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Public Health 
 

January 
2023 
 

Adults and 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

All Wards   Consultation not 
required as seeking 
no change to 
existing service 

Lisa Sparks - 

Senior 

Commissioner - 

lisa.sparks@cam

bridgeshire.gov.u

k - 07900163590 

 

 

Public Health   It is not anticipated that there 

will be any documents other 

than the report and relevant 

appendices to be published. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PART 4 – NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER URGENCY PROCEDURES 
 

DECISION TAKEN DECISION 

MAKER 

 

DATE 

DECISION 

TAKEN 

RELEVANT  

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 

DETAILS / 

REPORT 

AUTHORS 

DIRECTORATE DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 

TO THE DECISION 

SUBMITTED TO THE 

DECISION MAKER  

INCLUDING EXEMPT 

ANNEXES 

None.         

 
 
  

168

mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.sparks@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


FORWARD PLAN 

 
PART 1 – KEY DECISIONS 

In the period commencing 28 clear days after the date of publication of this Plan, Peterborough City Council's Executive intends to take 'key decisions' on the issues set out below in Part 1.  Key decisions relate to those executive decisions which 

are likely to result in the Council spending or saving money in excess of £500,000 and/or have a significant impact on two or more wards in Peterborough. 

 

If the decision is to be taken by an individual Cabinet Member, the name of the Cabinet Member is shown against the decision, in addition to details of the Councillor’s portfolio. If the decision is to be taken by the Cabinet, this too is shown against 

the decision and its members are as listed below: 

Cllr Fitzgerald (Leader of the Council), Cllr Steve Allen (Deputy Leader); Cllr Ayres; Cllr Cereste; Cllr Howard; Cllr Coles and Cllr Simons. 

 

This Plan should be seen as an outline of the proposed decisions for the forthcoming month and it will be updated on a fortnightly basis to reflect new key-decisions.  Each new Plan supersedes the previous Plan and items may be carried over into 

forthcoming Plans.  Any questions on specific issues included on the Plan should be included on the form which appears at the back of the Plan and submitted to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk,  Democratic and Constitutional Services 

Manager, Legal and Governance Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388039). Alternatively, you can submit your views via e-mail to or by telephone on 01733 452460. For each decision a public report will be available 

from the Democratic Services Team one week before the decision is taken. 

 

PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISION IN PRIVATE 

Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the Cabinet meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will be some business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially 

sensitive or personal information.  In these circumstances the meeting may be held in private, and on the rare occasion this applies, notice will be given within Part 2 of this document, ‘notice of intention to hold meeting in private’. A further formal 

notice of the intention to hold the meeting, or part of it, in private, will also be given 28 clear days in advance of any private meeting in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012.  

 

The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which these decisions will be discussed (unless a notice of intention to hold the meeting in private has been given). 

 

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS 

For complete transparency relating to the work of the Executive, this Plan also includes an overview of non-key decisions to be taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members, these decisions are listed at Part 3 and will be updated on a 

weekly basis. 

 

You are entitled to view any documents listed on the Plan, or obtain extracts from any documents listed or subsequently submitted to the decision maker prior to the decision being made, subject to any restrictions on disclosure. There is no charge 

for viewing the documents, although charges may be made for photocopying or postage.  Documents listed on the notice and relevant documents subsequently being submitted can be requested from Philippa Turvey, Democratic and Constitutional 

Services Manager, Legal and Governance Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388038), e-mail to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452460.  

 
All decisions will be posted on the Council's website: www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedecisions. If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the 'key decisions' outlined in this Plan, please submit them to the Democratic and 

Constitutional Services Manager using the form attached.  For your information, the contact details for the Council's various service departments are incorporated within this Plan. 

  

169

mailto:philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions


 DIRECTORATE RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Financial and Resources 

Internal Audit, Insurance and Investigations 
Peterborough Serco Strategic Partnership (Business Support, Corporate Procurement, Business Transformation and Strategic Improvement, Customer 

Services, Shared Transactional Services) 

Communications 

Commercial & Property 
Registration and Bereavement Services 

Commercial & Property 

Delivery and Transformation 

Health & Safety 

Human Resources & Workforce Development - (Business Relations, HR Policy and Rewards, Training and Development, Occupational Health and Workforce Development) 

Digital, Data Analytics, Risk & IT Services  
 BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Transformation and Programme Management Office, Business Intelligence, Commercial, Strategy and Policy, Shared Services 

  

 
 

 
 

  

 PEOPLE SERVICES DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Adult Services and Communities (Adult Social Care Operations, Adult Social Care and Quality Assurance, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Early Help – Adults, Children and Families, Housing and Health Improvement, Community and Safety 

Services, Offender Services) 

Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care Operations, Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance, Safeguarding Boards – Adults and Children’s, Child Health, Clare Lodge (Operations), Access to Resources) 

Education, (Special Educational Needs and Inclusion, School Improvement, City College Peterborough, Pupil Referral Units, Schools Infrastructure) 

Commissioning 

Business Management and Commercial Operations (Commissioning, Recruitment and Retention, Clare Lodge (Commercial), Early Years and Quality Improvement) 

Performance and Information (Performance Management, Systems Support Team) 

 
 

 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 
 

 Corporate Lawyers 

Constitutional Services, (Democratic Services, Electoral Services, Executive and Members Services) - (Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG) 

 Information Governance, (Freedom of Information and Data Protection) 

 
 

 PLACE AND ECONOMY DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Development and Construction (Development Management, Planning Compliance, Building Control) 

Planning Growth and Environment (Strategic Planning, Housing Strategy and Affordable Housing, Climate Change and Environment Capital, Natural and Built Environment) 

 Housing and Homelessness 

 Highways and Transport(Network Management, Highways Maintenance, Street Naming and Numbering, Street Lighting, Design and Adoption of Roads, Drainage and Flood Risk Management, Transport Policy and Sustainable Transport, Public 

Transport) 

Employment and Skills 

Community Safety 

Regulatory Services 

Emergency Resilience & Planning 

(Markets and Street Trading, City Centre Management including Events, Regulatory Services, Parking Services, Vivacity Contract, CCTV and Out of Hours Calls) 

  

 

 

 

 PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Fletton Quays, Peterborough, PE2 8TY   

 Health Protection, Health Improvements, Healthcare Public Health. 

170



 

 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL’S CABINET 
MEMBERS WOULD LIKE TO HEAR FROM YOU 

 

 

The Leader of Peterborough City Council is offering everyone a chance to comment, or raise queries 
on the decisions highlighted on the Council’s Forward Plan. 

 

Your comments and queries can be submitted to the Council’s Governance Team using the form 
overleaf, or alternatively by telephone or email.  The Governance team will then liaise with the 
appropriate Cabinet Member and ensure that you receive a response.  Members of the Cabinet, 
together with their areas of responsibility, are listed below: 

 

Councillor Fitzgerald       Leader of the Council  
 

Councillor Steve Allen Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Communication, Culture 
and Communities  

Councillor Ayres 

 

 

Councillor Simons 

 

Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and Education, Skills and 

the University  

 

Cabinet Member for Waste, Street Scene and the Environment 
 

Councillor Andy Coles 

 

Councillor John Howard 

 

Councillor Cereste 

 

 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Governance 
 

 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Health and Public Health 

 

Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning, Housing and 
Transport 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

171



 

   
 

 

SUBMIT YOUR COMMENTS OR QUERIES TO 
PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL’S CABINET 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Your comment or query:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

How can we contact you with a response?   
(please include a telephone number, postal and/or e-mail address) 
 
Name     ………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Address ………………………………………………………………………. 
 
   ………………………………………………………………………. 
 
 
Tel:        ….……………………………………………………..................... 
 
Email:    ………………………………………………………………………. 
 
 

Who would you like to respond? (if left blank your comments will be referred to the relevant 
Cabinet Member) 

172



Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee and Crime and Disorder Committee Work Programme 2022/23 

 

Updated 24 October 2022 

 

Meeting Date Item Indicative 
Timings 

Comments 

Meeting Date: 5 July 2022 
 
Joint Scrutiny Meeting 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 
Contact Officer: Cecile Booth 

  

    

Meeting Date: 12 July 2022 
 
Joint Scrutiny Meeting of Climate 
Change Environment and Growth, 
Resources and Communities 
Scrutiny Committees 

Local Transport Connectivity Plan – consultation 
response  

 

Contact Officer: Lewis Banks 
 

  

 
Meeting date: 12 July 2022 
 

Draft report deadline: 23 June 
Final report deadline: 30 June 
 

Co-Opted Members Report    

Cohesion And Community Champions Engagement - 
Developing the Approach 

 

Contact Officer: Matt Oliver 

  

Review of 2021/2022 and Draft Work Programme for 
2022/23 

 

  

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 

 

  

    

Meeting date: 13 September 2022 Medium Term Financial Strategy   

173



 
POSTPONED 
 
Joint Scrutiny Meeting 

 
Contact Officer:  Cecilie Booth 

    

Meeting date: 20 September 2022 
 

Draft report deadline: 1 September  
Final report deadline: 8 September 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent Improvement and Assurance Panel Report  
 
Contact Officer:  Cecilie Booth/Matt Gladstone 

  

Portfolio Holder Progress Report – Leader of the Council  

 

Contact Officer: Adrian Chapman 

  

Social Mobility and Anti-poverty Activity including 
Household Support Fund 

 

Contact Officer: Matt Oliver/Esther Baffa Isaacs 

  

Monitoring Recommendation Report 
 
Contact Officer:  Paulina Ford 

  

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions  
 
Contact Officer:  Paulina Ford 

  

Work Programme 2022/2023 
 
Contact Officer: Paulina Ford 

  

    

Meeting date: 11 October 2022 
 
Joint Scrutiny Meeting  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 
Contact Officer: Cecilie Booth 

  

174



    

Meeting date: 1 November 2022 
 

Draft report deadline: 13 October 
Final report deadline: 20 October 
 

The Committee will sit as the CRIME AND DISORDER 

COMMITTEE FOR THIS ITEM 

Car Cruising – Task and Finish Group Final Report 

 

Contact Officer:  Ian Phillips 

  

 
Progress Report from Cabinet Member for Climate 
Change, Planning and Housing and Transport  
 
Contact Officer: Charlotte Palmer 
 

  

 
City College Peterborough Annual Report  
 
 
Contact Officer: Pat Carrington 
 

  

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions  
 

  

Work Programme 2022/2023 
 

  

    

Meeting date: 10 January 2023 

 
Draft report deadline: 14 December 
Final report deadline: 21 December 
 

Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Annual Update 
 
Contact Officer: Sean Evans  

  

Active Lifestyle Strategy 
 
Contact Officer: Jamie Fenton 

  

175



Alternative to the Changing Futures Programme  
 
Contact Officer: Tom Tallon 

  

Community Assests Review  

  

Contact Officer: Matt Oliver 

  

Progress Report from Cabinet Member for 
Communication, Culture and Communities  
 
Contact Officer: Adrian Chapman 

  

Monitoring Recommendation Report 
 

  

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions  
 

  

Work Programme 2022/2023 
 

  

    

Meeting date: 23 January 2023 
 
Joint Scrutiny Meeting  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 
Contact Officer:  Cecilie Booth 
 
 
Sustainable Future City Council Strategy and Priorities 
2022 – 2025 
 
Contact Officer: Jens Gemmel von Döllinger, 
Sustainable Future City Council Director 

  

    

Meeting date: 7 March 2023 
 

The Committee will sit as the CRIME AND DISORDER 

COMMITTEE FOR THIS ITEM  

  

176



Draft report deadline: 16 February 
Final report deadline: 23 February  
 

 

Safer Peterborough Partnership Annual Report 

 
Contact Officer: Rob Hill  

Progress Report from Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Corporate Governance  
 
Contact Officer: Cecilie Booth 

  

Independent Improvement and Assurance Panel Report  

 
Contact Officer:  Cecilie Booth 

  

 
 

  

Monitoring Recommendation Report   

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions  

 

  

 

Pending Items: 

1. Homelessness Temporary Accommodation Strategy - Contact Officer: Sean Evans  

2. Selective Licensing Final Policy - Contact Officer: Jo Bezant  

3. Report on Nick Carter’s service directorate later in the year.  

4. Policing priorities – sitting as the Crime and Disorder Committee for this item, terms of reference will need to be checked, suggestion that this be 

included in January meeting.  

5. LCTP – Final Plan and impact on Peterborough 

6. Bus Working Group – review possibility of reinstating this group. 

7. Culture and Leisure Review – first draft of proposals  - Contact Officer: Rob Hill   

177



T
his page is intentionally left blank

178


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Growth, Resources and Communities Scrutiny Committee held on 20 September 2022
	5 Car Cruising – Task and Finish Group Report
	Car Cruising - Task and Finish Report
	Car cruise options appraisal

	6 Portfolio Progress Report from the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Planning, Housing and Transport
	Cllr Cereste Portfolio Holder Progress Report Appendix A
	PHS_AnnualReport_202122_FINAL.pdf
	Appendices A - D 2021-22 Rev 1.pdf
	Appendix A - Annual Scorecard 21-22.pdf
	Appendix A.pdf
	PHS 2021-22 KPI Scorecard v1.0.pdf

	Appendix B - KPI Dashboard rev 1.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Appendix B - KPI Dashboard.pdf
	Appendix B.pdf


	Item 8.1 Performance Management - rev1.1.pdf

	Appendix C - Performance Management Framework Dashboard.pdf
	Appendix C.pdf
	Item 8.2 - Performance Management Framework Dasboard.pdf


	Appendix D - Annual Report 2020-21.pdf
	Appendix D - Annual Report 2020-21.pdf
	Appendix D.pdf
	PHS_AnnualReport_202021_FINAL with appendices.pdf
	PHS_AnnualReport_202021_FINAL.pdf
	Appendices A - C.pdf
	Appendix A - PHS 2020-21 KPI Scorecard v1.pdf
	Appendix A.pdf
	Appendix A - PHS 2020-21 KPI Scorecard.pdf

	Appendix B - KPI Dashboard v1.pdf
	Appendix B.pdf




	Item 9.1 - Performance Management.pdf
	Appendix D - Annual Report 2020-21
	PHS_AnnualReport_202021_FINAL with appendices.pdf
	Appendices A - C.pdf
	Appendix C - Performance Management Framework Dashboard v1.pdf
	Appendix C.pdf
	Appendix C - Performance Management Framework Dashboard.pdf





	Appendices A - D 2021-22 Rev 1
	Appendix D - Annual Report 2020-21.pdf
	PHS_AnnualReport_202021_FINAL with appendices.pdf
	Appendices A - C.pdf
	Appendix A - PHS 2020-21 KPI Scorecard v1.pdf
	Appendix A.pdf
	Appendix A - PHS 2020-21 KPI Scorecard.pdf

	Appendix B - KPI Dashboard v1.pdf
	Appendix B.pdf
	Appendix B - KPI Dashboard.pdf

	Appendix C - Performance Management Framework Dashboard v1.pdf
	Appendix C.pdf
	Appendix C - Performance Management Framework Dashboard.pdf







	7 City College Peterborough - Annual Report
	8 Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
	Forward Plan of Executive Decisions

	9 Work Programme 2022/2023



